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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘Directors’) of GET Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive; (2) there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this report
misleading, and (3) all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases
and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of GET
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, referred to
as the “Group”), | would like to present the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year”) together with its strategies and
prospects.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$32,410,000 for the Year
(2019: loss of approximately HK$61,680,000).

The Group’s consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$39,286,000 for the Year (2019: loss of
approximately HK$67,200,000).

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the Year
(2019: Nil).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The volatility of the global macro-economic environment, uncertainties posed
by the geopolitical pressure, and the COVID-19 pandemic had left 2020 an
unprecedentedly challenging year for all. Due to the pandemic, global business
activities are dampened. Governments imposed strict national lockdowns
which adversely affected the global sales and trading activities. Despite the
impact of COVID-19 and macro-economic uncertainties, we emphasise to
ensure resilience and maintain our competitive edge with a view to achieving
sustainable growth to the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).
The Group is principally engaged in the Software Business, the Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business, the B2C Online
Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business, and the Securities
Investment Business (all as defined below).

During the Year, the Software Business remained as one of the main revenue
streams and pillar businesses of the Group. Revenue generated from the
Software Business amounted to approximately HK$82,252,000, representing
approximately 35.5% of the Group’s total turnover for the Year. Amidst
headwinds in the global market environment, the Group insisted in adhering
to its corporate strategy, and maximising its strengths in technology and
innovation capabilities through the Software Business. We had constantly
reviewed and upgraded various software products during the Year in order to
keep up with the fast-changing information technology (“I.T.”) industry and to
provide a seamless experience to the software products users.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHS

We diversified our landscape through the Corporate Management Solutions
and I.T. Contract Services Business and the B2C Online Sales Platform and
B2B Product Trading Business. Over the Year, we offer quality I.T. products
and solutions at home and aboard with an aim of enhancing the connectivity
and compatibility with our customers. During the Year, the revenue from the
B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business accounted
for approximately 52.4% of the Group’s total turnover for the Year, and the
revenue from the Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services
Business accounted for approximately 12.1% of the Group’s total turnover for
the Year.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$118,804,000 and net current
assets of approximately HK$120,182,000. Based on the solid financial
position, the Group will remain cautious in looking for and evaluating business
opportunities with growth potential. It will strategically invest its capital with the
aim of generating long-term and stable revenue and achieving further business
diversification, thereby delivering the best returns to the Shareholders.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, despite the unprecedented challenge from the pandemic
and the complicated socio-economic environment, the Group is cautiously
optimistic about the future market conditions. In coming year, the Group
will continue to endeavour at its best to capture stable business growth
and return, and to ultimately bring sustainable return to the Shareholders.
The Group will continue to effectively utilise its resources to expand its core
businesses and to keep exploring new business opportunities with good
potential. At the same time, the Group will strive to maintain an appropriate
balance between risk and return.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
my gratitude to all our business partners, the Shareholders and customers for
their continuing trust and support in the past year. | would also like to extend
my sincere thanks to all staff of the Group and members of the Board for their
dedication and devotion during 2020, alongside their desire for the Group to
realise progress.

Wong Jing Shong
Chairman and Executive Director

19 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
Software Business

During the Year, the business of research, development and distribution of
personal computer (“PC”) performance software, anti-virus software, mobile
phone applications and toolbar advertisements (“Software Business”) of
the Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$82,252,000 (2019:
approximately HK$73,994,000), representing an increase of approximately
11.2% as compared to that of 2019. The segment profit of the Software
Business amounted to approximately HK$23,347,000 (2019: loss of
approximately HK$46,264,000). Such change from a loss to a profit was
primarily attributable to the absence of an impairment loss on goodwill in
relation to the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) of the Software Business in
2020 (2019: approximately HK$65,000,000). As at 31 December 2020,
with reference to the assessment by an independent valuer, the recoverable
amount of the CGU of the Boom Max Group is valued to approximately
HK$127,455,000. As the recoverable amount of the CGU of the Boom Max
Group exceeded its carrying value by approximately HK$3,658,000, no
impairment was required for the Year.

During the Year, the Group has continued to strengthen its foothold in the
software industry through Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Boom Max Group”), the operating unit of the Group carrying
on the Software Business, which is one of the main revenue streams of the
Group.

As innovation capabilities and customer satisfaction are the heart of the
business, we underline the relentless effort of the Boom Max Group in
investing in research and development (‘R&D”) which comprises experts
devoting their focus to network security, building software products and
marketing channels, in order to strengthen the Group’s products line against
computer malwares and ransomwares.

Over the Year, the Boom Max Group upgraded new versions of some of our
software products, including IObit Malware Fighter, 10bit Uninstaller, Driver
Booster, I0bit Software Updater. In the fourth quarter of 2020, the Boom
Max Group launched an upgraded version of our flagship product, Advanced
SystemCare, to version 14 (i.e. Advanced SystemCare 14). A new version of
Advanced SystemCare Ultimate, namely Advanced SystemCare Ultimate 14,
which spots its all-in-one solution to further maximise computer optimisation
and combat potential cybersecurity threats, was also released. In upcoming
quarter, with a view to keeping abreast with the latest technology trend and
enhance user experience, the Boom Max Group expects to release fine-tuned
updates of the latest versions of some of its software products, including
Advanced SystemCare 14, Advanced SystemCare Ultimate 14, Smart Defrag
6, I0bit Uninstaller 10, etc on the market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E R

During the Year, the Boom Max Group continued to build and reinforce
its sales and distribution channels including the implementation of digital
marketing campaigns. Apart from strengthening its customer base in
traditional markets, the Group will continue to explore business opportunities
and expand distribution channels in the emerging markets such as countries
in the Asia-Pacific region. In addition, our software products are available at
www.iobit.com, or other software downloading directory websites and affiliate
websites. New versions of our software products are available for downloading
on the website in different languages, such as English, Spanish, French,
Chinese and Dutch. As at 31 December 2020, according to the internal sales
data of the Boom Max Group, its products had more than 61 million (2019:
more than 56 million) new users in total, including new non-paying and active
paying users (i.e. users who had subscribed product at least once during the
Year).

Headwinds of the global macro-economy and the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic have affected the Software Business to varying degrees. In
spite of the disruption to the economic activities worldwide, the COVID-19
pandemic has resulted in profound changes to our ordinary life and work.
During the Year, the computer software industry including the Software
Business generally benefited from a rise in use of the PC due to a change
of customer behaviour of the industry. On the other hand, more customers
may tend to free subscription instead of purchasing our software products in
view of the uncertainties in the post-pandemic era and the sluggish economy
ahead. Therefore, it is hard to quantify the future impacts of the pandemic
on this segment. In the meantime, the Boom Max Group has been facing
challenges from fierce competition in the I.T. industry, geopolitical pressure
and the potential sluggish economic growth resulting from the outbreak of
the COVID-19 pandemic. The Board will continue to closely monitor the
performance of this segment and the potential impact from the pandemic.
Looking ahead, the Boom Max Group will continue to focus on exploring new
technological application realm and enhancing its software products. It will
also strengthen and expand its distribution and sales channels by cooperating
closely with local dealers and affiliates.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business

During the Year, the Group provided corporate management solutions, I.T.
contract services, network infrastructure solutions, network professional
services and I.T. project implementation services (“Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business”) to corporate clients mainly in
Hong Kong.

During the Year, revenue from this business segment was approximately
HK$27,892,000 (2019: approximately HK$46,347,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 39.8% as compared with that of 2019. This
business segment recorded a loss of approximately HK$17,907,000 for the
Year (2019: loss of approximately HK$6,794,000), including an impairment
loss on goodwill of approximately HK$11,300,000 for the Year (2019:
approximately HK$254,000). The loss was primarily attributable to the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and the keen competition in the I.T.
market. The impairment loss on goodwill (‘Impairment Loss on Goodwill”)
of approximately HK$11,300,000 in relation to Wafer Systems (Hong Kong)
Limited (“Wafer HK”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
the CGU of the Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services
Business, was recognised during the Year. Details of the Impairment Loss on
Goodwill are set out in the sub-section headed “Update on Material Asset
Impairment” in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this report and note 22 to the consolidated financial statements contained in
this report.

During the Year, the COVID-19 pandemic caused disruptions to the Hong
Kong economy and operational environment of this business segment,
pressuring on the sales activities of this segment. Compounded by the severe
competition in the I.T. industry in Hong Kong, the market condition of this
business segment is expected to remain challenging in coming year. The
Group will endeavour to expand customer base and enhance efficiency in
order to improve the financial performance of this segment. In the meantime,
the Group’s management will continue to pay close attention to the prospect
of this business segment and may consider the possibility of, including but
not limited to, scale-down or disposal of part of this business segment in the
coming future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E R

On 31 December 2020, in view of the severe competition in the L.T. industry
in Hong Kong, the unfavourable operational environment of this business
segment and the financial performance of e-Perfect IT Limited, the Group
disposed of all its shares in e-Perfect IT Limited, the then wholly-owned
subsidiary operating the Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract
Services Business, to a director of e-Perfect IT Limited (“e-Perfect Disposal”).
As disclosed in note 39(a) to the consolidated financial statements contained
in this report, the e-Perfect Disposal did not constitute a notifiable transaction
of the Company under Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing Rules. The e-Perfect
Disposal fell under the definition of “connected transaction” under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules but was de minimis in nature and therefore was
exempt from the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The e-Perfect Disposal did not result in any significant impact on the
operation of this business segment.

B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business

During the Year, revenue derived from this business segment was
approximately HK$121,260,000 (2019: approximately HK$249,498,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 51.4% as compared with that of
2019. The segment loss of this business for the Year was approximately
HK$5,015,000 (2019: profit of approximately HK$4,107,000).

During the Year, the business-to-customer online sales platform (“B2C Online
Sales Platform”) and business-to-business product trading (‘B2B Product
Trading”) Business segment was challenged by the global economic condition
caused by geopolitical tensions and the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic,
leading to an increasing pressure on logistics, disruptions to global business
activities and sluggish market demand.

The Group is committed to enhancing the lifestyle of its customers through
developing online and offline sales channel to offer quality products to its
customers around the world. During the Year, the Group engaged in the
operation of a B2C Online Sales Platform, and the B2B Product Trading,
focusing on offering quality electronic lifestyle products to domestic and
international customers through its indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries,
GET Development Limited and Sure Team (H.K.) Limited. According to
the internal sales data of the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product
Trading Business, during the Year, over 81% (2019: over 86%) of the revenue
of the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business was
attributable to the sale of electronic lifestyle products which primarily include
electronic devices.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

With an aim of diversifying business portfolio, expanding geographical footprint
and increasing market penetration, the Group introduced quality products from
various regions of the globe to other parts of the world through the operation
of the B2B Product Trading business. In operating the B2B Product Trading
business, the Group has strived to carefully control the cost and increase the
variety of products when business opportunities arise.

In respect of the operation of the B2C Online Sales Platform, the Group targets
to source quality products from various regions around the world and sell them
to global customers, who can then enjoy a convenient and secured cross-
border online shopping experience. The Group has registered seller accounts
on several business-to-customer foreign trade e-commerce platforms to offer
a spectrum of quality products to customers around the world.

Headwinds of the volatile market environment and the wider impact from
the COVID-19 pandemic will be expected to continue to pose challenges to
this business segment. Looking ahead, the Board will continue to carefully
review and pay close attention to the performance of this business segment
in exercising prudent cost control and credit risks control and maintaining an
appropriate balance of risks and opportunities.

Securities Investment Business

During the Year, the Group recorded a segment loss for the securities
investment business (“Securities Investment Business”) of approximately
HK$12,775,000 (2019: profit of approximately HK$8,381,000). The segment
loss was primarily attributable to the net fair value loss on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL Financial Assets”) of approximately
HK$8,729,000 for the Year (2019: fair value gain of approximately
HK$8,462,000) and the loss on disposal of the FVTPL Financial Assets of
approximately HK$3,942,000 for the Year (2019: Nil).

Escalating trade disputes between the United States and China, global
geopolitical tensions and the COVID-19 pandemic had brought instabilities
to the Hong Kong financial market over the Year. The Group will continue to
explore potential investment opportunities and closely monitor the financial
market of Hong Kong as well as the performance of the Securities Investment
Business.

As at 31 December 2020, fair value of the FVTPL Financial Assets and
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI
Financial Assets”) of the Group were approximately HK$12,310,000 (31
December 2019: approximately HK$32,536,000) and approximately
HK$1,135,000 (31 December 2019: approximately HK$1,040,000)
respectively, consisting of four (2019: four) investment items, three of which
are shares listed on the Stock Exchange and one is shares of an unlisted
company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E R

Below are the securities investments held by the Group as at 31 December

UTFRExEER " "2F+_A=+—HFRFBAZ

2020: BHRE
Percentage
of total issued
Number of shares  share capital Percentageto  Percentage to Unrealised
held by the Group of the investee Fair  the Group’s net the Group's gain/(loss)
asat company as at value as at assets as at total assets as at on change Realised Dividend
Place of 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December in fair value loss income
Name of investee company Notes  incorporation 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 for the Year for the Year for the Year
[k Juk 22
RZF-FE +ZR=+-H RZF-FE  RIFCEE EEER
+ZAZ+-B #RRERAZ WIB-RF +CAZ+-B +CR=+-B ATEEL8Z
FEERAZ BEORASEEZ +CA=1t-A2  (4E@z  (FEEZ  RERKE/ FEER REER
BRERDEH B AR k%A aakt ATEE HEFEANM BELEEN (&%) BERBH BEBA
(HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000)
(FEm) (FE7) (FAD) (FED
(Approximately)  (Approximately)  (Approximately)  (Approximately)  (Approximately)  (Approximately)
(#14) (140) (F49) (#4) (40) (B49)
FVTOCI Financial Assets
BREMZERENATEESRNEHER
Convoy Global Holdings Limited Cayman lslands 13,612,000 0.09% 1,135 042% 0.35% % - -
(*Convoy Global') Note 1)
()
BRRRERERAT (RERR) HENE
FVTPL Financial Assets
BRRENATREENRNEREE
Convoy Global Cayman lslands 10,000 0.000067% 1 0.00037% 0.00031% E - -
(Note 1)
()
BRIRIK HENE
First Credit Finance Group Limited Bermuda 84,460,000 2.33% 4730 1.76% 1.45% 845 - -
(‘First Credt’) Note 1)
)
E-EREMERERAR (E-ER) BRE
Tallam Tech Construction Holdings Limited Cayman lslands 16,842,000 421% 7,579 2.82% 2.32% (9,574) (3,942) -
(‘Tailam”) Note 1)
()
RURBERERAT (Fit) HENE
Jun Yang Energy Holdings Limited Cayman Islands 12,448 1.67% - - - (350) - -
(*Jun Yang Energy’)
ERERERARAT (ERER) HENE
* Represents amount less than HK$1,000 * 5= &E/L 58,0008 7T
Notes: 5T
1. The percentages were calculated based on the then latest monthly return or Aot ER B EL AR SN ERERIEE AT

next day disclosure of return of the investee companies publicly available on the

website of the Stock Exchange (where applicable).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Convoy Global (stock code: 1019) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Convoy Group”) principally engage in independent financial advisory business,
money lending business, asset management business and securities dealing
business. Based on the annual report of Convoy Global for the year ended 31
December 2019 published on 18 February 2021, the Convoy Group’s revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2019 was approximately HK$957.7 million
(2018: approximately HK$802.7 million), representing an increase of approximately
19.3% relative to the year before. The Convoy Group recorded a loss before
tax of approximately HK$537.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2019
(2018: loss of approximately HK$616.5 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 12.8% relative to the year before. As disclosed in the same report
of Convoy Global, the Convoy Group was building new business and reorienting
itself for a broader set of opportunities, with a robust risk management approach
and a strong balance sheet with the talent to deploy it. The Convoy Group has
successfully rebuilt its brand and was investing across its businesses and bringing
the world-class technology and expertise to serve new and existing customers,
to build a one-stop omni-channel financial service platform. The management
of Convoy Global was confident that the Convoy Group was in a solid position
to accelerate the Convoy Group’s ambitions in the financial services sector and
poised for strong growth in years to come. At the request of Convoy Global,
trading in its shares on the Stock Exchange was suspended since 7 December
2017. As disclosed in the announcements of Convoy Global dated 5 June 2020,
31 July 2020, 28 August 2020, 30 October 2020 and 11 March 2021, the
Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange decided to cancel the listing of Convoy
Global under Rule 6.01A of the Listing Rules. Convoy Global submitted a written
submission to the Listing Review Committee for the purpose of the review of the
delisting decision. As disclosed in the announcements of Convoy Global dated
11 March 2021, on 10 March 2021, Convoy Global was informed that the review
hearing for the delisting decision will be heard on 30 March 2021. As disclosed
in the announcements of Convoy Global dated 29 July 2020, 17 August 2020,
24 August 2020, 28 August 2020, 28 September 2020 and 25 February 2021,
there was a possible conditional voluntary share exchange offer by National Arts
Entertainment and Culture Group Limited (“National Arts”) (stock code: 8228), a
company whose shares are listed on GEM, to acquire shares in Convoy Global.
On 15 March 2021, Convoy announced that the board of National Arts has come
to a decision to discontinued the conditional voluntary share exchange offer.
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First Credit (stock code: 8215) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “First Credit Group”) focus on money lending business. Based on the
annual report of First Credit for the year ended 31 December 2019 published
on 26 March 2020, the First Credit Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
December 2019 was approximately HK$88.88 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 4.18% over the revenue of approximately HK$92.76 million
recorded for the year ended 31 December 2018. The loss attributable to
owners of the company was approximately HK$132.89 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019 when compared to a profit attributable to owners
of the company of approximately HK$25.93 million for the year ended 31
December 2018. As disclosed in the third quarterly report of First Credit dated 6
November 2020, the revenue of the First Credit Group decreased significantly to
approximately HK$25.95 million for the nine months ended 30 September 2020
from approximately HK$67.79 million for the nine months ended 30 September
2019. For the nine months ended 30 September 2020, the First Credit Group
recorded a significant increase in consolidated loss contributable to owners of the
company of approximately HK$213.35 million as compared to the consolidated
loss contributable to owners of the company of approximately HK$49.90 million
for the nine months ended 30 September 2019. Trading in the shares of First
Credit has been suspended since 24 November 2017 pursuant to Section 8(1) of
the Securities and Futures (Stock Market Listing) Rules (Chapter 571V of the Laws
of Hong Kong). As disclosed in the announcement of First Credit dated 24 June
2019, the Stock Exchange has withheld exercising its right to delist First Credit
although trading in its shares remained suspended on 31 July 2019. Trading in
the shares of First Credit will continue to be suspended until further notice. As
disclosed in the announcement of First Credit dated 24 June 2019, First Credit
has been using its best endeavour and taking necessary steps to procure for a
resumption of trading of the shares. As disclosed in the announcement of First
Credit dated 1 February 2021, First Credit had made further submission to the
Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC”) on 31 December 2020 and had
continued its effort in communicating with and addressing the concern of SFC
with a view to achieving a resumption of trading of its shares as soon as possible.
As disclosed in the same announcement, First Credit will continue to closely
monitor its cash position and explore potential investment opportunities including
but not limited to investments in bonds, debt instruments, listed equity securities
or project-based investments, subject to the prevailing market condition and the
financial position of the First Credit Group.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E s Rk
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The principal businesses of Tailam (stock code: 6193) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Tailam Group”) are manufacturing and selling
prestressed high-strength concrete piles and commercial concrete in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”). On 25 March 2019, a subscription agreement
(“Subscription Agreement”) was entered into by Perfect Growth Limited (“Perfect
Growth”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Tailam and a guarantor
(“Tailam Guarantor”), being an individual who is the majority shareholder of
Tailam, pursuant to which Perfect Growth agreed to subscribe for, and Tailam
agreed to allot and issue, 1,400,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 par value each
in the issued share capital of Tailam at the subscription price of HK$19,500,000
in cash, subject to the terms and conditions of the Subscription Agreement.
Dealing in the shares of Tailam commenced at 9:00 a.m. on 18 December 2019
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Immediately following completion
of the capitalisation issue and the share offer of Tailam, Perfect Growth was
interested in 21,000,000 ordinary shares, representing approximately 5.25%
of the issued share capital of Tailam. As disclosed in the prospectus of Tailam
dated 5 December 2019, Perfect Growth had irrevocably undertaken to Tailam
and the Tailam Guarantor that subject to compliance with the requirements of
applicable Hong Kong laws, regulations and provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, Perfect Growth would not, among
others, dispose of the shares of Tailam of which it is shown in the prospectus of
Tailam to be beneficial owner during the period ended on the date which is 180
days from the date of listing of shares of Tailam (i.e. 15 June 2020). For further
details of the Company’s investment in Tailam, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 25 March 2019 and the prospectus of Tailam dated 5
December 2019. As disclosed in the annual report of Tailam for the year ended
31 December 2019 dated 31 March 2020, the revenue of the Tailam Group
increased by approximately RMB86.9 million, or approximately 19.1%, from
approximately RMB454.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately RMB541.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. Profit of
the Tailam Group decreased by approximately RMB8.7 million, or approximately
25.7%, from approximately RMB34.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2018 to approximately RMB25.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2019. As disclosed in the interim report of Tailam dated 25 August 2020, the
revenue of the Tailam Group decreased by approximately RMB94.3 million from
approximately RMB271.3 million for the six months ended 30 June 2019 to
approximately RMB177.0 million for the six months ended 30 June 2020. The
Tailam Group recorded a profit of approximately RMB6.7 million for the six months
ended 30 June 2020, representing a decrease of approximately RMB9.8 million
as compared to that for the corresponding period in 2019. The Tailam Group will
adhere to prudent financial management in project selection and cost control.
Tailam Group will try its best to look for new business opportunities to offset the
negative impacts of the COVID-19 outbreak. The Tailam Group will continue to
explore various opportunities in construction industry to create greater value for
shareholders of the Company.
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Jun Yang Energy, which was incorporated in the Cayman Islands, is an unlisted
company. Jun Yang Energy and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Jun
Yang Energy Group”) principally engage in solar energy business with a focus
on development, construction, operation and maintenance of power stations in
the PRC. Based on the unaudited consolidated management accounts of the
Jun Yang Energy Group for the year ended 31 December 2019, the revenue of
the Jun Yang Energy Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted
to approximately HK$67,331,000 (2018: approximately HK$75,990,000). Loss
of the Jun Yang Energy Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
approximately HK$5,326,000 (2018: approximately HK$59,853,000). On 31 May
2018, the National Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry of
Finance and National Energy Administration jointly released the “Notice on matters
relevant to photovoltaic power generation in 2018”, stating that construction of
general solar power stations had been suspended in 2018 and standardised
management applied to development of distributed solar power generation
projects, and for new-on-grid solar power operations, the levels of subsidy had
been lowered. The management of Jun Yang Energy will continue to keep a close
watch on policy direction and change in development situations, adjust its capital
strategy accordingly and make timely disclosure to its shareholders. Pursuant to
a shareholder loan agreement entered into by the Group as shareholder of Jun
Yang Energy in February 2017, a loan in the principal amount of US$3,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$27,230,000) was provided to Jun Yang Energy.
Taking into account the declining financial performance and working capital
position of the Jun Yang Energy Group and the low recoverability of the loan due
from the Jun Yang Energy Group, the Group recorded an expected credit loss
allowance of approximately HK$27,230,000 on the loan due from the Jun Yang
Energy Group for the year ended 31 December 2018. Details of the shareholder
loan agreement and the provision of the expected credit loss allowance are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 24 February 2017 and the annual report
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019 respectively.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

During the Year, revenue of the Group’s operations was approximately
HK$231,404,000, representing a decrease of approximately 37.4% as
compared to the revenue of approximately HK$369,839,000 for 2019. The
revenue of the Group for the Year was mainly contributed by the revenue of
(i) the Software Business of approximately HK$82,252,000; (i) the Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business of approximately
HK$27,892,000; and (i) the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product
Trading Business of approximately HK$121,260,000.

Gross Profit

Gross profit of the Group for the Year decreased by approximately
2.07% to approximately HK$71,509,000 for the Year from approximately
HK$73,017,000 for 2019.

Finance Costs

The finance costs of the Group were approximately HK$98,000 for the
Year, representing a decrease of approximately 4.9% from approximately
HK$103,000 for 2019.

Loss for the Year

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$32,410,000 for
the Year (2019: net loss of approximately HK$61,680,000). The net loss
for the Year was mainly the combined effects of () segment profit of
the Software Business of approximately HK$23,347,000 (2019: loss of
approximately HK$46,264,000); (i) segment loss of the Securities Investment
Business of approximately HK$12,775,000 (2019: profit of approximately
HK$8,381,000); (i) segment loss of the Corporate Management Solutions
and I.T. Contract Services Business of approximately HK$17,907,000
(2019: loss of approximately HK$6,794,000), including the Impairment
Loss on Goodwill of approximately HK$11,300,000 (2019: approximately
HK$254,000); (iv) segment loss of the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B
Product Trading Business of approximately HK$5,015,000 (2019: profit
of approximately HK$4,107,000); and (v) other corporate expenses of
approximately HK$12,894,000 incurred during the Year (2019: approximately
HK$14,996,000).

The net loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$39,286,000 for the Year as compared with the net loss attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$67,200,000 for 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN R

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposit of approximately HK$118,804,000 (31 December 2019:
approximately HK$81,350,000), which were principally denominated in United
States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (2019: United States dollars
and Hong Kong dollars). During the Year, the Group generally financed its
operations with internal resources and there was no significant change in its
capital structure.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had total assets amounting to
approximately HK$326,665,000 (31 December 2019: approximately
HK$370,896,000) and total liabilities of approximately HK$57,821,000 (31
December 2019: approximately HK$64,320,000). The gearing ratio of the
Group, calculated as total liabilities over total assets, was approximately 17.7%
as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: approximately 17.3%).

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend any payment of dividend for the Year (2019:
Nil).

Charges on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group pledged bank deposits of approximately
US$81,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$630,000) (31 December 2019:
approximately US$81,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$627,000) for
securing banking facilities of HK$500,000 (31 December 2019: HK$500,000)
granted to the Group. The bank deposits were denominated in United States
dollars with a term of six months at fixed interest rate of 0.05% per annum.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had undrawn banking facilities of

approximately HK$242,000 (31 December 2019: approximately HK$857,000).

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the Group did not hold any
margin trading account.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RISK FACTORS
Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the Year, business activities of the Group were mainly denominated in
United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The United States
dollar is the main currency for transactions made by the Group. Since the
Hong Kong dollar remains pegged to the United States dollar within a defined
range, the Group is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk
against the United States dollar. The Group has not entered into any foreign
exchange contract as hedging measures. The Directors did not consider
the Group as being exposed to any significant foreign currency exchange
risk. Notwithstanding the above, the Group continues to manage its foreign
currency risk against other currencies by closely monitoring movement of
exchange rates and may use hedging derivatives, such as foreign currency
forward contracts, as and when appropriate.

Financial Risk

The total assets of the Group of approximately HK$326,665,000 as at 31
December 2020 mainly included the FVTOCI Financial Assets of approximately
HK$1,135,000, the FVTPL Financial Assets of approximately HK$12,310,000,
goodwill of approximately HK$69,525,000 and intangible assets of
approximately HK$90,762,000. The Group’s FVTOCI Financial Assets and the
FVTPL Financial Assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity security price risk due to
fluctuation of the fair value of the FVTOCI Financial Assets and the FVTPL
Financial Assets. The Directors regularly review exposure of the Group’s
FVTOCI Financial Assets and the FVTPL Financial Assets to equity security
price risk. Moreover, the Directors closely monitor the financial performance
and operation of cash generating units containing goodwill and intangible
assets, and conduct impairment review on goodwill and intangible assets
annually and more frequently should there be any unforeseeable events or
changes in circumstances pointing to potential impairment.

Operation Risk

The Group is exposed to the corresponding operation risks each of its
business divisions faces. To manage those risks, the management of each
business division is responsible for monitoring the operation of their respective
divisions and assessing related operation risks. They are responsible for
implementing the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and shall
report any irregularities in connection with operation of projects to the Directors
and seek direction.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E R

Credit Risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk which is mainly attributable to its trade
and other receivables. During the Year, the Group’s credit risk mainly arose
from the operating activities of the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B
Product Trading Business and the Corporate Management Solutions and
|.T. Contract Services Business. Please refer to note 6(c) to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this report for details of the credit risk of
the Group for the Year. The trade and other receivables of the Group were
approximately HK$29,891,000 as at 31 December 2020. During the Year,
due to the worsening economic environment caused by the COVID-19
pandemic and socio-political instability, the chance of default in payment
may inevitably be higher than expected. To minimise credit risk, the Directors
continue to closely monitor the overall level of credit exposure, whereas the
management is responsible for determining credit approvals and monitoring
the implementation of collection procedure to ensure follow-up actions are
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt at the end of a reporting period to ensure
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

LITIGATIONS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group was involved in the following civil
legal proceedings, namely, the Perfect Growth Litigation, the AP Acquisition
Litigation and the AP Management Litigation (all as defined below).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Perfect Growth Litigation

On 3 July 2018, Perfect Growth, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, received an amended writ of summons (‘“Amended Writ”)
with an amended statement of claim (“Amended Statement of Claim”)
issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong by
Convoy Global (“1st Plaintiff”), Convoy Collateral Limited (“2nd Plaintiff”)
and CSL Securities Limited (“3rd Plaintiff”) (1st Plaintiff, 2nd Plaintiff and
3rd Plaintiff collectively referred to as the “Plaintiffs”) against, among
other defendants, Perfect Growth as the 34th defendant (“Perfect
Growth Litigation”). Perfect Growth was joined as one of the defendants
by way of the Amended Writ.

Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim attached to the Amended
Writ, Perfect Growth was named as one of the Alleged Independent
Placees (being placees of the placing of shares of the 1st Plaintiff
carried out in around October 2015 (“October 2015 Placing”)) and was
allotted with some shares of the 1st Plaintiff pursuant to the October
2015 Placing.

In the Perfect Growth Litigation, the reliefs claimed by the Plaintiffs
against Perfect Growth are as follows:

1) the 1st Plaintiff seeks a declaration and an order as against,
among others, Perfect Growth, that the allotment of the 1st
Plaintiff's shares to, among others, Perfect Growth pursuant to
the October 2015 Placing is null and void, or has been rescinded
and be set aside;

2 the 1st Plaintiff seeks an account of profits and an order for
payment of any sums found to be due, equitable compensation
to be assessed and/or damages to be assessed for dishonest
assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or lawful means
conspiracy as against, among others, Perfect Growth, in relation
to, among other matters, the October 2015 Placing and the
allotment of the 1st Plaintiff’'s shares pursuant to the same; and

(8)  the Plaintiffs seek as against, among others, Perfect Growth (a)
general or special damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; (d) further
and/or other reliefs.
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On 22 November 2018, Perfect Growth filed its defence to the
Amended Statement of Claim.

On 3 December 2019, the Plaintiffs filed its reply to Perfect Growth’s
defence. The Plaintiffs have not, however, filed its reply to each of the
other defendants’ defence, and as such the pleadings of the Perfect
Growth Litigation have not been closed yet.

Details of the Perfect Growth Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 July 2018.

(2)(a) AP Acquisition Litigation

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 13
June 2016, 23 June 2016 and 1 July 2016 in relation to, among other
matters, the acquisition of 51% equity interest in AP Group Investment
Holdings Limited (“AP Group Investment”, together with its subsidiaries,
referred to as the “AP Group”) (“Acquisition”) and the announcements of
the Company dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018 and 16 July 2018 in
relation to the adjustment to consideration for the Acquisition.

On 13 June 2016, Lucky Famous Limited (“Lucky Famous”), a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (“SP Agreement”) with Fragrant River Entertainment
Culture (Holdings) Limited (“Vendor”) and Universe International
Holdings Limited (now known as Universe Entertainment and Culture
Group Company Limited) (“Guarantor”), pursuant to which the Group
conditionally agreed to acquire, and the Vendor conditionally agreed to
sell 51% equity interest of AP Group Investment, at the consideration of
HK$20,400,000, subject to downward adjustments as described below,
which shall be settled by way of allotment and issue of 40,800,000 new
ordinary shares of the Company, credited as fully paid, at the issue price
of HK$0.50 per share to the Vendor (or its nominee), on the date of
completion. The AP Group was principally engaged in the provision of
self-improvement and self-enhancement training programmes in Hong
Kong. Completion of the Acquisition took place on 1 July 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the SP Agreement,
in the event that the audited consolidated profit after tax of AP Group
Investment attributable to its owners from 1 January 2016 to 31
December 2017 (“‘FY 2016 & 2017”) (which will only include income
or gain generated by activities in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the AP Group) (“FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit”) is less than
HK$16,000,000, the Vendor shall, and the Guarantor shall procure
the Vendor to, pay to Lucky Famous (or to its order) an adjustment
amount (“Adjustment Amount”) in cash within 14 days after the
audited consolidated financial statements of AP Group Investment for
FY 2016 & 2017 (“FY 2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts”) are available.
The Adjustment Amount shall be determined in accordance with the
formula set out below:

A = HK$20,400,000 - (NP/2) x 5 x 51%

Where:

“A” means the amount of the Adjustment Amount in HK$; and

“NP” means the FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit. Where the FY 2016 & 2017
Net Profit is a negative figure, “NP” shall be deemed to be zero.

The FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit shall be based on the FY 2016 & 2017
Audited Accounts which shall be prepared in accordance with the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and audited, adjusted for any
non-recurring items.

Based on the FY 2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts, the AP Group
recorded a net loss of HK$189,799. In accordance with the SP
Agreement, the FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit of the AP Group shall be
deemed to be zero. Accordingly, the Group has requested the Vendor
and the Guarantor to pay the Adjustment Amount of HK$20,400,000
on or before 26 June 2018 according to the terms and conditions of the
SP Agreement (“AP Receivable”). On 22 June 2018, the Group received
a letter from the legal adviser acting for the Vendor and the Guarantor
that they will defend the purported claim of the Group for the payment
of the Adjustment Amount alleged by the Group.

Up to 26 June 2018, i.e. the last date on which the Vendor and the
Guarantor shall pay the Adjustment Amount after the FY 2016 & 2017
Audited Accounts were made available to them, the Group had not
received any payment of the Adjustment Amount from any of the
Vendor and the Guarantor.
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The Board considered that the Vendor and the Guarantor have
potentially breached their contractual obligations by failing to repay
the Group the Adjustment Amount in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the SP Agreement. In order to safeguard the legitimate
rights and interests of the Group, after seeking legal advice, the
Group has commenced legal proceeding (‘AP Acquisition Litigation”)
against the Vendor as the 1st defendant and the Guarantor as the 2nd
defendant. A writ of summons with an indorsement of claim were filed
by Lucky Famous as plaintiff at the Court of First Instance of the High
Court of Hong Kong on 16 July 2018. Based on the writ, the Group
claimed against the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the Adjustment
Amount of HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or
other reliefs.

An amended writ of summons with an indorsement of claim were filed
at the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong on 26
September 2019. Based on the amended writ, the Group claimed
against the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the Adjustment Amount
of HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or other
relief, and also against Mr. Chan Sze Long (“Chan”) and Ms. Lim Wah
Elsa (“Lim”) for (e) damages in the sum of HK$20,400,000; (f) interests;
(g) costs; and (h) further and/or other relief (collectively, the “Legal
Action”). The Board considered that Chan and Lim, who are the former
directors of AP Group Investment until their respective resignations on
18 July 2018, have potentially breached their duties and obligations in
contract and tort by failing to, amongst other things, prepare audited
consolidated financial statements of AP Group Investment for the
year ended 31 December 2015, provide the auditors of AP Group
Investment with the written information that they requested to support
their audit, and keep and/or preserve adequate accounting records in
respect of the transactions entered into by AP Group Investment, its
financial position and its financial performance.

Details of the AP Acquisition Litigation are set out to the Company’s
announcements dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018 and 16 July 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(2)(b) AP Management Litigation

On 26 July 2018, the Company as the 1st plaintiff and AP Group
Investment as the 2nd plaintiff, issued a writ of summons in the High
Court of Hong Kong against Chan as the 1st defendant and Lim as
the 2nd defendant (collectively referred to as the “Defendants”) for the
matters as detailed below (‘AP Management Litigation”). Chan and
Lim are former directors of AP Group Investment until their respective
resignations on 18 July 2018. Chan and/or his controlled company, and
the controlled company of Lim, are also former directors of the other
members of the AP Group at all material times.

The Company is a majority shareholder holding 51% interest in AP
Group Investment through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Lucky Famous.
As a result of the 51% shareholding in AP Group Investment, all
members of the AP Group are subsidiaries of the Company and their
financial results have been consolidated into the Group’s consolidated
financial statements prior to the deconsolidation of the AP Group
becoming effective on 1 April 2018. The AP Group was principally
engaged in the provision of self-improvement and self-enhancement
training programs in Hong Kong at all material times.

At all material times and during the tenure of office of the Defendants
as directors of AP Group Investment, in reliance of the experience and
expertise of the Defendants in running the AP Group, it was agreed by
the parties that the Defendants were wholly responsible for the efficient
and proper management and operation of the AP Group, including but
not limited to, the efficient daily operations of the AP Group, keeping
proper books and records of the AP Group at all times for inspection by
the Group, and the provision of weekly cash and bank balance reports,
annual budget and monthly financial reports of AP Group Investment,
including that of all the other members of the AP Group to the
Company, within 15 days after each month’s end. After the resignations
of the Defendants as directors of AP Group Investment on 18 July 2018
and up to the date of this report, the Defendants failed to deliver up
all the accounting books and financial records of, and all businesses
records in connection with, the running of the AP Group, including but
not limited to records in relation to the students’ records, instructors’
records and information on potential litigations, for the period of seven
years immediately prior to the date of their resignations as director of
AP Group Investment on 18 July 2018 (“Full Business Records”) to the
Group.
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In order to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the Group,
after seeking legal advice, the Group has commenced legal proceeding
against the Defendants. The Group claimed against the Defendants for
the reliefs, including but not limited to, delivering up of the Full Business
Records, accounting for the assets of the AP Group that were in the
power, possession or control of the Defendants and damages to be
assessed.

Details of the AP Management Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 27 July 2018.

(2)(c) Settlement of the AP Acquisition Litigation and the AP

Management Litigation

On 1 February 2021, Lucky Famous, the Vendor, the Guarantor, Chan,
Lim, Very Easy Limited (“Very Easy”), a company wholly owned by
Chan, and City Link Consultancy Limited (“City Link”), a company wholly
owned by Lim, without admission of any liability in relation to the Legal
Action, had amicably resolved and entered into a settlement agreement
(“Settlement Agreement”) in relation to the final and full settlement of
the Disputes (as defined below). In accordance with the Settlement
Agreement, the parties agreed that (i) the disputes in the Legal Action;
and (i) any other claims and complaint that the parties to the Settlement
Agreement may have against each other arising out of or in connection
with the sale and purchase agreement in respect of the sale and
purchase of 510 shares of AP Group Investment entered into by and
among the Vendor, Very Easy, City Link, Chan and Lim in 2015 and the
SP Agreement (collectively, the “Disputes”) shall be settled in full.

@)c)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In accordance with the terms of the Settlement Agreement, (i)
the Vendor and the Guarantor shall pay to the Group a sum of
HK$1,500,000 at the time of signing of the Settlement Agreement in
full and final settlement of the Disputes; (i) Chan shall pay to the Group
a sum of HK$2,700,000 in full and final settlement of the Disputes,
by paying (a) a sum of HK$1,300,000 at the time of signing of the
Settlement Agreement; (b) a sum of HK$23,500 per month for 59
months starting from 1 March 2021 up to 1 January 2026; and (c) a
final sum of HK$13,500 on or before 1 February 2026; (i) Lim shall pay
to the Group a sum of HK$1,800,000 in full and final settlement of the
Disputes, by paying (a) a sum of HK$200,000 at the time of signing of
the Settlement Agreement; (b) a sum of HK$26,500 per month for 59
months starting from 1 March 2021 up to 1 January 2026; and (c) a
final sum of HK$36,500 on or before 1 February 2026; and (iv) within
7 days of the date of the Settlement Agreement, Lucky Famous or its
legal representatives shall file at the Court of First Instance of the High
Court of Hong Kong a consent summons for discontinuing the Legal
Action with no order as to costs. The Group shall be entitled as of
right to take immediate legal action, including commencing bankruptcy
proceedings without further notice if Chan and/or Lim fail(s) to make full
and timely payment of any of the instalment(s) under (i) and (jii) above.

Details of the Settlement Agreement are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 1 February 2021.

On 16 February 2021, the High Court of Hong Kong granted an order
by consent that, amongst others, Lucky Famous do have leave to
discontinue the Legal Action against the Vendor, the Guarantor, Chan
and Lim.

Without prejudice to any right against the Vendor and the Guarantor
under the SP Agreement, the AP Receivable was HK$20,400,000
as at 31 December 2020. Based on the valuation performed by an
independent professional valuer using the probability-weighted method,
the Group had recognised an expected credit loss allowance on the
AP Receivable of approximately HK$1,246,000 and approximately
HK$12,200,000 for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
respectively. By reference to the status of the AP Acquisition Litigation,
additional lifetime expected credit loss allowance on the AP Receivable
of approximately HK$3,954,000 was further provided for the Year.
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TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy. Treasury activities are
centralised and the Group normally invests in portfolios comprising diverse
products. It has guidelines in place to monitor and control investment risk
exposure and to manage capital. The Board closely reviews the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure the Group has a liquidity structure, with assets,
liabilities and other commitments, adequate for meeting its funding
requirements at all times.

UPDATE ON MATERIAL ASSET IMPAIRMENT

For the six months ended 30 June 2020, the Board noted that the financial
performance of Wafer HK, one of the CGUs of the Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Service Business, did not pick up as expected
and has further declined. In view of the decrease in revenue of Wafer HK of
approximately HK$9,827,000 for the six months ended 30 June 2020 as
compared to that of approximately HK$21,328,000 for the corresponding
period in 2019, the Board considered that this was an indicator of potential
impairment on the carrying amount of the goodwill of Wafer HK. Accordingly,
the Company appointed Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited as
independent valuer in assisting in the valuation of the CGU in relation to Wafer
HK as at 30 June 2020.

During the six months ended 30 June 2020, the Group recorded the
Impairment Loss on Goodwill of approximately HK$11,300,000 in relation
to Wafer HK. For the six months ended 31 December 2020, no further
impairment loss on goodwill in relation to Wafer HK was recognised by the
Group. The Impairment Loss on Goodwill, which was non-cash in nature, did
not affect the Group’s working capital condition for the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Impairment on goodwill

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36, an impairment loss
shall be recognised for the CGU if the recoverable amount of the CGU is
less than the carrying amount of the CGU. The Company appointed Ascent
Partners Valuation Service Limited as independent professional valuer in
assisting in the valuation of the CGU in relation to Wafer HK as at 30 June
2020. Wafer HK was one of the operating units of the Group carrying on the
Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Service Business.

Calculation of impairment loss

As at 30 June 2020, the carrying amount of Wafer HK's CGU before
impairment was approximately HK$22,904,000 (31 December 2019:
approximately HK$22,929,000) which comprised (i) goodwill of approximately
HK$20,659,000 (31 December 2019: approximately HK$20,913,000); and
(i) net operating assets of approximately HK$2,245,000 (31 December 2019:
approximately HK$2,016,000) of Wafer HK.

With reference to the assessment by Ascent Partners Valuation Service
Limited, the recoverable amount of Wafer HK as at 30 June 2020 on a fair
value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”) basis was higher than that on a value
in use (“VIU") basis. The recoverable amount of Wafer HK’s CGU has been
determined based on FVLCD (31 December 2019: FVLCD) in accordance
with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36. As at 30 June 2020, the
recoverable amount of Wafer HK attributable to the Group was approximately
HK$11,635,000 (31 December 2019: approximately HK$22,675,000) which
was lower than its carrying amount attributable to the Group by approximately
HK$11,269,000, as a result of the uncertain market conditions such as the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and fierce competition in the market. The
carrying amount of the CGU has been reduced to its recoverable amount and
the Group recognised the Impairment Loss on Goodwill in respect of Wafer HK
of approximately HK$11,300,000 (31 December 2019: HK$254,000) for the
the six months ended 30 June 2020.
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Key basis and assumptions

In determining the FVLCD of Wafer HK, the independent professional valuer
has adopted market approach. The FVLCD of the CGU was appraised through
guideline public company method under market approach. Since there were
public companies operating similar business, their market value captures
current market expectations of the corresponding industry thus were good
indicators.

Price-to-Sales and Enterprise Value (EV)-to-Sales multiples were considered
in this valuation. The Price-to-Sales ratio establishes a relationship between
the value of a corporation’s stock and its annual revenue. Since Wafer HK had
recorded loss, Price-to-Earnings multiple was not applicable. EV-to-Sales is an
expansion of the Price-to-Sales multiple which considers debt and cash that a
company owns.

There were no significant changes in the basis adopted in the preparation of
this valuation as compared with the valuation as at 31 December 2019, except
for the selection of comparable companies. Comparable companies were
searched in Hong Kong listed companies that principally provide corporate
I.T. and system integration services. To more accurately reflect the situation
of Wafer HK, these companies with net loss/minimal profit in the latest fiscal
year were selected. Several companies with business scopes and operations
similar to those of Wafer HK were adopted as comparable companies. The
comparable companies were selected mainly with reference to the following
selection criteria:

(i) the comparable companies selected are principally engaged in
Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services Business
in Hong Kong;

(ii) the companies have sufficient listing and operating history;

(iii) the financial information of the companies is available to the public; and

(iv)  the share price of the comparable companies is available on the Stock
Exchange.

Compared with the valuation on Wafer HK as at 31 December 2019, one
comparable company has been replaced due to the change in its major
revenue segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The average of the valuation multiples of the comparable companies is
then applied to the Trailing Twelve Months (TTM) sales of Wafer HK as at
the valuation date (i.e. 30 June 2020 and 31 December 2019) to derive the
value of its 100% equity interest value and enterprise value respectively. The
equity interest value was then derived from enterprise value by adjusting
the operating debt, non-operating assets and liabilities, and cash and cash
equivalents of Wafer HK. As Wafer HK is a private company, a discount for
lack of marketability (DLOM) is applied. A DLOM of 15.80% was adopted as
reference to “2018 Stout Restricted Stock Study Companion Guide” published
by Stout Risius Ross, LLC.. In addition, as reference to “Value of Corporate
Control: Some International Evidence” by Paul Hanouna, Atulya Sarin, and
Alan C. Shapiro, a control premium of 25.00% was adopted to account for the
control interest on Wafer HK.

The calculation of the FVLCD of Wafer HK based on the valuation multiples is
tabulated as follows:
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By taking the average of the above calculated values based on the Price-
to-Sales and EV-to-Sales multiples, the FVLCD of Wafer HK was calculated
as HK$11,635,000, which was lower than its carrying amount attributable
to the Group by approximately HK$11,269,000, and the Group recognised
the Impairment Loss on Goodwill in respect of Wafer HK of approximately
HK$11,300,000 for the six months ended 30 June 2020.

As at 31 December 2020, the FVLCD of Wafer HK was higher than the
carrying amount of its CGU by approximately HK$1,109,000. Therefore, no
further impairment loss was recorded for the six months ended 31 December
2020. Details of the impairment test for the CGU containing goodwill are
disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this
report.

UPDATES ON RESULTS OF PERFORMANCE
GUARANTEE

Details of the results of performance guarantee in relation to the acquisition
of 51% equity interest in AP Group Investment are set out in the sub-section
headed “Litigations” in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this report.

MATERIAL TRANSACTION

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal during the Year.
Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 35 employees (31 December
2019: 62 employees). During the Year, the total staff costs of the Group
(including Directors’ emoluments and provident funds) were approximately
HK$28,848,000 (2019: approximately HK$27,471,000). The Group’s
remuneration policy emphasises equality, motivation and performance of
the employees in order to strengthen its competitiveness in the market and
comply with statutory requirements of Hong Kong. Remuneration packages
are generally reviewed annually. Apart from salary payments, other staff
benefits include provident fund contributions, medical insurance coverage and
performance-related bonuses. The Group also has a share option scheme in
place to reward and motivate employees. Details of the share option scheme
of the Company are set out in the section headed “Other Information—Share
Option Scheme” in this report.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (31 December 2019: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2020, the capital commitments contracted but not
provided for the development costs of intangible assets were approximately
HK$38,477,000 (31 December 2019: approximately HK$35,887,000). Please
refer to note 40 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this
report for details.

OUTLOOK

Entering into 2021, despite the fear of a new surge of confirmed cases
of COVID-19 and the potential economic downturn from the COVID-19
pandemic, signal of resurgence came along with the recent launch of vaccines
and nation-wide vaccination program implemented by the governments
worldwide, in a hope of bringing the pandemic to an end. The Group is
cautiously optimistic in the improvement of the global economic outlook and in
a hope that global sales and trading activities would resume.

It is believed that technology has slowly integrated into almost every facet of
our lives. While the economic outlook is clouded by uncertainties arising from
worsening impact from the pandemic, the pandemic was inevitably taking a
role in shaping the way we live and work by increasing our reliance on the use
of internet. The Group will continue to bolster up its capability in technology,
remain resilience and strong in the changing environment.

We insist that our people remains as our key to success. Amidst the pandemic
time in the Year, health and safety of the Group’s employees are always at the
top of the Group'’s priority. Safety measures were taken to prevent spread of
virus in the workplace. For example, work from home arrangement has been
implemented, frequent cleaning, disinfectant and masks have been provided at
the head office. Going forward, as a reliable and caring corporation, the Group
will continue to implement appropriate and necessary safety measures in order
to safeguard the health of the its employees.

Mapping out sustainable and resilient strategy of the Group, the Group wil
continue to maximise its strengths, enhance its professionalism, and adhere to
its prudent approach in achieving sustainable financial performance. Looking
ahead, the Group will continue to endeavour to ensure a healthy momentum
of its businesses and to withstand market risks and fluctuations ahead. The
Group will also carefully monitor the overall market and maintain an appropriate
balance of risks and opportunities in order to achieve sustainable growth and
returns to the Shareholders.
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The Board would like to present this Corporate Governance Report for the
Year.

The Company is committed to maintaining corporate governance of high
standard and quality procedures. The Company has put in place governance
practices with emphasis on the integrity to the Shareholders and quality of
disclosure, transparency and accountability to the Shareholders for the sake
of maximising returns to the Shareholders. The Directors acknowledge in the
Corporate Governance Report their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements.

Throughout the Year, the Board has reviewed the Group’s corporate
governance practices and is satisfied that the Company has complied with the
Code Provisions under the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

During the Year and as at 31 December 2020, the Board comprised five
members, two executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Jing Shong (Chairman
of the Board) and Mr. Zhang Long (former chief executive officer of the
Company (“Chief Executive Officer”)) and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yung, Mr. Cheng Hong Kei and Professor Chui
Tsan Kit. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) of the Board. On 8 February 2021, Mr. Zhang Long resigned as
an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Lau Siu Cheong was
appointed as an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer with effect
from 8 February 2021.

The composition of the Board reflects the balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the Group’s business and for the exercise
of independent decisions. The Company has three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than half of the Board. They are professionals in
different areas and provide independent opinions based on their expertise.

Mr. Wong Jing Shong, the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director,
is a director of CONCORD and a number of subsidiaries of CONCORD (as
defined below), namely, EPRO HK (as defined below), EPRO Systems (China)
Limited, EPRO Technology Limited and EPRO Limited, and the chief executive
officer of EPRO HK. He is also interested in 49% interests in CONCORD. Mr.
Zhang Long, the former executive Director and the former Chief Executive
Officer, is also a director of the above-mentioned subsidiaries of CONCORD.
Further details in relation to the directorship of Mr. Wong Jing Shong and
Mr. Zhang Long in the said companies are disclosed in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” and in the sub-
section headed “Competing Interest” in the section headed “Report of the
Directors” in this report. Save as disclosed above, there is no relationship
among members of the Board (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship). The biographies of the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
in this report.
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BOARD PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS

Formal notice of at least 14 days will be given in respect of a regular
meeting. For special Board meeting, reasonable notice will be given. The
Directors participated, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, in the Board meetings.

The Directors meet regularly at least 4 times a year and participate in person
or through other means of communication. All notices of Board meetings were
given to all Directors, who were given an opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for discussion. All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of
major changes that may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules
and regulations. The Directors can also seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense, if necessary. Minutes of
each Board meeting are kept by the company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
request by any Director.

Directors’ insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of the legal
action against the Directors.

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions of the Board
and management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.
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Attendance of Directors at Meetings

During the Year, 12 Board meetings had been held for reviewing business
performance, considering and approving the overall strategies and policies
of the Company and other business matters. The attendance record of each
current and former Director at the Board and Board Committee meetings and
the general meeting of the Company held during the Year is set out in the table
below:

EEHEGHECE

RARFERN HBT12REZGIEZUBIT LR ER
KR WEERIERATEERERBRAEMEH
FH  TREJISREMRFIEENFAFERNHFES
EREFEEEGERURTRATRERNEHICE

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HEBER gERY
Remuneration Audit  Nomination General

Note Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting

Mzt EEg HMZEEE® BREEE RLZEE RRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong w"IFEEE 10/12 N/ATEF N/ATIE N/ATEF 11
Mr. Zhang Long REELAE 1 11/12 N/ATE N/AF 78 N/AT B 11
Independent Non-executive Directors B JERITES
Mr. Chan Yung MELE 12/12 3/3 5/5 3/3 11
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei BREELE 11/12 2/3 5/5 3/3 11
Professor Chui Tsan Kit RIGEHIR 12/12 3/3 5/5 3/3 11
Note: 5T
1. Mr. Zhang Long resigned as an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer 1. REEABERITESRITRAE B2 " —F_4

with effect from 8 February 2021.

In addition, the Chairman of the Board has annually held the meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors
during the Year.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the Year, the positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer were
separately held by Mr. Wong Jing Shong and Zhang Long respectively. The
Chairman provides leadership to the Board and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board whereas the Chief Executive Officer
focuses on the Group’s business development and daily management and
operations generally. Mr. Lau Siu Cheong has been appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer on 8 February 2021 upon resignation of Mr. Zhang Long on
the same day.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Year, the Board complied at all times with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules that at least three independent non-executive Directors sit
in the Board (more than one-third of the Board members) and at least one
of them has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
existing independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing
Rules. As at the date of this report, the Company in its best knowledge
considers all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent procedures
for the appointment of new Directors.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Company’s Bye-laws. According to the
Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to re-election by the Shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment, and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the Board shall be subject to re-election by the Shareholders
at the next following annual general meeting after appointment. Other relevant
provision in the Bye-law states that one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation at every
annual general meeting. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The
Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the
number of Directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and
not to offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be
those of the other Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been
longest in office since their last re-election or appointment. All Directors should
retire by rotation at least once every three years.

Under the Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The
independent non-executive Directors were appointed for a specific term:
Professor Chui Tsan Kit was re-appointed for a term of 3 years commencing
on 23 April 2020 whereas, Mr. Chan Yung and Mr. Cheng Hong Kei were
appointed for a term of 3 years both commencing on 24 November 2020. All
of them are subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.
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At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, Mr. Wong Jing
Shong, Mr. Lau Siu Cheong and Mr. Chan Yung shall retire and each of them,
being eligible, will offer himself for re-election pursuant to the Company’s Bye-
laws as stated in the foregoing paragraph. The Board and the Nomination
Committee recommended their re-appointment. The Company’s circular, to be
sent to the Shareholders, contains detailed information of the Directors who
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company as required by the GEM Listing Rules.

Continuous professional development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Every newly appointed
Director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first
occasion of his appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of the Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Besides, the Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
Internally facilitated briefings for the Directors will be arranged and reading
materials on relevant topics will be issued to the Directors where appropriate.
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

According to the records maintained by the Company, the current and former
Directors received the following training with an emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a Director of a listed company in compliance with the
CG Code on continuous professional development during the Year.
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Attending or participating in
seminars/workshops,

and/or reading materials relevant
to roles, functions, and duties

Directors of a director of a listed company

HEXSHFHLTATESARG
BRERBENMSE, TSR

) HEEAAER

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Wong Jing Shong =GR E v/

Mr. Zhang Long (Note 1) sRBEA A (FEE1) v

Independent Non-executive Directors BIIERITES

Mr. Chan Yung R 4

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei ERER IS v

Professor Chui Tsan Kit RIRGHIR v

Note: Mk -

1. Mr. Zhang Long resigned as an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer 1. RELEE_SE_—E_AN\BEFTNTEERITH

with effect from 8 February 2021.
Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is Mr. Lau Siu Cheong. The Company Secretary
assists the Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board so that
Board policy and procedures are followed. He has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional trainings to update his skills and knowledge during the
Year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The following statements, which set out the responsibility of Directors in
relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but
distinguished from, the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 74 to 78 which
acknowledges the reporting responsibility of the Group’s auditor.

Annual report and accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the annual
report and financial statements of the Company for the Year to ensure that
these financial statements give a true and fair presentation in accordance
with Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”) and the applicable accounting standards.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Accounting policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements, the Group
applies appropriate accounting policies that are consistently adopted
and makes judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent in
accordance with the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting
records which disclose the financial positions of the Group upon which
financial statements of the Group could be prepared in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Safeguarding assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities within the Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, auditor’s remuneration for audit services was approximately
HK$1,000,000 (2019: approximately HK$1,380,000) and non-audit services
(including but not limited to professional advice on financial activities and
taxation) was approximately HK$486,000 (2019: approximately HK$526,000).
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Goals and Objectives

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems

The Group’s risk governance structure and the main responsibilities of each
level of the structure are summarised below:

Board

. evaluates and determines the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensures the
implementation of an effective risk management and internal control

systems; and

. oversees the management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

Management

° designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal
control systems;

o identifies and assesses the risks which threaten the achievement of the
strategic objectives;

° reviews the risk areas and risk level;
o advises on matters raised by employees and the Company;
o coordinates and promotes risk management by ensuring that risk

and activities processes are operated efficiently and effectively and in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules; and

o reports periodically to the Board.
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Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Significant Risks
The Group’s risk assessment processes are summarised as follows:
Risk Identification

o Identifies the risks through discussion with the management and
directors of subsidiaries of the Company. Risk identification and
management questionnaire are used to document the risks identified by
the management and directors of subsidiaries of the Company.

Risk Assessment

o Determines the existing controls and analyses risks in terms of
consequence and likelihood in the context of those controls. The
analysis considers the range of potential consequences and how likely
those consequences are to occur. Consequences and likelihood are
combined to produce an estimated level of risk.

Risk Response

o Categorises the risks into low risk, medium risk and high risk;

o Determines the strategy to handle the risk; and

o Develops the risk register and internal control audit plan and determines

the frequency of review and control testing on key controls.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o on-going communication of monitoring results to the Board which
enables it to assess control of the Group and the effectiveness of risk

management during the Year, including:

o risk questionnaires completed by the management, risk register
and internal control audit plan; and

o fact finding report with recommendations on the review and
testing of internal controls on certain operating cycles and areas.
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Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by the management of the
Company, including analysing and appraising the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. For the
enhancement of the quality of the internal audit, the Company has engaged an
external consultant to execute a significant scope of internal audit function to:

o perform the risk assessment based on management evaluation on
identified area and report the findings and recommendations to the
management; and

o conduct various agreed-upon-procedures reviews on material controls
and perform testing of internal controls on certain operating cycles and
areas in accordance with the Company’s internal control audit plan.

During the Year, the Board, as assisted by the Audit Committee, reviewed the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems for the Year, which
cover all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls, the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions, and assessed the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group by reviewing the work
and findings of the internal audit function. Such review is conducted annually.
Both the Audit Committee and the Board considered that the systems were
effective and adequate for the Year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the dividend policy adopted by the Company with effect from 1 January
2019, dividends may be declared and paid to the Shareholders by way of cash
or by other means that the Board considers appropriate. It is the policy of the
Board, in recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate
in the Company’s profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company to
retain adequate reserves for future growth. The Company’s decision to declare
or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount of such dividends will
depend upon, among other things, the current and future operations, financial
condition, liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group, as well as
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in
turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a
dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to
the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and payment of dividends
by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the laws of Bermuda,
the laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s Bye-laws and any applicable laws,
rules and regulations. The Board will continue to review the dividend policy
from time to time and the Board may exercise its sole and absolute discretion
to update, amend and/or modify the dividend policy at any time as it deems fit
and necessary.
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INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has adopted its information disclosure policy and related
procedures with regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission. The policy stipulates the
responsibilities of the Group, key disclosure requirements under Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(“SFO”) and Rules 17.10, 17.11 and 17.11A of the GEM Listing Rules, control
measures and reporting procedures of handling confidential information and
monitoring information disclosure. The Group adopts an upward reporting
approach within the Group for identifying and escalating any potential inside
information to the Board. The policy is reviewed annually and all reasonable
measures have to be taken from time to time to ensure proper safeguards
to prevent any breach of disclosure requirements and to maintain strict
confidentiality of information.

BOARD COMMITTEES/FUNCTIONS

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Copies of minutes of all meetings
and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by the Company Secretary,
are circulated to all Board members and the committees are required to report
back to the Board on their decision and recommendations where appropriate.

Remuneration Committee

The members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year, all being
independent non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Professor Chui Tsan Kit (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Yung
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for the
remuneration of all Directors and senior management, and determining
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management (i.e. the model described in the Code Provision B.1.2 () (j) of the
CG Code is adopted); and establishing transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his
associates will participate in deciding his own remuneration.
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has performed the following
major tasks:

o reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure of the Company;

. make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration packages of
non-executive Directors;

o assessed performance, duties and responsibilities of executive Directors
and senior management; and

o approved the terms of the appointment letter of independent non-
executive Directors.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five individuals with highest
emoluments are set out in notes 16 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this report respectively.

In addition, pursuant to the Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the member of the current senior management of the Group
by band for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$) s R (B)
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Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the Year, all being independent
non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (Chairman)

Professor Chui Tsan Kit

Mr. Chan Yung

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei and Professor Chui Tsan Kit possess the appropriate

professional qualifications and/or accounting and financial management
expertise as required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) to monitor the control procedures and the disclosures on the reporting
of the Company’s financial statements, and to review and discuss
with external auditor any significant financial reporting standards and
guidelines applied to the financial statements;

to consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be,
reflected in financial reports and accounts, and give due consideration
to matters raised by the Company’s compliance officer or external
auditor;

() to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to
the work performed by them, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of auditor;

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems; and

(e) to review the Company’s arrangements to enable employees to raise, in
confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the audit plan, financial
results and reports, financial reporting, compliance procedures and
effectiveness of the internal audit function of the Company, report on the
Company’s internal control and risk management review and processes, re-
appointment of external auditor and arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties. During the Year, the Audit Committee
also met the external auditor three times without the presence of the executive
Directors. Besides, there is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the re-appointment of external auditor. During the Year,
the Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2019, the first
quarterly results for the three months ended 31 March 2020, the interim results
for the six months ended 30 June 2020 and the third quarterly results for the
nine months ended 30 September 2020 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.
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Nomination Committee

The members of the Nomination Committee during the Year, all being
independent non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Mr. Chan Yung (Chairman)

Professor Chui Tsan Kit

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition (including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services) of the Board at least annually and recommending
any changes to the Board to implement the Company’s corporate strategy;
identifying suitably qualified individuals to become the Board members
and selecting and making recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships; assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors; making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for the Directors in particular, the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer; and reviewing the Board Diversity Policy (as defined
below) and making disclosure of the policy or a summary of the policy in the
corporate governance report.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take
into account various aspects set out in the Board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) adopted by the Company on 30 August 2013.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity
at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. Selection of
candidates for appointment as a Director will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skill, knowledge and length of
services. The ultimate decision will be based on merits and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee
considers that an appropriate balance of diversity perspective of the Board is
maintained.
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In selecting and evaluating candidates for directorship of the Company, the
Nomination Committee may make reference to the directors’ nomination
procedures which also contains the directors’ nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy and Procedures”) adopted by the Company on 31
December 2015 by considering various factors, including but not limited to (i)
character and integrity, (i) qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Group’s business and
corporate strategy; (i) willingness to devote sufficient time to discharge duties
as a Director; (iv) requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and whether the candidates would be
considered independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out
in the GEM Listing Rules; (v) the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Company for achieving diversity on the Board; and
(vi) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new Director and the biographical information
(or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check of
each candidate (where applicable). The Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board in respect of the appointment of appropriate
candidate for directorship. For any person that is nominated by a shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board shall make recommendation to shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of director at the general meeting.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has performed the following major
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tasks:

o reviewed and made recommendation on the renewal of appointment of Bis EXFrE IR 2R T RIZE 5T &R
Professor Chui Tsan Kit as an independent non-executive Director of the RIRGBBRET AR BUFNTEE EEY
Company, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member FINEZESETFUNBZEEGNEALEEGN
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board BRMER;
based on the nomination process and criteria as set out above;

o reviewed and made recommendation on the renewal of appointment of BiE EXFrERIR 2R T RIZE 5T &R
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei as an independent non-executive Director of the BMEEAEEARNRBBIENTEE - EET
Company, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the EREEEEFEULRTNEEGRIZLEEGR
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board BRMER;
based on the nomination process and criteria as set out above;
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reviewed and made recommendation on the renewal of appointment
of Mr. Chan Yung as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee of the Board
based on the nomination process and criteria as set out above;

reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board under
diversified perspectives and the Board Diversity Policy to ensure the
appropriateness in determining the optimum composition of the Board;

reviewed the Director Nomination Policy and Procedures to ensure
the appropriateness in selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship; and

assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive
Directors.
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Analysis of the Board’s composition as at 31 December 2020 is set out in the
following chart:

No. of Directors
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Corporate Governance Functions EEERMAEE

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in Code Provision
D.3.1 of the CG Code. The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the GEM Listing Rules, and the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as the required standard of dealings (the “Required Standard of Dealings”)
in respect to any dealings in the Company’s securities by the Company’s
Directors and relevant employees. Specific enquiries have been made to all
Directors and they all confirmed they had complied with the Required Standard
of Dealings during the Year. No incident of non-compliance of the Required
Standard of Dealings by the relevant employees was noted by the Company
during the Year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at the Shareholders’ meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. According to the GEM Listing
Rules, all resolutions put forward at the Shareholders’ meetings will be
voted on by poll and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company after each Shareholders’ meeting.

Set out below are the procedures for members to make proposals at general
meeting other than a proposal of a person for election as the Directors.

Procedures for members to make proposals at general meeting
other than a proposal of a person for election as Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

1. The Company holds an annual general meeting every year, and may
hold a general meeting known as a special general meeting whenever
necessary.

2. Member(s) of the Company holding (i) not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights of all members having the right to vote at the general
meeting; or (i) not less than 100 members, can submit a written request
stating the resolution intended to be moved at the annual general
meeting; or a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at a particular general meeting.

3. The written request/statements must be signed by the member(s)
concerned and deposited at the Company’s registered office at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its
head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong (subject to
change from time to time), for the attention of the Company Secretary,
not less than six weeks before the annual general meeting in the case of
a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less than one week
before the general meeting in the case of any other requisition.
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4. If the written request is in order, the Company Secretary will ask the
Board (j) to include the resolution in the agenda for the annual general
meeting; or (i) to circulate the statement for the general meeting,
provided that the member(s) concerned have deposited a sum of
money reasonably determined by the Board sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the resolution and/
or circulating the statement submitted by the member(s) concerned
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered
members. On the contrary, if the requisition is invalid or the member(s)
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the member(s) concerned
will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution
will not be included in the agenda for the annual general meeting; or the
statement will not be circulated for the general meeting.

The following are the procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director.

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

If a member, who is duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting
convened to deal with appointment/election of Director(s), wishes to propose a
person (other than the member himself/herself) for election as a Director at that
meeting, he/she can deposit a written notice at the Company’s head office
and principal place of business in Hong Kong (subject to change from time to
time), for the attention of the Company Secretary.

In order for the Company to inform all members of that proposal, the written
notice must state the full name of the person to be proposed for election as
a Director, his/her biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules, and be signed by the member concerned and that person
indicating his/her willingness to be elected.
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The period for lodgment of such a written notice will commence on the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting and end no later
than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting. If the notice
is received less than fifteen (15) business days prior to that general meeting,
the Company will need to consider adjournment of the general meeting in
order to (i) assess the suitability of the proposed candidate; and (i) publish an
announcement or circulate a supplementary circular in relation to the proposal
to the members at least fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten (10)
business days prior to the general meeting.

Detailed procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director are available on the Company’s website at www.geth.com.hk.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition sent to the Company’s registered office at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong (subject to change from time to time), for the
attention of the Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition. If the Board does not within twenty-one (21) days
from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the said date.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Board of Directors/Company Secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong. For the avoidance of
doubt, the Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly signed
written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. The
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy reflecting
mostly the current practices of the Company for communication with its
Shareholders. Such policy aims at providing the Shareholders and potential
investors with ready and timely access to balanced and understandable
information of the Company. Such policy will be reviewed by the Company
regularly to ensure its effectiveness and compliance with the prevailing
regulatory and other requirements.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining an
ongoing dialogue with the Shareholders as follows:

(i) corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports,
quarterly reports, notices of meetings, listing documents and circulars
are issued in printed form and are available on the Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkex.com.hk and the Company’s website at
www.geth.com.hk in a timely and consistent manner as required by the
GEM Listing Rules;

(ii) corporate information and the memorandum of continuance and Bye-
laws of the Company are made available on the Company’s website;

periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company;

(iv)  annual general meeting and special general meetings provide a forum
for the Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the
Directors and senior management; and

(v) the Company’s share registrar serves the Shareholders in respect
of share registration, dividend payment, change of Shareholders’
particulars and related matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the
Year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong”), aged 30, has been appointed as an
executive Director and the Chairman of the Board since October 2018. He
obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree of Science in Mathematics from the King’s
College London in the United Kingdom in August 2014. After graduation, Mr.
Wong undertook training at Legend Capital Co., Ltd. ZEHE RS ERMHE
fR/AE], a company engaging in venture capital business in the PRC, from
October 2014 to October 2015. He has been the director of Aerophant Capital
Management Co., Ltd. REREAREIEFRRAE], a company engaging in
venture capital business, since June 2018. Mr. Wong has also been a partner
of EHERKREEEAMRSELAT Wuhu Qi Chen Investment Management
Co., Ltd. (the English name is for identification purposes only) (“Wuhu Qi
Chen Investment”) since November 2016. Wuhu Qi Chen Investment is
principally engaged in information technology business. Mr. Wong has been a
director of EPRO Systems (HK) Limited (“EPRO HK”), EPRO Systems (China)
Limited, EPRO Technology Limited and EPRO Limited since July 2017 and
the chief executive officer of EPRO HK since January 2018, all of which were
wholly-owned subsidiaries of CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED (%282 B R AF)
(“CONCORD”) (together as the “CONCORD Group”), which is a subsidiary
of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (15 2= £ EIZE FRAE) (‘Hang
Tai Yue Group”) (stock code: 8081), a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Wong has further been employed as (i) the chief executive
officer of the CONCORD Group; and (i) an executive director of EPRO HK
for a term of three years since May 2019. He has also been appointed as a
director of CONCORD. The CONCORD Group is principally engaged in the
provision of professional |.T. contract and maintenance services.

Mr. Wong is the compliance officer and an authorised representative of the
Company for the purposes of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Wong serves as an
executive Director for an initial term of three years commencing on 29 October
2018 and is subject to retirement from office and re-election in accordance
with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (‘Mr. Lau”), aged 47, has been appointed as (i) an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer since 8 February 2021;
and (i) the company secretary, the financial controller of the Company and
the authorised representative for the purposes of the Companies Ordinance
and the GEM Listing Rules since August 2013. Mr. Lau obtained a Bachelor
of Commerce (Accounting) degree from the Curtin University of Technology
in 1999. He is a member of the CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lau has over 20 years of experience in
finance and accounting. Mr. Lau was the finance manager of the Company
from January 2010 to July 2013. Mr. Lau is principally responsible for, among
others, the overall financial management, financial planning and budgetary
control of the Group and carrying out company secretarial functions of the
Group. He is also responsible for the Group’s business development and daily
management and operations generally. He is also the director of a number of
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Lau serves as an executive Director for a term of three years commencing
on 8 February 2021 and is subject to retirement from office and re-election in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Chui Tsan Kit (‘Professor Chui’), aged 52, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director since April 2015. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Board and a member of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board. Professor
Chui obtained a Postgraduate Diploma in Finance (with Distinction) from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of Business Administration
Degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of Science
Degree in Engineering (Electronic Commerce) from The University of Hong
Kong, a Master of Science Degree in Investment Management from The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, a Master of Laws Degree
in Chinese Business Law from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a
Master of Corporate Governance Degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is also a member of CPA Australia, a certified financial consultant
of The Institute of Financial Consultants, a chartered wealth manager of
the International Academy of Financial Management, an associate of The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators. He is the president of the Chinese Institute of
Registered Financial Analysts. He was an honorary assistant professor of the
Department of Computer Science, Faculty of Engineering at The University
of Hong Kong and an adjunct associate professor of the Department of
Marketing, Faculty of Business Administration at The Chinese University
of Hong Kong. During the Year, he has also been appointed as an adjunct
professor of EMBA Programme, College of Business of The City University of
Hong Kong.

Professor Chui was the director of Investment Services of ICBC International
Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited (stock code: 1398), whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from January 2010 to December
2010. Professor Chui was the head of warrant marketing of Bank of China
(HK) Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited
(stock code: 2388), whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from October 2007 to February 2009. He was also the head
of wealth management of China Galaxy International Financial Holdings
Company Limited and the chief executive officer of China Galaxy International
Wealth Management (Hong Kong) Co., Limited, both being the wholly-owned
subsidiaries of China Galaxy Securities Co., Ltd. (stock code: 6881), whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from October
2012 to May 2014. From July 2005 to September 2007, Professor Chui was
also the associate director of retail operations and the director of investment
education of Sun Hung Kai Financial Limited, a subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai &
Co. Limited (stock code: 86), whose shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director of GR
Properties Limited (stock code: 108), shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, from February 2015 to February 2018.
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Professor Chui is currently the chief strategic officer of Zhongtai Financial
International Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhongtai Securities Co.,
Ltd. (State-owned securities firm in the PRC), and the managing director of
Zhongtai International Wealth Management Ltd.

Professor Chui serves as an independent non-executive Director for a term of
three years commencing on 23 April 2020 and is subject to retirement from
office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

Mr. Chan Yung B8s, Jp (‘Mr. Chan”), aged 51, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since November 2017. He is also the
chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Board and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Board. Mr. Chan
obtained a Bachelor’s Degree from The City University of Hong Kong, a
Post-graduate Diploma of Politics and Public Administration from Tsinghua
University and a Master’s Degree in Law and Public Affairs from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He was appointed as a Justice of Peace by the
HKSAR Government in 2011 and awarded Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2014.

Mr. Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of Wang On
Group Limited (stock code: 1222), whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan is a registered social worker and the chairman of New Territories
Association of Societies. He has also been a director of New Territories
Association of Societies (Community Services) Foundation since 2002. Mr.
Chan has various public appointments including Hong Kong Deputy to the
13th National People’s Congress of the PRC. Mr. Chan is also a vice-chairman
of Democratic Alliance for the Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong. Mr.
Chan serves as an independent non-executive Director for a term of three
years commencing on 24 November 2020 and is subject to retirement from
office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 66, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since November 2017. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board. He
studied accountancy in Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) and is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr.
Cheng is a co-founding director of Cheng & Cheng Limited and had worked as
an assessor for the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department for 12 years. He
has over 35 years of experience in accounting and taxation.

Mr. Cheng is currently an independent non-executive director of Great China
Properties Holdings Limited (stock code: 21) and China Apex Group Limited
(previously known as KEE Holdings Company Limited) (stock code: 2011),
whose shares are both listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and
South China Assets Holdings Limited (stock code: 8155), whose shares are
listed on GEM. Mr. Cheng serves as an independent non-executive Director
for a term of three years commencing on 24 November 2020 and is subject to
retirement from office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 30 July 2001 and
continued in Bermuda with limited liability on 9 January 2014 (Bermuda time).
Its shares have been listed on GEM since 31 December 2001. The head office
and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is at Room
1204-5, 12/F., Centre Point, 181-185 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company while the Group is
principally engaged in (1) research, development and distribution of PC
performance software, anti-virus software, mobile phone applications and
toolbar advertisements; (2) the operation of a business-to-customer online
sales platform, and the business-to-business product trading; (3) securities
investment; and (4) provision of corporate management solutions and I.T.
contract services during the Year. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of
the Company are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
Results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of the Group and the
Company as at 31 December 2020 are set out in the consolidated financial

statements on pages 79 to 206 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend any payment of a final dividend for the Year
(2019: Nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the Year, particulars of
important events affecting the Group during the Year, an analysis of the
Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators, and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business are provided
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group can be found throughout this report, particularly in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Risk Factors” of this report. Also,
the financial risk management of the Company can be found in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements. These discussions form part of this report
of the Directors. In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations
and the Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders are also provided in the
following sub-sections of this report of the Directors.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the segment results and geographical locations of operations
of the Group for the Year is set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DONATIONS

Donations by the Group for charitable and other purposes amounted to
HK$100,000 for the Year (2019: HK$ Nil).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Share Options

Save for the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 15 June 2017,
details of which are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements
and the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report of the Directors,
there was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company during the
Year or subsisting at the end of the Year. The disclosure in the aforementioned
sections of this report forms part of this report of the Directors.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020 are
set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity

on pages 83 to 84 of this report and note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES/DEFICIT

As at 31 December 2020, the deficit of the Company was approximately
HK$459,098,000 (2019: deficit of approximately HK$364,403,000).
PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws,

or the laws of the Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to the Shareholders.

AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO DIRECTOR(S)

Except for the director’s fee payable, there is no amount due to a Director nor
loans from a Director as at 31 December 2020.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s total revenue for the Year attributable to the
Group’s major customers are as follows:

Revenue
- the largest customer: 25.61%

- five largest customers in aggregate: 43.79%

ftfh
FEEFERRFADBERBOFE DML ER
EESSRMENGERBRBRRRSMBREN S
35°

ARk fER Al
R-B-BE+-A=+-B FxADBAOA
459,098,000 7T (Z &2 — N4 : K5 #1i49364,403,00078
7o) e

R - WEXBE & AT LHES
AAB)EAE M B AR BRI E U
Bl AR Ef L

BEBERE

L UNSEPNS EE TR SRk ) NS Pt
160 R 51 55 5 5T AR 15 1073 R BB S EE R B2 o
FEMR S EERIE

REMEEHRSIN RZZ_SF+-A=+—H &
BEAERNESRENEREFTER -

FEERRMER

FERTEERAGAERAFENRKRABD LN
T

WA
- RAEF 12561%

—  HAAREEAG 1 43.79%

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The percentages of Group’s purchases for the Year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers are as follows:

Purchases

- the largest supplier: 19.73%

- five largest suppliers in aggregate: 56.88%

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their close associates
or any Shareholder (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) has any interest in any of the
Group'’s five largest customers or suppliers.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining environmental
sustainability in its daily operations and acts in all material respects in
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to environmental protection
and pollutant control, such as the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group is a service-oriented enterprise
mainly with office operations, therefore its daily business does not generate
material direct emission, industrial pollutants, sewage and hazardous waste.
Nevertheless, the Group pays high attention to environmental protection in
order to become a green corporation.

The Group is committed to environment protection and sustainable
development through promoting and adopting green practices in its
business activities. Initiatives within the Group include, but not limited to,
waste reduction by double-sided printing and separating recyclable paper,
green procurement by avoiding single-use disposable items and using
office equipment with Energy Label issued by the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department, and energy reduction by switching off idle electronic
appliances. The Group will continuously review its green practices to integrate
environmental, health and safety management and compliance considerations
into its operational processes. By promoting green awareness amongst
and maintaining dialogue with employees and business partners, the Group
is determined to promote environmental protection in the daily business
operations and establish a sustainable working environment.
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Pursuant to Rule 17.103 of the GEM Listing Rules, an Environmental, Social
and Governance (‘ESG”) Report of the Company in compliance with the
provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 20 to the GEM
Listing Rules will be published no later than three months after the publication
of this report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate its
employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform with the market
standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture. The Group also
understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with its suppliers
and customers to fulfil its short-term and long-term goals. To maintain its
market competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at delivering
services of constantly high standards of quality to its customers. During the
Year, there was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
suppliers and/or customers.

According to the credit rating of different customers, the Group allows a credit
period of up to 90 days to customers. In extending and/or granting credit
terms to customers, the Group will carefully assess creditworthiness and
financial standing of each individual customer. Management will also closely
monitor all outstanding debts and review their collectability periodically.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Data privacy has become a critical issue for online sales business in the
world. In relation to the Software Business and the B2C Online Sales Platform
and B2B Product Trading Business, the Group has paid close attention to
confidentiality of personal data and privacy of its customers. Under the daily
operation of the Software Business and the B2C Online Sales Platform and
B2B Product Trading Business, it is inevitable to deal with enormous amount
of customers’ and potential customers’ information during the process of
online transactions. It is of significant importance for the Group to handle their
data with care so as to comply with the laws and regulations relating to data
privacy. Employees are required to fully abide by the provisions stipulated
when handling customers’ data and they are prohibited from any unauthorised
copying, dissemination or disclosure of confidential information, including
customers’ identity and transaction records.

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any material non-compliance
with any relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the
Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic is impacting global economic
markets. The Directors continue to monitor the situation closely and
have considered the impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s business and
financial performance. However, the situation is continually evolving and the
consequences are therefore inevitably uncertain.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements and re-presented as appropriate, is set out on
page 207 of this report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, related party transactions in relation to the transactions
with key management personnel who are Directors in note 44(a) to the
consolidated financial statements fell under the definition of “connected
transactions” and they were fully exempt under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

During the Year, the e-Perfect Disposal as disclosed in note 39(a) to the
consolidated financial statements fell under the definition of “connected
transactions” but was de minimis in nature and therefore was exempt from
the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the Year, the Company has not entered into any connected
transactions that are subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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COMPETING INTEREST

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong”), an executive Director and the Chairman
of the Board and the controlling Shareholder, has been a director of each
of EPRO Systems (HK) Limited (“EPRO HK”), EPRO Systems (China)
Limited, EPRO Technology Limited and EPRO Limited since July 2017, the
chief executive officer of EPRO HK since January 2018, all of which were
wholly-owned subsidiaries of CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED (188 ERA =)
(“CONCORD”) (abovementioned subsidiaries together as the “CONCORD
Subsidiaries”, together with CONCORD, the “CONCORD Group”). CONCORD
is a subsidiary of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (& Z=#4 £ B 5%
BIEAT) (“Hang Tai Yue Group”) (stock code: 8081), a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong has been further employed as (i) the
chief executive officer of the CONCORD Group; and (i) an executive director
of EPRO HK for a term of three years since May 2019. He has also been
appointed as a director of CONCORD. As at 31 December 2020, CONCORD
was owned as to 49% by Mr. Wong and as to 51% by Hang Tai Yue Group.
The CONCORD Group is principally engaged in the provision of professional
|.T. contract and maintenance services.

Mr. Zhang Long, a former executive Director and Chief Executive Officer, who
resigned on 8 February 2021, has also been a director of each of EPRO HK,
EPRO Systems (China) Limited, EPRO Technology Limited and EPRO Limited
since 2017.

The CONCORD Subsidiaries may compete with the Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business undertaken by the Group in
Hong Kong and overseas.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors (including any person who
at any time during the Year was a Director), controlling Shareholder, nor their
respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any
interest in a business, apart from the business of the Group, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the Year.

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

BF

POESHREFTIERERRRRFEZLE ((BX
) B2 tHFCRE-EREERERR EBH A
RAB (ZEEHR) ZERS (FE) ARAE %E
MEARABKSERRABDEENESR B-F

EE—)%ET%&%%%’?%E’M?BZ%ﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁii’%@ﬁi’:}%

BREARAE (MBHR) NEBERBAR (LB AS
mERHRENBAR  ERBRRESHEER) -

MEAERBERZERAERART (MERBER > &7
Ttsﬁ 8081 IREtZZFIGEM LT 2 A F)) BB AR - B

T-NELRE BEALCRE—FRER)REE
MEITEEH ; Ri)ZEEBNRITES  Ai=F-
1&73‘8%%1%%1%%%% RZIEZEFE+A=+—

P HEARTRERIESRBERD B HER49% K51 %
/‘OT%’J AEE T ENFREZEDNAR R OO RMEER
7o

AT T E R RTBAARRELE RE S —F 2
)%)\El%m)a:% tERT—BREEIZEEE S

2% (FE) BERAB ZBREARRARAKZERR
QE%EZ§$°

BEANB AR R SERAEBMNEBRBINARNEE
BEBATEBRENRAHNRBEBENRS -

bR EORBEEN RAFERN BEES (BERASE
EREARFESEFZEFAD ERERIARES
ENEEHBA (EERCGEMLEMRA) R EAERE
BERNEIZENSN A EBRBRFNES FERES
BRON shER E I o




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFOHRS

DIRECTORS B2X

The changes of the Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report ~ MANEE RBEARRE A EFEHUT ©
were:

Appointed on Resigned on
PIU T BEZRE FUXT BHARHE

Executive Directors WITES

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (Chairman) BHIFRRE (FE) 29 October 2018 -
22— N\F+EBEZ+A1H -

Mr. Zhang Long (Note) sRAEST A (BED) 4 April 2019 8 February 2021
“F-hFHEAMA “ET—FZANH

Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (Chief BRIt (TRAHER) 8 February 2021 -

Executive Officer) (Note) (BfI5%) “E-—FZANH -

Independent Non-executive Directors EIIJEMITES

Professor Chui Tsan Kit RIBGHIR 23 April 2015 -
—E-hFEAZ+=H -

Mr. Chan Yung P S S 24 November 2017 -
—_E—tHF+—BAZ+@MEA -

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei BRERAR S 24 November 2017 -

TE—tH+-RAITHEA -

Note: Mr. Zhang Long resigned as an executive Director and the Chief Executive izt RAEAERERABRSHENEMEEMBERNTES

Officer with effect from 8 February 2021 due to his other business ETBEH B _E_—F _8/\BEEH -ZIJKE K
commitments which require more of his time. Mr. Lau Siu Cheong was SEZFFANTESETHRES B-E-_—F_AN
appointed as an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer with effect HEEERL o

from 8 February 2021.

In accordance with Bye-law 83(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director  1RIEZABHI A BIAREI 832K (A EEEZHEL
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first  IE#HEER RN ES  EERERESTERAATERE
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject BREAZ > WHRZAE -BESEE MIMEESEEE
to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as  {FLUENEAEE=e A MNES  EETEBELAAT T
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following EREBEAG AL TEERIETHE

annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-

election.
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Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirernent at least once every three years. The retiring Directors shall be eligible
for re-election.

Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, the Directors to retire by
rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors
to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself
for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other
Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between persons
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire
shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

As such, Mr. Wong Jing Shong, Mr. Lau Siu Cheong and Mr. Chan Yung
shall retire and each of them, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to the
Company’s Bye-laws.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 54 to 58 of this report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
of the Group are set out in notes 16 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company confirmed that it has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the existing independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and all existing independent
non-executive Directors are considered to be independent by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws and the GEM Listing Rules.

The emoluments of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors are determined with reference to their respective background,
experience, duties and responsibilities with the Group and the prevailing
market conditions.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OR
ARRANGEMENTS

None of the Directors (including any person who at any time during the Year
was a Director) or an entity connected with a Director is or was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party which was subsisting during or at the end of the Year, nor did
any Director have direct or indirect interests in any assets which have been
acquired or disposed of by or leased to, or are proposed to be acquired or
disposed of by or leased to, any member of the Group at the end of the Year
or at any time during the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

There was () no contract of significance was entered into by and/or
subsisted between the Company or any of its subsidiaries with the controlling
shareholder or any of his/its subsidiaries during the Year; and (i) no contract
of significance in relation to the provision of services by the controlling
shareholder or any of his/its subsidiaries to the Group was entered into and/or
subsisted during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2020, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as
referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares (“Shares”) of the Company
and underlying Shares

EEREEITHRASRE AN EMBENE
ErA (7 ~ 1R D R F R EKE

A ETERF+ R+ —H BERERBERSTH
ABRERBHEEMBEEE (EEREHRPER
BIEEXVER) BB BRI M I AP A RLEHEN
RIRFE 5 G R A E352(F R EFE 2 EsL fAsiiR
BGEM EHRAE5. 46IEPIEFETEENRER
FERBTNE R AT R RmaEtanT

RAERBEEBER (TRRH)) REEROGEE

Approximate
percentage of
the total issued

Number of share capital

Name of Director Capacity Shares interested of the Company
AR HERT

EEHSR 515 BEEENRHEE AT DL

(Note 1) (Note 2)

(fg5E1) (HizE2)

Wong Jing Shong Beneficial owner 333,336,177 (L) 75.0%

HmBEAA

=IEE
Notes:
1. “L” denotes a long position.

2. The total number of 444,448,237 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2020 has
been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors nor
chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report
of the Directors, at no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors and the chief
executive, their respective spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) was approved by the
Shareholders in the annual general meeting of the Company on 13 June 2017
and adopted on 15 June 2017.

The Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to the
eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any entities in
which any member of the Group holds equity interest.

The Directors may subject to the provisions of the Share Option Scheme and
the GEM Listing Rules, invite any person belonging to any of the following
classes of eligible participants, to take up share options to subscribe for
Shares: (a) any eligible employee (whether full time or part time, including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any entity in which any member of the Group holds
any equity interest (“invested entity”); (b) any non-executive Director (including
independent non-executive Directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any invested entity; and (c) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or
consultant to any area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any invested entity.

The Share Option Scheme shall continue in force for a period of 10 years
commencing on its adoption date. The Share Option Scheme will remain in
force until 15 June 2027 and after such date no further options shall be offered
but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted before its expiry or termination but not yet exercised.
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The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted at any time under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the issued Shares on the date of Shareholders’
approval of the Share Option Scheme or the date of Shareholders’ approval
of a refreshment of such limit in a general meeting of the Company (‘General
Scheme Limit”). Previously granted options which may be outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the General Scheme Limit.

The limit on the number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must
not in aggregate exceed 30% of the total Shares in issue from time to time.

Each grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to any Director, chief
executive of the Company or substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) or any of their respective associates must be approved by
independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent non-executive
Director who or whose associate is the proposed grantee). Where any grant of
options to a substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or
an independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective associates,
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant: (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
Shares as at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, such further
grant of options must be approved by the Shareholders in general meeting.

Upon acceptance of an option granted under the Share Option Scheme, the
eligible participant shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the
grant. Such option will be offered for acceptance within such time specified in
the offer which shall not be later than 21 days from the date on which the offer
is made.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group (including exercised and outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.
The exercise price for the options granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall be determined at the discretion of the Board but in any event shall be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must
be a business day; (i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the
Share.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

During the Year and as at the date of this report, there was no outstanding
share option under the Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2020 and at the date of this report, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 44,444,823,
representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of this report.

INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO AND
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS
INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Substantial Shareholders

Save for the interest in Shares held by Mr. Wong Jing Shong, an executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board, as disclosed in the section
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations” in this report of the Directors, the Directors were not aware of
any other person (other than Directors or the chief executive of the Company)
who, as at 31 December 2020, had, or was deemed or taken to have interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to the applicable laws, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/
she may sustain or incur in the execution of his/her duties or otherwise in
relation thereto pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company. The Company has
maintained appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Group. The relevant provisions in the Bye-laws
of the Company and the directors’ and officers’ liability insurance are currently
in force and were in force throughout the Year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits schemes in operation for the Year are
set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHRS

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee of the Board (“Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in accordance with Rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee’s principal duties are
to review and supervise the financial reporting process, risk management
and internal control procedures of the Group. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Cheng
Hong Kei (the chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Yung and
Professor Chui Tsan Kit. The Audit Committee meets at least quarterly each
year. The Company’s financial statements for the Year have been reviewed
and discussed by the Audit Committee before any disclosure and release of
information.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the GEM Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by RSM Hong Kong,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wong Jing Shong
Chairman and Executive Director

19 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GET HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of GET Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
79 to 206, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

‘I EEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We
have determined the “Impairment assessment of goodwill” to be the key audit
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matter and how our audit addressed this key audit matter is set out below:

Key Audit Matter
HEEZER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

R T

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRI R RMIsE22 0

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had goodwill with carrying
value of approximately HK$69,525,000, arising from the acquisition
of Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries (‘Boom Max
Group”) and Wafer Systems (Hong Kong) Limited (“Wafer HK”).
Management has allocated goodwill to individual cash-generating
units (“CGUs”"). Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment on
an annual basis.

AZE_FFE+_HB=+—H> SBEEBERFKFEBoom Max
Internahonal Limited R EKMfB AT (TBoom Max £HE)) K&

24 (BB BRLAD ((HEEH) EE2EEREENAS
wﬁ%pw%m EEEEHBENREENREEHE T (MR
SELET) HEASEETRENH-

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based
on either fair value less cost of disposal or value in use models
which require significant estimates concerning future cash flows,
and associated discount rates and growth rates assumptions,
which are based on management’s expectations of future business
performance and prospects. In respect of the goodwill arising from
Wafer HK, impairment losses of approximately HK$11,300,000 was
made during the year to reduce the CGU’s carrying amount to its
recoverable amount.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB RN R IR EZEE

We used our in-house valuation specialists to assess the integrity
of the models used and the appropriateness of the discount
rates, long-term growth rates, other information, assumptions
and estimates for the impairment assessment determined by
management.

ROABARESEESREEEEMRBRANTELEUKRERE
Rl EEFEEMNERE R RX EMER R &
st BIEETHE

We agreed inputs to the models to supporting evidence including
the latest approved 5-year budgets and considered the accuracy of
management’s previous budgets.

RABERAZERNVEIR A FEEEMERT
ENTFRE UEEEEE AR ER M

BRI

We assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions made by
management in preparing the cash flow forecasts in light of historical
results and the current operating environment.
ENPBETEEREFNEERE WMTHEEETRRRERE
FRARFHN T EZREGENL

We carried out sensitivity analysis to assess the impact of
reasonable possible changes in key assumptions and discount
rates.

BT RS A7 LT B
BB

SR ERIR MNP E S IEEH)
We also considered the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in
respect of the impairment testing of goodwiill.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information
comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other
Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGE WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

77
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Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIUZHEMES
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. Yam Tak Fai, Ronald.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountant
29th Floor, Lee Garden Two,
28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay,

Hong Kong

19 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
RERmR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEEEF+"A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN)
2020 2019
=== “Z2-NF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B EE FHET FET
Revenue KA 8 231,404 369,839
Cost of sales tHE A (159,895) (296,822)
Gross profit EF 71,509 73,017
Other income EMA 9 2,379 634
Other gains and losses, net Hi s K518 0 558 10 (24,086) (60,010)
Impairment losses on trade and other B RAEMEBRRBREENEE
receivables and contract assets BIEEE (9,359) (2,057)
Selling and administrative expenses HEMITHMAZ (68,885) (70,154)
Loss from operations KEES1E (28,442) (58,570)
Finance costs BhEE A AN 12 (98) (103)
Share of profit of an associate FEh—REIE A BaF - 887
Loss before tax FRfR ARS8 13 (28,540) (57,786)
Income tax expense FRiSinBZ 14 (3,870) (3,894)
Loss for the year EEEEIE (32,410) (61,680)
Attributable to: LUFALREN :
Owners of the Company KABEEB A (39,286) (67,200)
Non-controlling interests JEER 6,876 5,520
(32,410) (61,680)
Loss per share (HK cents) SFRESE GBI 18
Basic HA (8.84) (15.12)
Diluted e (8.84) (15.12)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GERnkAMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BETZTEF+_A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2020 2019
ZTITHE —Z—NF
Note HK$’000 HIK$'000
i THET THET
Loss for the year TEERIE (32,410) (61,680)
Other comprehensive income: HthZ2mEas - 19
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: B E# 7 4EE 8w AIES -
Exchange differences on translation TEEINTB AT
of financial statements of overseas MR REENEREE
subsidiaries (74) (6,123)
ltems that will not be reclassified to T EEN P EEIRmIIER &

profit or loss:
Fair value changes of equity instruments at FE@mEMEEmEU A FEEYER

fair value through other comprehensive HRATENAFBEES

income (FVTOCI) 95 (590)
Other comprehensive income TEEHMEEWE  NRRE

for the year, net of tax 21 (5,713)
Total comprehensive income for the year ZFEE R EURELREE (32,389) (67,393)
Attributable to: LT ALRER :

Owners of the Company EA/NEIEZZ= DN (39,265) (72,913)

Non-controlling interests JEPERG RS 6,876 5,520

(32,389) (67,393)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HREMBIR

At 31 December 2020

AZECBETTA=H—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN)
2020 2019
ZETEEF —E-hNE
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET FET
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BERZE 20 1,168 1,591
Right-of-use assets FRESE 21 1,684 1,883
Goodwill [EES 22 69,525 80,825
Intangible assets B EE 23 90,762 82,969
Financial assets at FVTOCI FEREMEEWEURFEE
FERNEREE 25 1,135 1,040
164,274 168,308
Current assets RENEE
Inventories EF& 26 187 394
Trade and other receivables 85 K EAMEWFIE 27 29,891 85,017
Contract assets BNEE 29 - 1,804
Financial assets at fair value through FHEimiBm U A FEEIRN
profit or loss (FVTPL) SRBEE 28 12,310 32,536
Tax recoverable AU [EIFR I8 1,199 1,487
Pledged bank deposits BIEFIRITER 30 630 627
Cash and cash equivalents RERIASEEY 30 118,174 80,723
162,391 202,588
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMELRIE 31 11,674 17,384
Contract liabilities aH8E 29 1,957 3,488
Lease liabilities HEESR& 32 1,214 2,217
Current tax liabilities ERRNESRE 27,364 27,259
42,209 50,348
Net current assets RBEERE 120,182 152,240
Total assets less current liabilities BELAERTBAE 284,456 320,548
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEar® 32 644 446
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBEE 33(a) 14,968 13,526
15,612 13,972
NET ASSETS BEERE 268,844 306,576
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December 2020

HREMBIRRR

AZECBETTA=+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2020 2019
ZETEEF —E-hNE
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET FET

Capital and reserves B K #E

Share capital &N 34 4,444 4,444
Reserves e 36 226,143 265,408
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZSA B #HEE AFE(GER 230,587 269,852
Non-controlling interests JEIER S 38,257 36,724
TOTAL EQUITY g 268,844 306,576

Approved by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2021 and are signed on its
behalf by:

SEFEN B —FZAtABMELANTES
REHE

Wong Jing Shong
HiFE
Director

EE

Lau Siu Cheong
EPI=
Director

EBE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

n\7r A *"-‘-Lﬁ@]%

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-T

WETTIIN)

Attributable to owners of the Company

“EET A= t+—HIEFE

NG PN
Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ Exchange  revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
REEf E30
fk RiveE  BARE ERGE 1 it it o s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn TiEn Thn TiEn Thn TiEn Thn TEn
At denuary 2019 RoE-nE-A-0 AL 1 5102 (15087 (1161029 765 %5 47931
Loss for the year KEEFE - - - - - (67,200) (67,200) 5,520 61,680)
Other comprehensive income Efn2Eks - - - (,129) (590) - (5,719 - (5,719
Totel comprehensive income FEEREY@EE
for the year - - - 6129 B ET200  (2019) 550 (6799
Dividends paic to non-controling BIREERERNRE
interests (note 24) (F5to4) - - - - - - - (5,343 (5343
Reclassification on disposal of RHEEBEM2ERRLA
equity instruments at FYTOC TEENENRATRRE
W8 - - - - 13,340 (13,340) - - -
Changes i equity for the year REEERED - - - - 13340 (13,340) - (5343 (5,349)
At 31 December 2019 and RIZ-nfE
1 January 2020 +ZBA=+-Bk
“E%F-F-f 4444 517,181 992,154 21) 2337) (1,241,569 269,852 36,724 306,576
BRERBRAT 2020F K




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

n\7r A ""-‘-’-ﬁ@]%

BETE B _A=+—HLFE
(L/(/%TE@J/ \)

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRFRE NS
Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ Exchange  revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
%EEf Sk
Rx  RIYEE  BEER  EREE i EibR g %) s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TER TEL TER TEL TEL TEn TET TEL Thn
At 31 December 2019 and at RIZ-nfE
1 January 2020 +ZA=+-Ak
rZ5°ZE-E-H 4,444 517,181 992,154 21 (2.337) (1,041,569 269,852 36,724 306,576
Loss for the year rEEFA - - - - - (39,286) (39,286) 6,876 (32.410)
Other comprehensive income Rl e - - - 74 9% - 21 - 21
Total comprehensive income EEEZANRAE
for the year - - - (74) % (39,286) (39,265) 6,876 (32,389)
Dividends paid to non-controling BIkAFERERNRE
interests (note 24) (zko4) - - - - - - - (5:343) (5,343)
Changes In equty for the year rEERGED - - - - - - - (5,343) (5,349
At 31 December 2020 RIZZEE
+ZA=+-H 4444 517,181 992,154 (95) (2,242 (1,280,855) 230,587 38,257 268,844
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEEEF+"A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN)
2020 2019
ZEIEHF —E-hHFE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM KEEHRER=E
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax FRIREIES 1B (28,540) (57,786)
Adjustments for: KR .
Bank interest income RITFIEUWA (22) 615)
Amortisation iy 27,901 29,419
Depreciation on property, ME- -BERRZEITE
plant and equipment 456 353
Depreciation on right-of-use assets EREEETE 1,682 2,077
Finance costs E=Yn %N 98 103
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets at ZEBEEUAFEETRNER
FVTPL BEMNAFEERE KH) 9,079 (8,462)
Share of profit of an associate FEH—R G E A BRA - (887)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BWB AN E (209) -
Loss on disposal of HEFZBERMUATEETRN
financial assets at FVTPL ETHEENEE 3,942 -
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEIE 11,300 65,254
Impairment loss on intangible assets mEERBRE 425 -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FHESERERE = 716
Impairment loss on trade and B REMERRIBRENEE
other receivables and contract assets HEEE 9,359 2,057
Loss on deemed disposal of an associate BALE —RHBEABEE - 2,129

85 HRERAFMRAT 20205FH




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘7|' = Eﬁﬁ /)ILE%E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2020 2019
—_ETH T
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FHET FHET
Operating profit before working EEECEHANEERT
capital changes 35,471 34,358
Decrease in inventories FERD 207 1,194
Decrease/(increase) in trade B 5 REMBEWTRIERL, (560
and other receivables 45,055 (50,344)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BREERL, (Em) 422 (408)
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets at BB m A FEEYRN
FVTPL SMEERLD 8 7,205 (19,500)
(Decrease)/increase in trade E 5 K E M EAEIE (GRL) G
and other payables (6,330) 7,785
Decrease in contract liabilities =R =R E=vE (1,181) (2,416)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations REXEE (TR Re 80,849 (29,331)
Income tax (paid)/refund (B1) /REIFER (2,035) 1,061
Interest on lease liabilities HESEHNER (98) (103)
Net cash generated from/(used in) KRS (FTA) IREF8
operating activities 78,716 (28,373)
CASH FLOWS FROM KRETHRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BUERITH R 22 615
Expenditure on development projects EEBEMNSH (36,119) (35,031)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank deposits 2 EIFIRITIERN (10 RD (3) 1,010
Net cash outflow arising from HE—EWB AT
disposal of a subsidiary IBE M P48 39(a) (97) -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HESBEME2EWEURAFEE
at FVTOCI BRI SR E EMFTIERIB - 3,809
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEVE BERRZE (1) (1,654)
Net cash used in investing activities S EEFT IR $3E (36,198) (31,251)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEEEF+"A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN)
2020 2019
ZEITF “Z—NF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Mk FHET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM MEEERERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BENIEERERRE (2,672) (5,343)
Principal elements of lease payments HENRNAEED (2,288) (2,013)
Net cash used in financing activities R RSN AR FRE (4,960) (7,356)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN HERREEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Gl 5258 37,558 (66,980)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERAxEesH s 2 (107) 4
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R—B—BANRERAEZEEY
1 JANUARY 80,723 147,699
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R+ZA=+—HNRERK
31 DECEMBER REEEY 118,174 80,723
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND HERREEBMAF

CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents BeKRIREEEY 30 118,174 80,723
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

GENERAL INFORMATION

GET Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on
30 July 2001 and continued in Bermuda on 9 January 2014. The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of
business in Hong Kong is located at Room 1204-05, 12/F., Centre
Point, 181-185 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The principal activity
of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$'000) unless otherwise stated. Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") is the Company’s functional and the Group's
presentation currency.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
and with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

—RRER

BR2ERBRRE (A28 RZ2E2—F+
B=Z1+HEHEHNEAMRLAEREERA
BN IE—MNFEF—ANHEARERE &
AN B FEM S R LA Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermudac & X B ¥
A E B BT S TITE181-1855 P IEAEE K
[E121%1204-05% °

ERABRMNEBHERZMBEMRATE (T
FR1) GEMLET e KRBT BEEH B EER
HNBRAE (ERAABMMEIAER) WEZE
BEHNR S M BIREN T4 -

FRIES AR SRS BREUTET (T
BT BEBMHIR - Bt (T8i)) BERBMIL)
FEE R AEEBITIRENE

B

ZEROVHBRROBREEBEEHANAE (54
BEEAE ) BMHPAAEBEBYHRE AL
(TEBMHBREER) RH -BBYHRELER]
VEEBVBREER (EBYBREER) ;
HEBGHAER (EBGHER) ; kB -ZF
REMBRERTTOMIAES EHRANE
BRBHEXREBRBEG (56225) RIKER
TE o AEERMN T2 G BERIN T XIRE -

REEEZAGHIE SBGHAMQGEEM
ETEREMNAIMIEREBZ M REETE
BUMBREER - BERERZFTERERARN
ESTFRS | A S st i A B T Gt BN EAE
SAHREE ERBINZERAMBREN A
I rE N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEEEF+"A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3. AT RERESTEAMBIREZER
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the Amendments to Reference to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Definition of Material
HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Except as described below, the application of the Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The amendments provide a new definition of material that states
“information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial
information about a specific reporting entity.” The amendments
also clarify that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude
of information, either individually or in combination with other
information, in the context of the financial statements taken as a
whole.

The application of the amendments had no impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

FERRE] RARMETT BB HREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(@

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

The amendments clarify the definition of a business and provide
further guidance on how to determine whether a transaction
represents a business combination. In addition, the amendments
introduce an optional “concentration test” that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is an asset rather than business acquisition, when
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired
is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar
identifiable assets.

The application of the amendments had no impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7, Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform

The amendments modify specific hedge accounting requirements
to allow hedge accounting to continue for affected hedges during
the period of uncertainty before the hedged items or hedging
instruments affected by the current interest rate benchmarks are
amended as a result of the on-going interest rate benchmark
reform.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AR
17 N =

5 o R B 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not applied any new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2020. These new and revised HKFRSs
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-
Related Rent Concessions

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to
the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property,
plant and equipment: proceeds
before intended use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous
contracts — cost of fulfilling a contract

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018 — 2020 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification
of liabilities as current or non-current

Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

1 June 2020

1 January 2021

1 January 2022

1 January 2022

1 January 2022

1 January 2022

1 January 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these amendments and new standards is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact

on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRREE

BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE
CLETAIm)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the
accounting policies below (e.g. certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties.
A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
1717 N = |

R 35 ¥R AR M 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(@)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated exchange reserve relating to that
subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Business combination and goodwil

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at the
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the
acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum
of the consideration transferred in a business combination to
calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is
monitored at the operating segment level. Goodwill impairment
reviews are undertaken annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to
the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other
entities, are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right
contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and
is tested for impairment together with the investment at the end
of each reporting period when there is objective evidence that the
investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Associates (continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that associate and (i) the Group’s
entire carrying amount of that associate (including goodwill) and
any related accumulated exchange reserve. If an investment in an
associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure
the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation
(0 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

(i) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
Statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates when the fair values are determined.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

(i)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements (continued)

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction
dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 years or over the lease term, if shorter

Office equipment 3-5 years
Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years
Computer hardware and software 3-5 years
Motor vehicle 3 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure on development
activities is capitalised as intangible assets if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and the
Group has sufficient resources and the intention to complete
development. The expenditure capitalised includes the costs
of materials, direct labour, and an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs, where applicable. Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it
is incurred.

Customer relationship and computer software are that intangible
assets with finite useful lives and are acquired through business
combination. The intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are stated at cost, being the fair value at the date
of completion of the business combination, less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated
useful lives. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Development costs on personal computer 2-9 years
performance software, anti-virus software
and mobile applications (“Computer and
Mobile Phone Software”)
— Customer relationship 10 years
— Computer software 6 years

The residual values, useful lives and amortisation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets which, for the Group are primarily office equipment and
office premises. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which
it is located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected
to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a
change arising from the reassessment of whether the Group
will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract that is not
accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability
is remeasured based on the revised lease payments and lease
term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
maodification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

U]

Inventories

Inventories represent finished goods which are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL”) in accordance with
the policy set out in note 4(v) and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0]

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Contract for services

Revenue from contracts with customers in the Group’s corporate
management solutions (“CMS services”) and I.T. contract
services business recognised over time when the Group’s
performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

When the outcome of a CMS services contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the cost-to-cost method, i.e.
based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to
the estimated total costs. The directors consider that this input
method is an appropriate measure of the progress towards
complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under
HKFRS 15.

The Group becomes entitled to invoice customers for rendering
of CMS services based on achieving a series of performance-
related milestones. When a particular milestone is reached the
customer is sent an invoice for the related milestone payment.
The Group will previously have recognised a contract asset for
any work performed. Any amount previously recognised as a
contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at
which it is invoiced to the customer. If the milestone payment
exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the cost-to-cost
method then the Group recognises a contract liability for the
difference. There is not considered to be a significant financing
component in contracts with customers as the period between
the recognition of revenue under the cost-to-cost method and
the milestone payment is always less than one year.

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses for early
completion or suffering contractual penalties for late completion
are taken into account in making these estimates, such that
revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated
to exceed the remaining amount of the consideration under the
contract, then a provision is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

1717 N = |

R 35 ¥R AR M 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified under
amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the
investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to accumulated losses. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m)

(n)

(0)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

(0 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(0)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
(i) Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a

residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company

4 F=E

(o)

BEHEER ()

SREBEKRKRATA @
i RETA
BATEATAKRMIOIRABEA®RE

RERBEENGFEDNSN AR
AETHNRATBEZBWARSHRIEA

are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue MBREZEBEITRAAR
costs.
(p) Revenue recognition and other income P) WA RE MUK

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply
to the contract, control of services may be transferred over time
or at a point in time. Control of the services is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

- provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates and enhances an asset that the customer control
as the Group performs; or

- does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRREE

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. IFEE:HEE (@)
(p) Revenue recognition and other income (continued) (P) WARESBREMKE @)

(0 Service income 0 ARFEA

Revenue from CMS services is recognised based
on the stage of completion of the contract in
accordance with the policy set out in note 4())
above. Payment for CMS services is not due from
the customer until the services are complete and
therefore a contract asset is recognised over the
period in which the CMS services are performed
representing the entity’s right to consideration for
the services performed to date.

Services fee income from |.T. contract services
including I.T. maintenance services and system
integration services are recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time when
the related services are rendered. Services are
fixed-price contracts that customer pays the
fixed amount based on a payment schedule. If
the services rendered by the Group exceed the
payment, a contract asset is recognised. If the
payments exceed the services rendered, a contract
liability is recognised.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of computer and mobile
phone software is recognised when the customer
obtains control of the software when a contract is
agreed, the software is delivered and the customer
has the right to use it.

Revenue from the sales of hardware and software
products is recognised when control of the goods
has been transferred which generally coincides
with the time when the goods are delivered and
the title has passed to the customers. A receivable
is recognised by the Group when the goods are
delivered to the customer as this represents the
point in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time
is required before payment is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z_ZEF+_B=1+—HIFE
CLETAIm)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. FEZHEGE (&)
(p) Revenue recognition and other income (continued) (P) WARESBREMKE @)
(i) Toolbar and advertisement income (i)  TABREZKA
Toolbar revenue is derived principally from online toolbar TEBMBAZTERBET ARHEE
private label arrangements with toolbar service providers. BERZEM LR BEN T AR
The Group allows toolbar service providers to launch their HNEEe BRZEHRGHR AEER
toolbar installation application when the Group’s software FTEMRBHEEDEH TARZ
is installed by users. Toolbar revenue is determined based HEEAREX - ERAEHEKALA
on the number of qualified installations and as a share of MNESSIEERERKRRE U
search based income when users use the search engine ERESERMIIESHEEEGR
incorporated in the toolbar to search for goods and R&ER > TERBARESEZE
services and purchase goods and services advertised in HERESEETE-
the search result.
Income from advertisement is derived principally from BEWAFTEREPLES K&
online advertising arrangements. The Group enters EREESHIILESZH ERE
into advertising arrangements with advertisers to allow RAEENETF FAREEEEH
them to put advertisements on particular areas of the BEE N AEEBEFFENES
Group’s electronic platforms, or embedded hyperlinks to FER ABEL - st AN EBE UL
advertisements in the Group’s electronic platforms. For NBEEMs  BESHIRBBES
the hyperlinks embedded in the Group’s websites, the MM EEEAEBR TR
advertisers pay the Group based on number of clicks on
the hyperlinks.
The Group recognises revenue as a performance WABE# O st 2 R EERTE W
obligation at a point in time when the revenue can be Bl AEERBAEEZ FEE
measured reliably and the collectability is reasonably FESRUWLA ©
assured.
(i) Interest income )  FLEWKA

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Interest income on loans are recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or financial assets at FVTOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(P)

(q)

Revenue recognition and other income (continued)

V)

(v

Bank interest income

Bank interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

Employee benefits

)

(i)

Employee leave entitlerents

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged
to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Subsidiaries incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) participate in the retirement schemes
operated by the local authorities for the Group’s
employees in the PRC. Contributions to these schemes
are charged to profit or loss when incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q)

(s)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Employee benefits (continued)
(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the
lease terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the reporting
entity.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to a reporting entity if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

(ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting
entity.

(B)  An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the
following condlitions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the reporting entity
or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the
reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the reporting entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Related parties (continued)

(B)  An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the
following condlitions applies. (continued)

(v  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provide key management personnel
services to the reporting entity or to the parent of
the reporting entity.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit
whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost, trade
receivables and contract assets. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

- significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. IFEE:HEE (@)

(v)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if:

0] The financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(ii) The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(i) Adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade”
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating
of “performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w)

(x)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed

below.

(@

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use (“VIU") and fair value less costs of disposal
(“FVLCD”) of the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated.
The VIU calculation requires the directors to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate present value. Calculation of
fair value using a market approach requires valuation technique
which uses prices and other relevant information generated by
market transactions involving identical and comparable groups
of assets and liabilities or business, a control premium and
marketability discount. The carrying amount of goodwill at the
end of the reporting period was approximately HK$69,525,000
(2019: HK$80,825,000) after an impairment loss of approximately
HK$11,300,000 (2019: HK$65,254,000) was recognised during
the year. Details of the impairment test for CGU containing
goodwill are set out in note 22.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5.
(continued)

(b) Recoverability of intangible assets

During the year, the management has evaluated the impairment
of intangible assets by way of higher of VIU calculation by
reference to the discounted cash flows derived from financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group or FVLCD
with reference to the latest market transactions. If the higher
of the VIU or FVLCD is less than the corresponding carrying

amounts, an impairment loss may be required.

(0 Development costs on Computer and Mobile Phone

Software

During the year, the Group reconsidered the recoverability
of its internally-generated intangible asset arising from
the Group’s Computer and Mobile Phone Software
development. The projects continue to progress in a
very satisfactory manner, and customer reaction has
reconfirmed the Group’s previous estimates of anticipated
revenues from the projects. However, increased
competitor activities have caused the Group to reconsider
its assumptions regarding future market shares and
anticipated margins on these products. Detailed sensitivity
analysis has been carried out and the Group is confident
that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered
in full, even if returns are reduced. This situation will
be closely monitored, and adjustments made in future
periods, if future market activity indicates that such

adjustments are appropriate.

The carrying amount of development costs on Computer
and Mobile Phone Software at 31 December 2020 was
approximately HK$90,762,000 (2019: HK$81,993,000).
No impairment loss (2019: HK$Nil) was recognised during
the year. Details of the impairment review refer to note 23

to the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Recoverability of intangible assets (continued)
(i) Customer relationship and computer software

The management determines whether customer
relationship and computer software are impaired
requires an estimation of the VIU of the CGU to which
the assets are allocated. The VIU calculation requires
the management to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount
rate to calculate the present value. The carrying amount
of customer relationship and computer software at 31
December 2020 were approximately HK$Nil (2019:
HK$976,000) and HK$Nil (2019: HK$NIl) respectively
after impairment loss of approximately HK$425,000
(2019: HK$NIl) was recognised during the year. Details
of the impairment review are provided in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Estimated useful lives of intangible assets

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets reflect
management’s estimation on the Group’s intention to
derive future economic benefits from the intangible assets.
The management performs annual reviews of whether the
assumptions made of useful lives continue to be valid. When
useful lives of intangible assets are different from those previously
estimated, the amortisation charges for future periods will be
adjusted accordingly.

The carrying amount of intangible assets as at 31 December 2020
was approximately HK$90,762,000 (2019: HK$82,969,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(d)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated
at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any.
In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(i) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may
affect the asset value; (i) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the net present value used in the impairment test.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets as at 31 December 2020 were approximately
HK$1,168,000 (2019: HK$1,591,000) and HK$1,684,000 (2019:
HK$1,883,000) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(e)

Fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL

The fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL that are not traded in an active market and securities that
are traded in the Stock Exchange but imposed special conditions
on shareholders are determined by using valuation techniques.
The Group uses its judgement to select and consider information
from a variety of sources and make assumptions that are mainly
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could have
a material effect on the fair value of the financial assets at FVTOCI
and financial assets at FVTPL.

The carrying amount of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL that are not traded in an active market and
securities that are traded in the Stock Exchange but imposed
special conditions on shareholders at the end of the reporting
period were approximately HK$1,135,000 (2019: HK$1,040,000)
and approximately HK$4,731,000 (2019: HK$32,536,000)
respectively.

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss for ECL on trade receivables and contract assets
based on the credit risk of trade receivables and contract assets.
The amount of the impairment loss based on ECL model is
measured as the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. Where
the future cash flows are less than expected, or being revised
downward due to changes in facts and circumstances, a material
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of trade
receivables and contract assets is approximately HK$21,627,000
(net of allowance for doubtful debts of approximately
HK$4,757,000) (2019: HK$65,563,000 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of approximately HK$1,184,000)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(9)

(h)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognised
liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

During the year, approximately HK$3,870,000 (2019:
HK$3,894,000) of income tax was charged to profit or loss
based on the estimated profit.

Revenue and profit recognition

As explained in policy note 4(j), revenue from CMS services
are recognised over time. Such revenue and profit recognition
on uncompleted projects is dependent on estimating the total
outcome of the contract, as well as the work done to date.
Based on the Group’s recent experience and the nature of the
CMS activities undertaken by the Group, the Group has made
estimates of the point at which it considered the work was
sufficiently advanced such that the outcome of the contract can
be reasonably measured. Until this point is reached the related
contract assets disclosed in note 29 do not include profit which
the Group might eventually realise from the work done to date. In
addition, actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may
be higher or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting
period, which would affect the revenue and profit recognised in
future years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

During the year, approximately HK$4,250,000 (2019:
HK$3,828,000) of revenue from CMS services was recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

U]

Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on
the results of the solely payments of principal and interest and
the business model test. The Group determines the business
model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are
managed together to achieve a particular business objective.
This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant
evidence including how the performance of the assets is
evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect
the performance of the assets and how these are managed and
how the managers of the assets are compensated. The Group
monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost or financial
assets at FVTOCI that are derecognised prior to their maturity to
understand the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons
are consistent with the objective of the business for which the
asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous
assessment of whether the business model for which the
remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate
and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a change in
business model and so a prospective change to the classification
of those assets. No such changes were required during the
periods presented.

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities
and United States dollars (“US$”). The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The effect of the strengthened or weakened of Hong Kong dollars
against US$ on the loss after tax is not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AR
17 N =

5 o R B 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Price risk

The Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets
at FVTPL are measured at fair value. Therefore, the Group is
exposed to equity security price risk due to the fluctuation of
share prices of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL. The directors review the exposure to the equity security
price risk on the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL regularly.

If the share prices of the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL increase/decrease by 10% (2019: 10%), the
other comprehensive income and loss after tax for the year
would have been approximately HK$114,000 higher/lower (2019:
HK$104,000 lower/higher) and approximately HK$1,028,000
(2019: HK$2,717,000) lower/higher respectively, arising as a
result of the fair value gain/loss of the financial assets at FVTOCI
and financial assets at FVTPL respectively.

At 31 December 2020, the Group had concentration of equity
security price risk on one (2019: one) of its listed equity securities
investments which is classified as financial assets at FVTOCI
accounted for 100% (2019: 100%) of its financial assets at
FVTOCI and one (2019: one) of its listed investments which is
classified as financial assets at FVTPL accounted for 62% (2019:
88%) of its financial assets at FVTPL as at 31 December 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk
from its operating activities (primarily trade and other receivables)
and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks
and financial institutions and other financial instruments. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, contract assets, pledged bank deposits, cash
and cash equivalents and financial assets at amortised cost.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings.

The credit risk on amounts due from brokers is limited because
the counterparties are well-established securities broker firms in
Hong Kong.

Trade receivables and contract assets

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject
to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating
to customer credit risk management. Individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers and service providers, requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customers’ and service providers’ past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer and service provider
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer and service provider operate. Trade receivables are
due within 90 days from date of bilings negotiated on a case-
by-case basis. Normally the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers. The directors are of the opinion that no
further provision for uncollectible receivables is required in the
consolidated financial statements. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral or guarantee from customers and service
providers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HERABER @)

(c)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

At 31 December 2020, the Group had certain concentration of
credit risk as 30% (2019: 28%) of the trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest debtor.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECL which is
calculated using a provision matrix on individual segment. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer and
services provider segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer and service provider bases. The ECL on trade
receivables and contracts assets are estimated using a simplified
method. The Group has assessed that the ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets based on individually significant
customer and service provider or ageing of customers and
service providers collectively that are not individually significant.
According to different segments of the Group which include the
following:

- Research, development and distribution of computer
and mobile phone software and toolbar advertisement
(“Software Business”)

- Provision of corporate management solutions and I.T.
contract services (“Corporate Management Solutions and
|.T. Contract Services Business”)

- E-commerce which involves the operation of a business-
to-customer online sales platform, and business-to-
business product trading (“B2C Online Sales Platform and
B2B Product Trading Business”)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. MHBEEEIE @)
(c) Credit risk (continued) ) EERRE @
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued) EBSERNIEREAEE (B)
The following table provides information about the Group’s TEREBTEAEERZZZZFE+A
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at 31 =+—HBNEERBULREZEEHREN
December 2020: TERAEERmIENEN
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHARSIEER MREREE RS
% HK$’000 HK$’000
Trade receivables B 5 eI BAL FAET FAERT
At 31 December 2020 IR IERF+ZHB=+—H
Software Business MR
Not past due AR 0% 7,653 -
Less than 1 month past due AR BB —E A 0% 252 -
1 to 3 months past due m—ZE=(EH 0% 1 -
More than 3 months but less AERBE=EAERBB
than 12 months past due +=@EA 0% 3 -
Over 12 months past due AHPBE+ @2 0% 4 -
Corporate Management Solutions and HT¥EERRAERENR
I.T. Contract Services Business FENRGER
Not past due KRR 8.8% 2,293 202
Less than 1 month past due BEAR BB —EA 8.8% 663 58
1 to 3 months past due BiF—=2 =R 8.8% 675 59
More than 3 months but less miABE=E B ELEAE
than 12 months past due +=@A 8.8% 154 14
Over 12 months past due mipBmE+=EA 8.8% 20 2
B2C Online Sales Platform and B2C#d L iH & F &5 KB2B
B2B Product Trading Business EmBRER
(i) GET Development Limited \E2ERERRR (85
(“GET Development”) ER])
— Not past due — KA 5.0% 64 3
— More than 3 months but —AiBE=EA B8
less than 12 months last due B+=EAa 30.8% 14,368 4,419
(i) Sure Team (H.K.) Limited (i) EA (&FH) BRRAT 0% 234 -
— More than 3 months but —AipBE = EA B8
less than 12 months B+—@EA
26,384 4,757
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEEEF+"A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN)
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HMBEREIE (&
(c) Credit risk (continued) ) EERRE @
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued) EBSEKANIBEREAEE (B
The following table provides information about the Group’s TREGRTAERAR-_Z—AFE+ZA
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at 31 =+—HBNEERBULREZEEHREN
December 2019: TERAEERmIENEN
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEEARSIEER HEEREE Ei8iEE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
Trade receivables H 5 eI Bt FAET FAET
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—-NF+BE=+—H
Software Business R
Not past due AR 0% 5,875 -
Less than 1 month past due AR BB —E A 0% 499 -
1 to 3 months past due mE—Z==EA 0% 474 -
More than 3 months but less ABA=EAErBE
than 12 months past due +@A 0% 7 -
Over 12 months past due mHEAEE+ @A 0% 1 -
Corporate Management Solutions and ¥ BB RAERENR
L.T. Contract Services Business REHNRIEER
(i) e-Perfect IT Limited (“e-Perfect IT”) () BERZBRAE
(MERER )
— Not past due —Rm A - - -
— Less than 1 month past due —AE B —E A 5.23% 508 27
-1 to 3 months past due —Ba—E==EA 5.54% 95 5
— More than 3 months but less — A BB =E A B8
than 12 months past due B+_ER 7.85% 5 —
(iiy Wafer HK (i) EEE B
— Not past due — K@i 11.41% 3,045 348
— Less than 1 month past due —AHE A B —1E B 11.41% 660 76
-1 to 3 months past due —B—E==EA 11.42% 315 36
— More than 3 months but less —AipBE=EA B8
than 12 months past due B+_@EA 11.52% 795 92
— Over 12 months past due —AiRBE+ —EA 58.59% 70 41
B2C Online Sales Platform and B2C#d L iH & F &5 KB2B
B2B Product Trading Business EmBRER
Not past due FRiEHR 1.05% 45,258 477
Less than 1 month past due AR BB —EA 1.05% 6,648 70
1 to 3 months past due AP—Z=Z=EA 1.05% 683 7
64,938 1,179
* Represents amount less than HK$1,000 * RS EEDHM,0008 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(©)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the
past two years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which the
historical data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

No loss allowance was provided for contract assets as at 31
December 2020 as no contracts assets recognised in the
consolidated financial statements upon disposal of e-Perfect IT.
As at 31 December 2019, expected loss rate for contract assets
was assessed to be 0.3% and the loss allowance provision for
contract assets was amounted to approximately HK$5,000.

Loss allowances for contract assets are always measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. ECL on these financial assets
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the customers and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions at the reporting date.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include loan receivable
from Jun Yang Energy Holdings Limited (“Jun Yang Energy”),
other receivable from Fragrant River Entertainment Culture
(Holdings) Limited (“Fragrant River”), amounts due from non-
controlling interests of a subsidiary and other miscellaneous
receivables.

For loan receivable from Jun Yang Energy of HK$27,230,000
(note 27(f)) and other receivable from Fragrant River of
HK$20,400,000 (note 27(d)), the management performed
assessment on the recoverability of the outstanding balance
periodically.

The Group had assessed lifetime ECL on the loan receivable
from Jun Yang Energy following the significant deterioration in the
operating results of Jun Yang Energy during the year ended 31
December 2018 which lead to a significant increase in credit risk.
Lifetime expected credit loss allowance for the loan receivable
from Jun Yang Energy of HK$27,230,000 was recognised
in full during the year ended 31 December 2018 as the
management assessed the ECL to be 100%. The management
has reassessed the lifetime ECL of loan from Jun Yang Energy,
no reversal on the allowance for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

Fa M BERRMEE
HE_ZEF+_/B=1+—HIFE
BTN

6. MBRKREE (@

(©

o 4—~e

(nﬁ)

B EUNIERSAEE (&)
FRHEEXNERBEMENERBERL
5o EHZFERFHBEURRINKE
FEE Sb S35 HA R PO RO AR RO ~ B A AR O B
265 B PR WO IR TR HR BT BB AR B A A B AR
MBEEZENESR-

N_E_EF+-A=+—H HRHE
EENEBRTEN G EHFREERN
EHNEE MU EREGNEETIRBERE
H-RE—AhE+_RA=+—0 &4
BENEEBEERLTEA03% 6HE
EMEIBE#E 49 45,0008 7T

BNEENBRERE —ERESNEFER
BREEEENERAE -ZETMEE
NEMEEGRNREAEENBREEE
BREREARFBERETES  TE
PHANEZURHREHRNERKRA
A BEBERRBOETEF LR

AT EIIR M B EE

REBHEH A ENEMERNEECER
WEBERERARAR (MBHAER
B REETIREE (R BIRAHE
(M&711) BYE B UGRRIR ~ B — R MY /R
A B) 2 IR AR R o RRIE e LA TR PR KRR
IHo

W EGERER (MEE27(f) KB E
TR E A R IR (M 5527(d)) 25175
27,230,0007 7t 5220,400, ooof%m B
[& 7 B EUR BB SRR BY P IR B PMEE 1T 5T
fle

BEGERRBE_Z—-N\F+_A
—t-HLEFENGEXERERL &
REERBABRENE  AEEDFGLE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AR
17 N =

5 o R B 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Credit risk (continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

For other receivable from Fragrant River, the Group had assessed
lifetime ECL following the default in payment from Fragrant
River during the year ended 31 December 2018 which lead
to a significant increase in credit risk. The lifetime ECL as at
31 December 2019 and 2018 were assessed based on the
valuation performed by an independent professional valuer using
probability-weighted method. Lifetime expected credit loss
allowance of approximately HK$1,246,000 and HK$12,200,000
were recognised during the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018 respectively in accordance with the valuation report. The
lifetime ECL mainly caused by the increase of estimated legal fee
to be incurred in the AP Acquisition Litigation (as defined in note
43(a)) for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the significant
increase of credit risk for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The management reassessed the lifetime ECL as at 31
December 2020 by reference with the status of the AP
Acquisition Litigation (as defined in note 43(a)), additional lifetime
expected credit loss allowance of approximately HK$3,954,000
was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2020.

For amounts due from non-controlling interests of a subsidiary,
the management makes periodic collective assessments as well
as individual assessment on the recoverability of the receivables.
The Group has assessed that the ECL for these receivables are
not material under the 12-month expected credit losses method.
Thus no loss allowance provision was recognised during the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

G B R M 5T

BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE

CLETAIm)

6. MBRKREE (@

Credit risk (continued) © EERK®
Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) A ST BB M2 M EE ()
For other miscellaneous receivables, the management makes HREMEERKRZIE EEETHEZ
periodic collective assessments as well as an individual L EURIE R A W O] 1 HE 1T RS ST K M
assessment on the recoverability of these receivables. Lifetime G - BEZE_ZEF+HA=+—H
expected credit loss allowance of approximately HK$1,800,000 IFFERREEFEANTAREEREE
(2019: HK$NIil) was recognised for the year ended 31 December #H#9731,800,0008 7T (ZE—LF: TF
2020. JT) ©
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade FRNESREAMERTIEREGNEERIE
and other receivables and contract assets during the year is as BEBRNEBNT !
follows:
Other
receivable
Loan from from Other
Trade Contract Jun Yang Fragrant miscellaneous
receivables assets Energy River receivables Total
EWER REEIN Hithig1g
BRREE ANEE fERER  HttEkHE FEWFRIE szt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT FET FERT FET TERT
At 1 January 2019 RZZ—NE—F—H 461 22 27,230 12,200 - 39,913
Impairment losses recognised for the year FERBEDERESE 806 5 - 1,246 - 2,057
Amounts written off during the year FRMENEEE (22 - - - (110)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 RIE-NE+ZA=+—HE
“Z_ZF-F-H 1,179 5 27,230 13,446 - 41,860
Impairment losses recognised for the year FRRZHRERSE 3,605 - - 3,954 1,800 9,359
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FBAS (5) = = = (32)
At 31 December 2020 \—E-E£+-A=+-H 4,757 - 27,230 17,400 1,800 51,187

The significant increase in gross carrying amount of trade
receivables past due more than 3 months but less than 12
months in B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading
Business on GET Development of approximately HK$14,368,000
resulted in an increase in loss allowance of approximately
HK$4,419,000.

The decrease in expected loss rate in Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business was due to the
settlement of long outstanding receivables during the year.

B HEEBCH LIHEF &5 MB2BERE
AEBZAPBBEIEAEBLM12@A M
JE UK BR 30 48 2B K I8 45 0 4914,368,00078
7T BB B N494,419,00058 7T ©

CEEERRAEREARRSORBEE
BR AR IR R TR I RREEU
MIEERAFEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6.

137

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

(e)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective and policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

6. MBEAKEE (&)
A FEEEEAR
75 [ 159 B 1R R BUSR 28 T R B TR B R T

HRBHREFE UWERERENRSH
wimeERk RIS ETERE

FEBZIFTEEREBRESORITR

flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities is as WEREZHBEITAOT :
follows:
Less than Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2and 5 years 5years Total
DE 1526 256 HBiBsE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TET TET FET
At 31 December 2020 RZE2ZEE+ZA=+—H
Trade and other payables B3 REMENTIE 11,674 - - - 11,674
Lease liabilities HE&E 1,317 645 19 - 1,981
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+°ZA=+-H
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE 17,384 - - - 17,384
Lease liabilities HE&E 2,217 413 33 - 2,663

Interest rate risk

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s significant interest-
bearing assets and liabilities are bank deposits.

The Group’s interest income from bank deposits is dependent
on changes in market interest rates and will not have significant
adverse impact on the Group’s financial position.

The Group’s pledged bank deposits are at fixed interest rates
and therefore are subject to fair values interest rate risk.

€ FERRER

RoB-EER-F—AE+A=+—
B FEENEAN QHERSERRT
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FEBMBRTERFSWABRFHHH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

® Categories of financial instruments at 31 December

RE M HRREE

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

6. HMBEREIE (&
H RIBIZHEF+"-A=+—HNEM

2020 TEFER
2020 2019
—EB_EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FET
Financial assets: ERIEE -
Financial assets at FVTPL: HERiBm A FEEYEN
THBE !
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL BEIEBBRUATEEFE
— Held for trading —FEEE 12,310 32,536
Financial assets as FVTOCI: H@EMEEmBEUAAFEET]
IRNEREE
Equity instruments BATER 1,135 1,040
Financial assets measured at amortised cost &SR At EM SR B E 146,793 153,713
Financial liabilities: THBaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost B A ENEMERE 11,674 17,384
(9) Fair values (9 AFEE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and

financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair values.

FERGREHVBERNEATEMEERE
REENRAERAZSBENAFEEN
%O
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three
levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:

Level 2 inputs:

Level 3 inputs:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly.

unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out

of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in

circumstances that caused the transfer.

BE_Z_ZEF+_B=1+—HIFE

GBI
7. ATREEHE

ANTBERTHE2REZBANRFAERBEAFR
ZHPHEBEERIWRSEERERFSIHNER-
TXBEERAATEBESRFIENLTEE B
EEtBRATEENKER ZRABBRILS A=
(EELEIN
E—RBARE: FTEBRURFEHHEUE
HRBEENEENEED
HRE CRICHEE) -
BTHRBARE . EHEAEENEESI&ER
FREBARE MIEFE—
RFTEIERIRE
BZMBARE . BEAEENTARER
N -6

AEBNBRSEDHEEREENSEFRET
BERRVER = @R B A KRB LB

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 (@ MR+ZA=+—HHNATEEZERIKE :
December:
Fair value measurement using: Total
ATEEFEFRABR : Hast
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2020
B— BT Er S — k-
Description HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
3 FHET FHET FHET FHT
Recurring fair value measurements: EEMAFEEHE :
Financial assets THMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BEmiBm AT EE
IR B R E E
Listed equity securities A ES 7,579 - 4,731 12,310
Financial assets at FVTOCI EmEMEmEmE
MRATFBETIERN
ERMEE
Listed equity securities EHRAES - - 1,135 1,135
Total st 7,579 - 5,866 13,445
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRREE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(@

BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE

CLETAIm)

7. RFEESE®@

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 @ MB+BA=+—HHNAFEEZFRE
December: (continued) B.@
Fair value measurement using: Total
N EESEFMARER fast
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2019
F—1& S F=Hk T—hEF
Description HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
H#1B FHET FHET FET FHET
Recurring fair value measurements: EEMAEEEHE :
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BEEiBm U AT EE
BRI B R B
Listed equity securities EmRRAES - - 32,186 32,186
Unlisted equity securities JE LM R ARE - - 350 350
Financial assets at FVTOCI FBHEMEE W E
AT EETIRN
EHMEE
Listed equity securities EEAEE - - 1,040 1,040
Total st - - 33,576 33,576

During the year ended 31 December 2020, financial assets
at FVTPL amounting to approximately HK$23,580,000 were
transferred from measurement based on Level 3 to Level 1 as a
result of the expiry of the lock up period.

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

REEZ_SEEF+"A=+—HIHF
£ » #923,580,0008 7T 2 B BB T LUIAF
BEVENCREERNMTCHERBE=
BATEENEERES R

RBEZE-NAF+_RB=+—HLF
B Zh=hz B EEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEEEF+"A=+—HIFE

141

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN)
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7. AT EEE @@
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based (b) BEF=ZRZATFEESNENEEY
on Level 3: BR ©
2020
ZE%E

Financial assets

at FVTOCI Financial assets at FVTPL
ERHM2EKE
WA EETRN
EHEE ERERNAATEEFRNEMEE
Listed Listed Unlisted
equity equity equity
securities securities securities
;i) i JEETH
7k A% S
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TER TER TET
At 1 January 2020 okt = B 1,040 32,186 350
Total gains/(losses) recognised RI5EE RN
W/ (18 EE
- in profit or loss # —$8z - (3,875) (350)
- in other comprehensive income -2t 2EkE 95 - -
Transfer out of Level 3 BE=REE - (23,580) -
At 31 December 2020 RIZZIZHF
+ZR=1+-A 1,135 4,731 -
® Included in other gains and losses ® SFAE MR RS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based

4= AR
17 N =

Pt 5 ok M 5

BETE B _A=+—HLFE
(L/(/%TE@J/ \)

7. ATEEE @
b) REF=RBATEEFENEEH

on Level 3: (continued) iR (@
2019
—E-NE
Financial assets Financial assets
at FVTOCI at FVTPL
EREM2ENRE byicki-Frd
MATEETERMN MATEETIERE
ERMEE ERMEE
Listed equity Listed equity Unlisted equity
securities securities securities
L i L
I B S B %5 B A zE 5
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FiER FERT
At 1 January 2019 RZZ—h&F—F—H 1,176 4,224 -
Total gains/(losses) recognised R T51EE#RH
s/ (B518) 4%
—in profit or loss —BE" - 8,462 -
- in other comprehensive income —-Hit2ElE (136) - -
Reclassification of remaining interest BHNE—EHEATN
from investment in an associate to REZH TERE R BB
financial assets at FVTPL UATEEFRNEHEE - - 350
Purchases Ve - 19,500 -
At 31 December 2019 RIE—NEF
+-B=+—H 1,040 32,186 350

) Included in other gains and losses

The total gains/(losses) recognised in other comprehensive

income are presented in fair value change of equity instruments

at FVTOCI in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.

The total gains/(losses) recognised in profit or loss including those
for assets held at end of reporting period are presented in other
gains and losses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

& STAE MU R A5 1R

REMEEWREERNE (518 258
RizGiEmAEMEER@RPEBEM

EENEURAFEEIRNRETARF

EEREH25-
RIBEERH IR (518) A3 aIEN ik
SHRMMFEE  RNEGEGEmRPEMU
mESIEES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AR
17 N =

5 o R B 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2020:

The Group’s management is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements.
The management reviews the fair value measurements at least
once a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised
professional qualifications and recent experience to perform the

valuations.

Key unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements
are mainly:

- risk free rate (estimated based on zero coupon rate)

- yield spread (estimated based on certain comparable
bonds)

- expected volatility (estimated based on historical volatility)

- dividend vyield (estimated based on no dividends will be
paid in the near future)

- present value of expected future share price (estimated
based on dividend yield is zero)

- probability-weighted profit

- discount factor
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ATEESE @
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA %5 SRR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(c)

= A
1717 N = |

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) O8awiny
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7. AT EEE @@
Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (o) WEXRERNR_Z_ZTF+_"8
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value =+—HFR&ERR EHER A
measurements at 31 December 2020: (continued) ANFEEFEFMREAZE . (@
Level 3 fair value measurements B FIBEE
Effect on fair
value for increase Carrying amount Fair value
Description Valuation technique Inputs Range  of inputs 2020 2020
BAREEN REfE ATEE
i R BARE g#E HATEENYE ZZCEf ZE-ZE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER
Financial assets at FVTPL
BRBHEUATEEIR
NemBEE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.057-HK$0.167  Increase 4731 4,731
Return on relevant (10.31%)-8.25% Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 10%-45%  Decrease
- FRAHES Bk KB 0.05787-0.167ET M
BT BEHER (10.31%)-8.25% &M
MEMTRE 10%-45% AL
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BREMZARENAT
BREIENEREE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1,135 1,135
Return on relevant (10.31%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 45%  Decrease
— FRAHS (e BB 01678 &M
TEEmBEHER (10.31%)  38m
MEMATRE 45% AL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7. ATEEHE B
(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (0 HWEXAERR-ZZZHF+ZAH

and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2020: (continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)

=+—HBFARMERR GERTR
ATHEESEFMABARE (@

FEZRATIEEE (B

Effect on fair
value for increase Carrying amount Fair value
Description Valuation technique Inputs Range  of inputs 2019 2019
BABEEM REE ATEE
i R BARE #E HATEENYE _E-NE “2NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TER
Financial assets at FVTPL
BRBHEUATEEIR
NemBEE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.057-HK$0.167  Increase 3,886 3,886
Return on relevant (13.02%) - (32.99%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 10%-40%  Decrease
— FRAHES e (EE KB 00578701675 M
BT BEHER (13.02%) - (32.99%) 1210
MEMTRE 10%-40% AL
- Listed equity securities ~ Adjusted fair value  Liquidity discount 9.56%  Decrease 28,300 28,300
method
— FRAHS CEZATEREZ  RILTRE 9.56% AL
- Unlisted equity (Guideline transaction - Recent transaction price HK$28.12  Increase 350 350
securities method per share
—JELmRAES HERAE FHRERIAE 8128w &M
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BREMZARENAT
BREIRNEREE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.077  Increase 1,040 1,040
Return on relevant (382.99%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 40%  Decrease
— FfkRsE HeH(EEY BB 00778 B
TEEmBEEER (32.99%) 810
MEMTRE 0% B

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

8.

REVENUE

(@

Disaggregation of revenue

BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE
CLETAIm)

8. WA

@

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by

service line for the year is as follows:

LN 1bs)

FRRRBEIDNZRENRANT :

2020 2019
ZEIEHF —E-AF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers & B FEIRE D) F159F
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HBEANTRESHKRA
Sales of computer and mobile phone HE B R E R LU
software and toolbar advertisement TERES 82,252 73,994
Provision of corporate management REPEEIERMAFTER
solutions and I.T. contract services BRI S0RBER
business 27,892 46,347
E-commerce which involves the operation TrEHHEERLHEEFTER
of a business-to-customer online sales TEHPEERESEEN
platform, and the business-to-business BFEH
product trading 121,260 249,498
231,404 369,839
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEEEF+"A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN)
8. REVENUE (continued) 8. WA @
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (continued) @ WARD @
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and AEBBUUATFEERGRMIBE K —
services over time and at a point in time in the following major BREEREEFEREEEE R RRTES
product lines and geographical regions: WA

Corporate Management Solutions and ~ B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B

Software Business 1T, Contract Services Business Product Trading Business Total
HE
For the year ended +ZB=+-H TEERRARER BCELHETAR
31 December Jlz:3:4 RiER ERGECHL GRS BBEREAER it
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Z%2%f% “Z-NfF k-3 -y k2 ZEIEE “Z-nE ZECIE 2N
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#n TEn TiEn TER TR TEn TER TEn
Primary geographical markets ~ +EHE 17
-Hong Kong &4 1,276 840 27,894 43,065 94,734 218,130 123,904 262,085
- United States -2 21,980 22,084 - - 2217 - 30,197 20,084
- Mainland China ~HERH 476 543 - - 18,004 26,506 18,480 26,049
- Japan -B& 6,672 7,254 - - 248 - 6,920 7,54
- United Kingdom -3 4531 3584 - - - - 4531 3584
- Germany -Eg 3,996 4180 - - - - 3,996 4,180
- Russia -G25 3,033 3150 - 3,351 - - 3,033 6,501
- Canada RSN 2574 2,306 - - - - 2,574 2,306
- Australla —EH 2,487 1,902 - - - - 2487 1,902
- Others -Eth 29,221 28,151 - - 6,057 5,862 35,278 34013
Segment revenue HEBA 82,252 73,9% 27,894 46,416 121,260 249498 231,406 369,908
Intersegment revenue HHERA
- Hong Kong -B% - - @ (69 - - @ (69
Revenue from external customers  SMNREE A 82,252 73994 27,892 46,347 121,260 249498 231,404 369,839
Timing of revenue recognition W AR
Products and senvces transfered  ERRRERE-FH
atapoint in time HEEER 82,252 73,9% 1,226 23,280 121,260 249498 210,738 346,772
Products and senvces transfered  ERRRER—HEH
over time MEEEE - - 20,666 28,067 - - 20,666 23,067
Total &t 82,252 73,99 27,892 46,347 121,260 249,498 231,404 369,839
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

8. REVENUE (continued)

(b)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December
2020 and the expected timing of recognising revenue as follows:

RE M HRREE

BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE

WETTHIT)
8. WA (®
b) PDEERXFEGOIBRBNEENRS

B

A CECEE+ A=+ —HOEREERG
BHEME RETHARDRET NRXZE
R FBE M A RSB REIUNE

Sale of goods L.T. contract services CMS services contracts
HEGR BB HRE CEERRAARRESH
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
ZZIEE  T-hE IZBIZE "T-HhE ZEIZE CT-NE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TER TER FTERT FET
Within one year R—FER 225 244 1,692 2,998 - 3,032
More than one year but not more BE—FErBERE
than two years - - 40 244 - -
More than two years BEmE - - - 2 = -
225 244 1,732 3,244 - 3,032
9. OTHER INCOME 9. HfthltA
2020 2019
=t
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Bank interest income IRITFI B WA 22 615
Government grants (note (i) B EBh (BEEG) 2,207 -
Sundry income FIBUA 150 19
2,379 634
note (i): During the year, the Group successfully applied for funding BEEEl): MAFE > AEEERIIEEAFIITHRER

support from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-
epidemic Fund, set up by the Hong Kong SAR Government.
The purpose of the funding is to provide financial support to
enterprises to retain their employees who would otherwise
be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group
is required not to make redundancies during the subsidy
period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the
employees.

FRUBENEES T EHRMESTB
FEY MBS EEEEMEERHEM B
& LRBEEGRENES - RIFR R
o AEENHMABNSHE  WARRA
BREESARSNEETE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

11.

BE_Z_ZEF+_B=1+—HIFE

CLETAIm)

10. Hftikss K E51E > /348

2020 2019
ZECZE —Z2—NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Foreign exchange gains/(losses), net ERWm, (§518) > F48 451 (373)
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets at FVTPL ~ BEiBi8 & A FBEY RN
BEENTEE (BB W (9,079) 8,462
Loss on disposals of financial assets at FVTPL HEZBERUATFEETRN
SMEENFE (3,942) -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 39(a)) HE—MBWB AR W
(B45E39(a)) 209 -
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 22) e REEE (5E22) (11,300) (65,254)
Impairment loss on intangible assets (note 23) mLEE BRI (f5E23) (425) -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets (note 21) FREEERERE (:F21) - (716)
Loss on deemed disposal of an associate BIEHE—RBBEABEE
(note 39(d)) (Pt ££39(d) - (2,129)
(24,086) (60,010)
SEGMENT REPORTING 11. PDEPERSE

BRERBRAT 2020F

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines and geographical locations. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has four (2019: four) reportable segments.

— Software Business

- Securities Investment (“Securities Investment Business”)

- Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services
Business

- B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s other operating
segment represented the provision of online shopping business, which
did not meet any of the quantitative thresholds for determining as
reportable segments. The information of this other operating segment
was included in the “Others” column in the Group’s reportable
segments for the year ended 31 December 2019.

FEBRMPIEEAES HEFERMEER
GHEBMA - cERAEHERSHE (TZT—A
F I OME) IR ARERDEERKHERIREE
PMmErEERSRSRTHEEASNEREER
B ERH—E-

-  BHEB

—  BEKRE (BEFREER)

— GEERERADEREABREGOREE
%

—  B2CHE LiHETF A MB2BEME ZEH

HE_ZT-NE+HA=+—HIEFE>
FEBRHMEEDHISREB/LBYE
B REEAREIBRAMER L EE
AEMEBEREER-BE_T—NF
TTE=t—BLEEE LHMEEDS
NWER ST ALERRE DM TEM —
1o




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(@

Segment results, assets and liabilities

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

— Segment profit/(loss) represented profit earned by/
(loss from) each segment without allocation of central
administration costs, finance costs and income tax
expense and do not include share of profit of an associate.

- Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets
and current assets with the exception of other corporate
assets.

- Segment liabilities include all current and non-
current liabilities with the exception of accrued central
administration costs and liabilities.

Inter-segment revenue is priced with reference to prices charged
to external customers for similar orders.

RE M HRREE

BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE

CLETAIm)

1. FEERS (8

@

DEFEE-BEMER

EE B2 B HBED R A M BN
AR E AR -

BEEDBRRRDED B ZENER :

-  FRIoEEF (B8 HELE
DB RITE A A~ BRE AL A K PR
BT 25885 8 FT B EUE
A/ (HREER) T aERE—M

HrE AT EF]

- DHEEQEMAALEE BT
EERMRPDEE EFABEAMDE

- DEEEEEmMAERSAIERSE
B ET BB P RITEAAEK
afe

DEEWRATISEA LT BRI REZ R
WERBIERREE

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

150



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEEEF+"A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (O8wainy
11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 1. DEHRS @)
(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (@ PHEE - BEREE B
An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets REDHEAERNREDHEE - BE
and liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: REESHUT
Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutionsand  Sales Platform
Securities L.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
TEER B2C L
BARRR HETAR
EfHERH BBER
REEE  ESREER PR Ba%% @it
2020 2020 2020 2020 2020
ZECEE ZECEE k- S —Z°%% k- St
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
Revenue KA
Revenue from external customers SHREBWRA 82,252 - 27,892 121,260 231,404
Inter-segment revenue AEBRA - - 2 - 2
Reportable segment revenue REDTUA 82,252 - 27,894 121,260 231,406
Reconciliations: B
Elimination of intersegment revenue ESE=Ranili N @
Revenue WA 231,404
Results 25
Segment results e | 23,347 (12,775) (17,907) (5,015) (12,350)
Reconciliation: B
Interest income FIEKA 2
Other income =Ll ON 525
Unallocated expenses FoERE
— Gain on disposal of a subsidlary -HE—BIBARKE 209
~ Impairment loss on other receivables -EtERSERESE (3,954)
- Corporate expenses ~hERT (12,894)
Loss from operations Fd=] g (28,442)
Finance costs HERA (98)
Loss before tax BRAAIES (28,540)
Income tax expense FrigtimS (3,870)
Loss for the year TFEHR (32,410)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEETEF+"A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 11. DEH®SE @)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (a DHEE BEKREEEB)

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets
and liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: (continued)

BENEHAERANREDMEE BE
Ra@ERmamT - (@)

Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutionsand  Sales Platform
Securities 1.T.Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
hEER B2CH b
BARER HEFAR
Eflkas B2BER
REEE  ESREER R PR st
2020 2020 2020 2020 2020
“E-ZE “E-ZE —E-ZE —E-ZE “E-ZE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TER TER TER
Assets BE
Segment assets AHEE 196,616 15,664 16,797 79,969 300,046
Reconciliation: B
Unallocated assets FNEEE
~ Property, plant and equipment S EN e 31
- Right-of-use assets -FREEE 411
- Trade and other receivables -BARAMEKTE 3,686
- Tax recoverable —HREIE 57
- Cash and cash equivalents -BeRREEEY 13,434
Total assets BERE 326,665
Liabilities aff
Segment liabilities NHEE 46,668 60 8,028 1,557 56,313
Reconciliation: B
Unallocated fiabilties FAEREE
- Trade and other payables -BEREMEATE 1,076
- Lease liabilties -HEAR 432
Total liabiltes BfEAE 57,821
Other segment information: HthAEER
Additions to property, plant and equipment RENE BERRE - - (1) = (1)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESY (27,350) - (551) - (27,901)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment NE BERRENE - - (343) (57) (400)
Additions to right-of-use assets REFAREE - - (1,592) - (1,592)
Depreciation on right-of-use assets CRESENE - - (874) - (674)
Development costs capitalised RERAERE (36,119) - - - (36,119)
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL FRBHUATEETRN
SHEENATEESE - (8,729) - - (8,729)
Impairment loss on goodwill EERESE - - (11,300) - (11,300)
Impairment loss on other receivables HEfEWERESE - - (1,800) = (1,800)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-BNEATNE - - 209 - 209
Impairment loss on intangible assets ENEEABEE - - (425) - (425)
Legal and professional fees PRESEES -1 (1,007) (15) (1) (105) (1,218)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets
and liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: (continued)

BETZEFT_RA=-+—HILEFE

CLETAIm)

1. DEERS (@)
@ NEWER - BERER @B

BEDE

Ra@ERmaT - (@)

PHAEENREDMEE EE

Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutions and Sales Platform
Securities |.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Others Total
hEER B2CK I
BARRR HELAR
BARRAY BoBE®R
LR ESREEER RHER EDES Hify fast
2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019
“2-hE “2-hE —B-hE —BhE ke 3 —BhE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TER TER TER TER TER
Revenue KA
Revenue from external customers MAZRIA 73,994 - 46,347 249,498 - 369,839
Inter-segment revenue par- A UN - - 69 - - 69
Reportable segment revenue REDBBA 73,994 - 46,416 249,498 - 369,908
Reconciliations: HiR:
Elimination of intersegment revenue ESE=panili [ U (69)
Revenue WA 369,839
Results E35
Segment results NEEE (46,264) 8,381 (6,794) 4107 4 (40,570)
Reconciliation: B
Interest income FBBA 615
Unallocated expenses FOERZ
- Loss on deemed disposal of an associate — 1R {EHE—FHEATSE (2,129)
~ Impairment loss on other receivables -EfENERERE (1246)
- Foreign exchange losses, net -BRER 38 (244)
- Corporate expenses —h¥EY (14,996)
Loss from operations =l (68,570)
Finance costs BERA (103)
Share of profit of an associate fE(E— RS AR RR 887
Loss before tax iRRIER (67,786)
Income tax expense FrisiBEx (3.894)
Loss for the year TEERR (61,680)
# Represents amount less than HK$1,000. # RFEEEED 1,000 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRREE

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11.

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(@)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

CLETAIm)

1. DEERS (@)
@ NEWER - BERER @B

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets HENHEREFNREDIPEE - BE
and liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: (continued) y-a=K=paYis N C=)
Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutions and ~ Sales Platform
Securities |.T.Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Others Total
hEREE B2C#z -
BAEER HETER
EGEREa=y ) B2BE S
xR BHEREEH ARFS 2 BREK Hith “st
2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019
—Z-AFE ZZ-AF IZZ-AfE IZZ-AfF IZ-AfF IZT-AF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FHT FHT FHT
Assets BE
Segment assets DEEE 182,281 33,245 38,010 92,630 - 346,166
Reconciliation: HER:
Unallocated assets KREEE
~ Property, plant and equipment  —#1% BB K& 86
- Right-of-use assets —fERREE 1,219
- Trade and other receivables —B 5 REMERIE 7,984
— Cash and cash equivalents —-ReERREEEM 15,441
Total assets HERE 370,896
Liabilities &
Segment liabilities DEEE 41,346 71 11,637 8,550 - 61,604
Reconciliation: HER
Unallocated liabilities Ea A=K
— Trade and other payables —B S REMENTIE 1,456
- Lease liabilties —-HEaE 1,260
Total liabilities BEeE 64,320
Other segment information: ~ Hfth3 & :
Additions to property, REME -BEREE
plant and equipment - - (1,016) (6562) (76) (1,654)
Amortisation of intangible assets ~ HE L & E 5 (28,061) - (1,358) - - (29,419)
Depreciation on property, ME BERREITE
plant and equipment - - (250) (14) (89) (353)
Additions to right-of-use assets ~ REFERAEEZEE - - - - (1,658) (1,658)
Depreciation on right-of-use FREEERTE
assets - - (1,638) - (439) (2,077)
Development costs capitalised BEMAE A (35,031) - - - - (35,031)
Fair value gain on financial assets BBz U AFEE
at FVTPL FERNEREEN
NFEERT - 8,462 - - - 8,462
Impairment loss on goodwill BERERE (65,000) - (254) - - (65,254)
Impairment loss on HiEW R IERERE
other receivables - - - - (1,246) (1,246)
Impairment loss on right-of-use  EAREE EREEE
assets - - (716) - - (716)
Loss on deemed disposal of RAHE—H
an associate & ERE - - - - (2,129) (2,129)
Legal and professional fees FREREXER (1,068) (16) (31) (17) (3,801) (4,933)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
1717 N = |

R 35 ¥R AR M 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN)
11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 1. SEI}/E @)
(b) Geographical information b)) HEHR
The following table sets out information about the geographical THRHEFIBREANAEEBRBINAZT LU
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers AR ()AEMBIY - BEREE - FA
and (i) the Group’s property, plant and equipment, right-of- BEE - BEEERBE ((BFEFERBE
use assets, intangible assets and goodwill (“specified non- El) NHEER - WWANMEBUE D UR
current assets”). The geographical location of revenue is based PRUERIEEBRFBNUERBREHTE
on the location of customers and location of service rendered. ERBEENMIEBEUERRIEEESTRMN
The geographical location of the specified non-current assets BUE WBYE BMERRERERAES
is based on the physical location of the asset, in the case of B) RENREBNUE WBREEER
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets and the EE) EE-
location of the operation to which they are allocated, in the case
of intangible assets and goodwiill.
Revenues from Specified
external customers non-current assets
SREFRWA BEERBEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZEIRE "IT-hF ZEIRE CT—AF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FAET
Hong Kong & 123,902 261,966 162,707 167,268
United States ESSE| 30,197 22,084 - -
Mainland China FREIP 18,480 26,049 524 -
Japan B 6,920 7,254 - -
United Kingdom HE 4,537 3,584 - -
Germany = 3,996 4,180 - -
Russia AL 3,033 6,501 - -
Canada mEx 2,574 2,306 - -
Australia M 2,487 1,902 - -
Others Hith 35,278 34,013 - -
231,404 369,839 163,231 167,268
(c) Information about major customers 0 BERFrERRNER
Revenue from customers of corresponding years contributing MHEFEMAARERMBEI0%U EHNEF U
over 10% of the Group’s revenue are as follows: AW
2020 2019
—ETH —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
B2C Online Sales Platform and B2C/A FHETF &R
B2B Product Trading Business B2BEME ZEH
Customer a EPa 59,258 -
Customer b EFb 24,993 164,628
B ERBMRAT 2020F 3R




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEETEF+"A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
12. FINANCE COSTS 12, BERE
2020 2019
—ETHF “Z—-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interest expenses on lease liabilities (note 21) HEaEzF ez (ME21) 98 103
13. LOSS BEFORE TAX 13. [RIRAIESIE
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting) the BRIRAIEIEENGR S GIA) AT -
following:
2020 2019
BT —Z—NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
(@)  Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration):  (a) BT
(BEEEWS) :
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREHMEH 28,078 26,695
Retirement scheme contributions BRRETRIERR 770 776
28,848 27,471
(b)  Others items: (b) HMMIER:
Amortisation of intangible assets* I E E 27,901 29,419
Auditor’s remuneration ZH NN 1,000 1,380
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment ME-BERREITE 456 353
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREBERTE 1,682 2,077
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary* HE—MH B A W= (209) -
Impairment loss on goodwill* e EEE 11,300 65,254
Impairment loss on intangible assets* mIEERESE 425 -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets* FREBEERESE - 716
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables B 5 KR EMEKERIER
and contract assets SHEERERR 9,359 2,057
Loss on deemed disposal of an associate* BIERE—RBHEAR
E518" - 2,129
# Included in other gains and losses # ST AE U s 2 518

Included in administrative expenses

SEATTERX
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

BE_Z_ZEF+_B=1+—HIFE

CLETAIm)

14. FRISMAX

(@) Income tax recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or (@)

loss represents:

rERE RN BRI

2020 2019
ZEIEHF —E-hHFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Current tax EHNIE
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —EEBFER
Provision for the year (note (i)) RNEEEE GEEE) 2,262 2,069
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBEEE 4) (64)
— Withholding tax (note (ii)) —Fain GHEk) 170 198
2,428 2,203
Deferred tax (note 33(a)) IEFRIE (MYEE33(a)) 1,442 1,691
3,870 3,894
note ():  Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, the first HK$2 million of MIsEG):  AREMAFFERENE  REBRIL
profits of the qualifying group entity established in Hong Kong N&EBERERE B E2,000,00087T
will be subject to a tax rate of 8.25%, and profits above that G #38.25%  MBBZMEEY A
amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. The profits of FIHEL16.5% IR - AR EF]
the Group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profit tax rate SRmAsz EEEENEMGES
regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of 16.5%. 1216.5%BIFRZFAHIR
PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate for the subsidiary in the PRC RIS A B SN R B (PR ER
is 25%. However, no provision was made for the financial years %25% ° A BN AEENBABE
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 as the subsidiary incurred EREBE RIERBE_Z-F
tax loss in the years. FRZIZ—AFE+ZA=+—HILM
BB EEEH o
Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate BN B A BIMRIE I IRB A EEE
current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries in which EMTEBREARNREE0 2ERK
the Group operates based on existing legislation, interpretation BEZBIRITERANRESHE
and practices in respect thereof.
note (i): ~ Withholding tax, regarding the external sales for which Mizk(): MBUREBRIINELETINAHEE

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

customers are located outside Hong Kong, is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in relevant countries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

()

14. FREMAXZ (@)

The reconciliation between income tax expense and the product (b) SR ARRATGERLERRERS
of loss before tax multiplied by the applicable tax rates is as szﬂ IREATE :
follows:
2020 2019
—BC-8F “T—NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Loss before tax FRIRRTES 1B (28,540) (57,786)
Notional tax credit on loss before IR EA16.5% 5T H AV BRI AT
tax, calculated at the rate of BIELERRIEIRR
16.5% (4,709) (9,535)
Income tax on concessionary rate ﬁ EREFENMMERES (165) (165)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable ERRIMANRBE 2 (506) (149)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible TT}D BREEZNRETE 4,263 12,404
Tax effect of share of loss of an associate EE—EBE QAR BENRE R E - 204
Tax effect of temporary differences RERYGREENRE R E
not recognised 2,661 (1,925)
Tax effect of unused tax losses FEARERRIBHEENREE
not recognised 2,689 3,032
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not B RIBE KRR RIEGIEBNRTE
previously recognised g (544) -
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBREEE 4 (64)
Withholding tax FEINIR 170 198
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries WEABREMENFE 15 (1086)
Income tax expense FRiSiBEZ 3,870 3,894
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AR
17 N =

5 o R B 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15.

HE-T

“EE+ A=+ —RHILEE

(L/(r%TE§ 'J/ \)

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 15. EEEMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2019: one) FRaReFTWMATER Hh—% (CZZ2—AN
of them is director whose emolument is disclosed in note 16. The F—%) R ATAZES INEESRKEE6
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining four (2019: W THABERNG (TZ2—AF  HA) BS
four) highest paid individuals are as follows: HEN A TAUBN 4828 -
2020 2019
—=_F “Z—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Salaries and other emoluments e REMBE 5,367 5,524
Retirement scheme contributions BIRETEIERR 72 65
5,439 5,589
The emoluments of the four (2019: four) individuals with the highest Mg (CTE—NAF W) Rei A THMEN
emoluments are within the following bands: TR
2020 2019
—E-TH —NF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AN
HK$1,000,001 = HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 775 % 1,500,00078 7T 3 3
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 75 & 2,000,00078 7T 1 1
4 4
During the year ended 31 December 2020, no emoluments were paid HEZTEHFE+A=+—HIEE F&E

by the Group to any of the highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, HK$480,000 was paid by
the Group to one of the highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join the Group. Save for this, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office during that year.

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

FRLEREARSHINA TSI HMEREE
N 38 B 7 0 28 7 & R A5 A AL Bl 20 1R A BE B RO A

=
8o

BE_T-NF+T_A=+t—HLFE £&£E
M H A —% &S H A £ 11480,0008 T1E#R
REMBAEBNER - FRILZ SN REBZE
WL R A& & #r A £ S A RN E R (R N
BB ETE N SR A S B RS B BE B S (R A BEER B M E o




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE
CLETAIm)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(@

Directors’ remuneration

The remuneration of each director was as follows:

16.

EEEMNRED
(@ EFHEN

BEEHMOT

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a
director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

REAREEE (FastARRENBARER) BEEARERNNE

Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits Discretionary Share based scheme 2020
fees in kind bonuses payments contributions Total
HrERRR BB 5 ZZITE
BEHE BAG BIBTEA AERNRA BHEIHR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THET THET THET THET THET
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong HIFERE - 1,200 - - 18 1,218
Mr. Zhang Long (note (ii) SREESCAE (BT5H() - 300 - - 15 315
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (note (i)~ ZIYKE 54 (i) - - - - - -
Independent BIUENTES
non-executive directors
Professor Chui Tsan Kit RIBEHR 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Chan Yung RELXE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei BEHEE 120 - - - - 120
360 1,500 - - 33 1,893
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

(@

Directors’ remuneration (continued)

HE-T

(L/(/%TE§ 'J/ \)

“EET A= t+—HIEFE

16. EFENRED (@)

@

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

PEARTEE FHAXADRENBEARER BHEENARUNNE

Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits  Discretionary ~ Share based scheme 2019
fees in kind bonuses payments  contributions Total
e R R Mg “E-hE
v ENF= HETEL AERNZA BRIKHEIRT 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TET
Executive directors BITES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong RmERLE - 1,200 - - 18 1,218
Mr. Zhang Long (note (ii) SREESCAE (HT5E() - 223 - - 11 234
Mr. Wong Hin Shek (note ) ~ EEERESAE (i) - 313 - - 5 318
Independent BIFENTES
non-executive directors
Professor Chui Tsan Kit RIEHREER 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Chan Yung RELLE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei BEELE 120 - - - - 120
360 1,736 - - 34 2,130
Notes: b5
0] Mr. Wong Hin Shek resigned as executive director of the Company (i) FTHEEENR _E—NFNBNHEFT
on 4 April 2019. KABIHMITES
(i) Mr. Zhang Long was appointed as executive director of the (i) RELENR ZZ—NENANHESE

Company on 4 April 2019 and resigned as executive director of the
Company on 8 February 2021.

(iii) Mr. Lau Siu Cheong was appointed as executive director of the
Company on 8 February 2021.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any director

as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as

compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019.

No director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during

the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

(i)

BE_Z_TER_

BEARNBNTES TN _E-_—F_H
NERERATRITES-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE

CLETAIm)

(o) Directors’ material interests in transactions, (b)

arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during

the year.

17. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$NIl).

18. LOSS PER SHARE

(@) Basic loss per share

17. K2

16. EFENRED (@)

EENR S RHRAEGHNERER

AR B EEET I 5 SR S A AT B
BMEN BAEREFAEMMALDESR
REBEZHEATERIHRESEAR

TNERRG - ZHHEL -

18. #&RREIE

@

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted average

BREFEIE

BEEfEaMdE 2=+ _"_A=+—H1t
FERNEARE CE—HEF T80 °

SREXBREDBRELAFEEARBEAA
FEMh R B 3T E BRI TR E

number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. FEo
2020 2019
ZEIEHF —E-hFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Loss B8
Loss attributable to owners of the Company KABEE NELRBETE
and loss for the purpose of calculating basic SREREBENEE
loss per share (39,286) (67,200)
’000 ‘000
TR A
Number of shares b ES S|
Weighted average number of ordinary shares Bt EEREREEN
for the purpose of calculating basic loss per ZiERMETERE
share 444,448 444,448
Basic loss per share (HK cents) BREAREE GBI (8.84) (15.12)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18. LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

19.

(o) Diluted loss per share

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

18.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share for the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, as the Company did
not have any outstanding dilutive potential ordinary shares during

the years.

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

19.

Tax effects relating to each item of other comprehensive income for the

FREE @)

(b) SREESEE
RHREEE AR AQDBETEE T
BESSZER RIEAREE_T—
SER_E-NE+_B=+—HLHmE
FENGREAREE

Hith2ma=m

rEEHAMEERDSEEAMINBLE

year:
2020 2019
ZZIZE “ENE
Before tax Tax Net of tax Before tax Tax Net of tax
amount expenses amount amount expenses amount
TR RIERS G35k ] BINAI £ MIERZ BRiBEE
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTET TET THET THET TET
Financial assets at FVTOCI BRHMZ ARG
DUATEET)IRE
SREE
Fair value changes ATEEEE
— Equity instruments -BATE 95 - 95 (590) - (590)
Exchange differences on translation of T &GN B A B BHE
financial statements of overseas EENERESR
subsidiaries (74) - (74) (5,123 - (5,123
21 - 21 (,713) - (,713)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA %5 SRR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

= A
1717 N = |

BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE

CLETAIm)

20. ME- -BEKRSZE

Computer
Leasehold Office Furniture and hardware and Motor
improvements equipment fixtures software vehicle Total
fEnE AR ffih TR
% ®fE REE REH HE hy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER FAT FAT FAT FAT
Cost A
At 1 January 2019 RZE-h&—FA—A 751 407 461 2,431 4,050
Additions ARE 55 21 - 598 980 1,664
Write off 56 - - - 2) - 2)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020  RZE—AE+-A=1—H
R-ZZZZE-F-H 806 428 461 3,027 980 5,702
Additions HE - - - 1 1
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 39(a)) HE—HMEAZ (H539(a) (490) 81) (212) 907) - (1,690)
Exchange adjustment EREE - - - 37 - 37
At 31 December 2020 RIBZEE+°A=1+-H 316 347 249 2,158 980 4,050
Accumulated depreciation and impairment &t &R
At 1 January 2019 RZE-N&—F—H 661 386 407 2,306 - 3,760
Charge for the year KEESH 105 18 46 130 54 353
Written back &p - - - 2 - 2)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 RZE-AE+ZF=+-H
k=%5-%5-A-H 766 404 453 2434 54 4111
Charge for the year TEETH 28 13 4 84 327 456
Written back on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BRBARRER (H:39a)

(note 39} (490) @1) 012 (906) - (1,689)
Exchange adjustment ERBEE - - - 4 _ 4
At 31 December 2020 RIBZEF+Z/=+-H 304 336 245 1,616 381 2,882
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2020 WZE2_E£+°A=+-H 12 1 4 54 599 1,168
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-A=1+-H 40 24 8 593 926 1,591
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

21.

BE_Z_ZEF+_B=1+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN)
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 21. FRAEEE
Office Office
equipment premises Total
WAEZE AEYE Hazt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FAT FET
At 1 January 2019 RIE2—N&—EF—H 47 2,971 3,018
Additions AE 68 1,590 1,658
Depreciation e @7 (2,050) (2,077)
Impairment AE - (716) (716)
At 31 December 2019 and RIE—NE+ZA=+—H
1 January 2020 rR_E-_ZTE—-HF—H 88 1,795 1,883
Additions hE - 1,483 1,483
Depreciation e (31) (1,651) (1,682)
At 31 December 2020 RZE_EH+”-A=+—H 57 1,627 1,684

S SERBRAT 202055k

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$1,858,000 (2019: HK$2,663,000)
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$1,684,000 (2019: HK$1,883,000) as at 31 December 2020. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants and leased assets are
not used as security for borrowing purposes.

RIE_ZTFE+_HB=+—H0  BIHREEELN
#1,858,00078 7T (& — .4 © 2,663,000/ 7T) °
H49%1,684,0007% 7T (ZZ— L4 © 1,883,000
B BERAEEEER - AERETHEMNER
2> MAEEETTBEBRIERAR

2020 2019

—EIEH —B-hEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets FTREEENERS 1,682 2,077

Interest expense on lease liabilities (ncluded in ~ FAE&EF B/HE GIAREMRZE)

finance costs) 98 103
Expenses relating to short-term lease (included in 2 EATA EMERARE S Gt ABE &Y 4

cost of goods sold and administrative expenses) &K1TEE %) 221 549

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 39(c).

For both years, the Group leases various office premises and office
equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of one year to five years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group assessed the
recoverable amount of CGU of all components, no impairment loss in
respect of right-of-use assets was recognised. During the year ended
31 December 2019, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of
CGU of e-Perfect IT and as a result recognised an impairment on right-
of-use assets of approximately HK$716,000 in that CGU.

EERRSM BB IBHI I E39(C) °

RmEFE AEEEELERAEYERRA
EXRBREERR -HEGNENT—EELF
ZEEFERHTIL - HERMILEE R EE L5
7 > BE R AE A E MR R B 5 1 o 10 E AR B A 5T
AT BB RER AEBEBAANNE
FIEE A RFINITEAIBEAR -

RBEE_Z_TF+_H=+—HILEE £&
B e EFE AN DRSS E L BT ElS
B ERAEREEEREERE REE_Z
—NE+_BA=+—BILtEE > FEETEZE
RERSEHS W ROSE  THRZREE
H B TR R B E E R ER B4 A716,00058

JT ©




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRREE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEETEF+"A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
22. GOODWILL 22, EHE
Corporate Corporate
Management Management
Solutions and Solutions and
L.T. Contract L.T. Contract
Software Business Services Business Services Business
(note a) (note b) (note ¢) Total
TEEEBRA TEERRR
FERERNK FERENNEK
RIEEH BHRBES BHIRBES
(Hizta) (HfzEb) (GED) st
Boom Max
International Limited
(“Boom Max”)
and its subsidiaries
(collectively
referred to as
“Boom Max Group”) e-Perfect IT Wafer HK
Boom Max
International Limited
(TBoom Max )
REMBAR
(478" Boom Max
£8) BERE HEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Cost %S
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and RZB2-nE—A-HB"
1 January 2020 “E-hE+ZA=+-BR
EI%E-B-H 757,662 3,934 20,913 782,609
Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BIEA R R R
(note 39(a) (My5390) - (3,934) - (3,934)
At 31 December 2020 R-F-2F+-A=1+-A 757,662 - 20913 778,575
Accumulated impairment losses Rt HEBE
At 1 January 2019 R-B-NE—F-H 632,496 3,934 - 636,430
Impairment loss recognised ERIAEER 65,000 - 254 65,254
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 RIE-nE+ZA=+t-HkK
“Z22£-A-H 697,496 3,934 254 701,684
Impairment loss recognised ERRHESE - - 11,300 11,300
Written back on disposal of a subsidiary (note 39a))  HE—EIBATEER (H:E39() - (3.934) - (3.934)
At 31 December 2020 RZZ_BF+°A=1-H 697,496 - 11,554 709,050
Carrying amount REfE
At 31 December 2020 RZZ_Z2F+°A=+-H 60,166 - 9,359 69,525
At 31 December 2019 RIE-NE+ZA=1+-H 60,166 - 20,659 80,825

Goodwill acquired in business combination is allocated, at acquisition,

to the Group’s CGUs that are expected to benefit from that business

combination.

BREBAFIBNEEREER DRERER
R R BN ZERAHNREEL BT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22,

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment
of Assets, a CGU to which goodwill has been allocated shall be tested
for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the
CGU may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the CGU,
including goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the CGU.

In addition to goodwill, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets that generate cash flows together with the
related goodwill are also included in the respective CGU for the purpose
of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU are the higher of the VIU and the
FVLCD.

(a) CGU of Boom Max Group

The Group determined the recoverable amounts of the Boom
Max Group’s CGUs on the basis of their VIU (2019: VIU) using
discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions for the
discounted cash flow method are consistent with last year
which are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and
budgeted gross margin and revenue during the year. The Group
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on long-term
average economic growth rate of the geographical area in which
the businesses of the CGUs operate. Budgeted gross margin
and revenue are based on past performance and expectations on
market development.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group prepared cash
flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets
approved by the directors for the next five years with the residual
period using the growth rates as stated below. These rates do
not exceed the average long-term growth rates for the relevant
markets.

The Group engaged Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited
(“Ascent Partners”), an independent professional valuer, to
determine the recoverable amount of the CGU of the Software
Business as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

2. HE @

EmENREERBETRERS

RIEEB G EREREERE BEDALZ
REEHETASFETRENS REEHR

ENBTZRAE (BEFS BRSEREY
POl 2R

PREGESN W2 RS ek (R E E K E T
RENENBTLEEBRBMBETH AGRMR
A H BT LUET R ERT 4 o

REEHBETNAIWLSEREREERATE
BERHEREZRSE

(@  Boom MaxZE[FEH) % HE T

FEBRRBUERRESREZRECHAEE

(ZF—N%F  EAEBE EEBoom Max
EHRESEHBETAPIUDIEEE - BEIRIR
EREBENTERREEF - HEF
RHRAIR R I REDIRFATEFNEKRIR
ABR - AEEFRARRNAT L RERLIR
o ZRMAERRMIREELETINEG
BREKBERBRNRERHSTIGH - BR
KNRBEREENETEFKEMTHE
NRITHEEEREFE - REEFNX
RWBATERBAERRRTISE RER
o
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SERETHN _EBE_BF+_B=+—H
ER_E—-hE+_B=Z+—EBH0FKEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

@

CGU of Boom Max Group (continued)

Key assumptions used for VIU calculations for CGU of Boom
Max Group are as follows:

RE M HRREE

BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE

CLETAIm)

22, e

(&)

BERENREELETRENS (@)

@

Boom MaxZE B 932 ZE HE T ()

Boom Max&EEREEL B THNEREE
SHEERANEZERNT

Boom Max Group
Boom Max£ [

31 December 31 December

2020 2019

g% —T-hEF

tZA=t—H +-B=+—-H

Gross margin EVES 77.24% 77.31%
Growth rate BEX 2.88% 3.14%
Discount rate BRIRE 19.3% 16.34%

As at 31 December 2020, with reference to the assessment by
Ascent Partners, the recoverable amount of the CGU of Boom
Max Group is valued to approximately HK$127,455,000. As the
recoverable amount of the CGU of Boom Max Group exceeded
its carrying value, no impairment was required.

At 31 December 2019, with reference to the assessment by
Ascent Partners, the recoverable amount of the CGU of Boom
Max Group attributable to the Group was valued to approximately
HK$117,845,000, which was lower than the carrying amount
of this CGU attributable to the Group by approximately
HK$65,000,000 due to various factors including the slower-
than-expected development pace in the Asian market, the
volatility of the global economy, the keen market competition
in the I.T. market, the decline in the demand for PCs and the
growing popularity of free software products. The CGU had been
reduced to its recoverable amount and the Group recognised an
impairment loss on goodwill of approximately HK$65,000,000
at 31 December 2019 which was included in other gains and
losses.

ATECEE+ R+ —H KB EY

FHEERIEHE ) Boom Max(EEIR % E
Bl A Y [Cl & REAY %127,455,0007 7T ©
A Boom Max&EBE IR £ E HEB Ty aT U
Cl&EBEEREE EFEHRE

A _B—-NE+ZA=+—RH KREY
FER I EE  AEBEEBoom Max
EERSEHBE TN RLOSENS
117,845,0008 0 BAEEELZIRE
EE H B8 ST BRI 1B 1§ 4965,000,00078 7T > Th
BEREMNTIBNE RS RIBNTBHE 23K
KEEES EARERERIF R EBA
BN ERLOE R BESHMGE RS
EEASZEREZ - R_E—AE+_H
—t—H ZBESELETEREETNR
Cl&3E MAEBEEIHEREREY
65,000,00078 75 > 5T A E At UK &5 K 538 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

®)

(©

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

CGU of e-Perfect IT

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group disposed
of its entire interest in e-Perfect IT to a director of e-Perfect IT at
a consideration of HK$1. The transaction was completed on 31
December 2020. The carrying amount of goodwill in respect of
CGU of e-Perfect IT was derecognised accordingly. Please refer
to note 39(a) to the consolidated financial statements for details.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of e-Perfect IT's
CGU was fully impaired. The recoverable amount of e-Perfect
IT's CGU was determined based on FVLCD. The Group
engaged Ascent Partners, an independent professional valuer, to
determine the recoverable amount of e-Perfect IT's CGU as at
31 December 2018 by adopting asset-based approach as cash
flows from operations were expected to be minimal. The decline
in the performance of this CGU was primarily attributable to the
decrease in the number of sizeable project contracts compared
with 2017 and keen competition in the I.T. market. In view of the
deteriorating financial performance of CGU of e-Perfect IT, the
Group considered not to invest further resources to e-Perfect IT.

CGU of Wafer HK

The Group determined the recoverable amount of Wafer HK’s
CGU based on FVLCD (2019: FVLCD). In determining the FVLCD
of the CGU, management has adopted market approach (level
3 fair value measurements), which has adopted price to sales
multiple and enterprise value to sales multiple in the valuation.
Several companies with business scopes and operations similar
to those of Wafer HK were adopted as comparable companies.
The comparable companies were selected mainly with reference
to the following selection criteria:

i) the comparable companies selected are principally
engaged in Corporate Management Solutions and I.T.
Contract Services Business in Hong Kong;

(ii) the companies have sufficient listing and operating
histories;

(i)  the financial information of the companies is available to
the public; and

(iv)  the share price of the comparable companies is available
in the Stock Exchange.

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

22, BHE (@)

LB ENReERENRENR (@

®)

©

BRERIFAY IR Z E T

RBEE_E_FTFE+_A=+—HIHF
B> AEBMREIBTESBREN—%
EFHEENZTEREN2EEE 2
SER_E_EFE+_"A=+—H=EM-
TEMFRcEHETHNHEREAEDE
FEEUEER - BR 2 REREMBmKM
5£39(a) °

A TBE-NE+ZB=+—H ZTERE
MRS ELETRAEC2EURE - ZE
HEREEHRE NI KREEELIREA
TEERHERAETE AEECZER
UBREMEMIFAETEL RATBRER
EEXNREREHR)  WEREEERZE
ETZEMEREERBIN _Z—N\F
+-B=1+—HWNIKEEE ZREE
HETHEE TRIEFSENALEBES
HWYER_ZE—tFRH D EENRETS
MEEIN BN ZREER BT EE
BERFERL AEEEREFABTTERE
BAE—FE R

BB E L ET

FEBRBATEERLEREA (ZF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

(©

CGU of Wafer HK (continueq)

During the year, the directors noted that the financial performance
of Wafer HK did not pick up as expected and had further
declined. In view of the decrease in revenue of Wafer HK for the
six months ended 30 June 2020 to approximately HK$9,827,000
as compared to that of approximately HK$21,328,000 for the
corresponding period in 2019, the directors considered that
this was an indicator of potential impairment on the carrying
amount of the goodwill of Wafer HK. Accordingly, the Company
appointed Ascent Partners in assisting on the valuation of the
CGU in relation to Wafer HK as at 30 June 2020 (“June 2020
Valuation”). The recoverable amount of the CGU of Wafer HK as
at 30 June 2020 attributable to the Group was approximately
HK$11,635,000 which is lower than the carrying amount of this
CGU attributable to the Group by approximately HK$11,269,000.
The CGU of Wafer HK has been reduced to its recoverable
amount and an impairment loss of approximately HK$11,300,000
was recognised on goodwill. The impairment loss was included
in other gains and losses. Details of the impairment testing of
the CGU of Wafer HK as at 30 June 2020 are set out in the
Company’s interim report dated 12 August 2020.

As at 31 December 2020, the management reappointed Ascent
Partners in assisting to re-assess the recoverable amount of
CGU of Wafer HK with the same major assumptions and/or basis
as adopted in June 2020 Valuation. The recoverable amount of
this CGU attributable to the Group is valued to approximately
HK$12,466,000 which is higher than the carrying amount of this
CGU. The directors considered that no further impairment loss is
required.

At 31 December 2019, with reference to the assessment by
Ascent Partners, the recoverable amount of the CGU of Wafer
HK attributable to the Group was approximately HK$22,675,000,
which was lower than the carrying amount of this CGU
attributable to the Group by approximately HK$254,000, as a
result of the uncertain market conditions and fierce competition
in the market. The carrying amount of the CGU had been
reduced to its recoverable amount and the Group recognised an
impairment loss of approximately HK$254,000 on goodwill during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

‘B I SRR M EE
#HE_ ==+ _A=+—HIEE
(L/(/%TE@J/ \)
22, HE @@

LB ENReERENRENR (@

©

BB B H = E L E T ()

REFEE BEFTRIHBEENTHER
WAKRTEHRTE—F T B - BREESS
REE_ZE_FFEA=+HLENEEW
WABRZZT—NEFERHEIA21,328,00078 7T
J'JZD?:/]Q 827 OOO%E E%DL)% Jtt%
BESERENRAENERRBREN
BReFIL ARABEZTXFHABEMRZ
ZEFRAZtTHZEESERTER
BrETHE (T2 ZZFXAMHED °
AR CTEARNB=TH AEREGE
BEERRSEHETNUKESENS
11,635,000 70 BAELEBEBEZIREE
HE T EREE K AI11,269,0005 7T o & &
ERARSELETEREHTWESEE
IEEEDL A ER84911,300,0008
R BERIE AREMUE RETE BRI
W;E%ﬁﬁéﬁ%ﬁm_%_gﬁAﬂ
=+ BREERNRER SR QBB
BT _TEN\B+HNPHERS-

RIEZEE+_A=+—H BEES
MEZEAXFA BB _EZEEAMEET
RANMER E BB R R, REEEM TG
HEEEREEHBNAIIRDEEE &
EEEGZIESERE TN W EISEET
H49%12,466,0008 0> BRILIRESER
BrANREE EEZRAERFLHE—F
/ﬁ“ﬁgﬁ-?ﬁ ©

AZE—NF+ZRA=+—H &BEY

FHEERFTER AERBLEHESTBR
FEHBITH A O &EEL 522,675,000
B BAEEREGZIREERETIRG
E{£49254,0008 70 > TH A MR A IETE K
HMERBHN -REE_E—HE+ZAH
=t+—BIFEE REEHBTNRAEE
BREHTWRCI&EE > MAERCREIAE
BRI ER51849254,000/8 7T ©

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

170



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

) CGU of Wafer HK (continued)

Key assumptions used for FVLCD calculations for CGU of Wafer
HK are as follows:

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

22, BHE (@)

SEEHENREENETRERNR @)

© REEEBHHETELNET (B

FEEBEREENETNRATEERD
ERASECANI2/RRNT !

Wafer HK
BEER
31 December 30 June 31 December
2020 2020 2019
k- Joml- 3= 3 —ETE ZE-hE
+-B=+—8H ~A=+H +ZHA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FAT FET
Price to sales multtiple DRSS 0.5 0.5 0.6
Enterprise value to sales multiple 2 BELHEHEH 0.7 0.3 0.5
Discount for lack of marketability ~— TRZHHREMITE 15.8% 15.8% 15.8%
Control premium ZEHERE 25% 25% 25%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 23. BEEE
Development
costs on
computer and
mobile phone Customer Computer
software relationship software
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (b)) Total
B R RE
EEEHGN
MR ERH% EREER G
(M¥5E(a)) (MtsE(b)) (MizE(b)) Mzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAET TR R
Cost 2%
At 1 January 2019 A ZE-NEF—F—H 191,641 11,066 2,826 205,533
Additions through internal development EB R RE 35,031 - - 35,031
At 31 December 2019 and A 7‘LfE+ B=+—H

1 January 2020 ER_Z2-ZF—-HF—H 226,672 11,066 2,826 240,564
Additions through BEAAENE

internal development 36,119 - - 36,119
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 39(a)) HE—BE AR (539 (a) - (11,066) (2,826) (13,892)
At 31 December 2020 RZZ_ZE+_F=+—H 262,791 - - 262,791
Accumulated amortisation and R EHERRESE

impairment losses
At 1 January 2019 A _E—-NE—F—H 116,619 8,983 2,574 128,176
Amortisation iy 28,060 1,107 252 29,419
At 31 December 2019 and A 7‘L¢+ A=+—H

1 January 2020 k2225 —-A—H 144,679 10,090 2,826 157,595
Amortisation i 27,350 551 - 27,901
Impairment BE - 425 - 425
Written back on disposal of a subsidiary H &}t /A 5 b5 &[]

(note 39(a)) (fiEE39 (a)) - (11,066) (2,826) (13,892)
At 31 December 2020 \ZZ2-EHF+_"RA=+—H 172,029 - - 172,029
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 December 2020 WZEZEHE+ZHB=+—H 90,762 - - 90,762
At 31 December 2019 A _E-AE+ZA=1+—H 81,993 976 - 82,969
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AR
17 N =

5 o R B 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(@)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

The capitalised development costs for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 represented the expenditure incurred
for developing computer and mobile phone software.

The average remaining amortisation period of the computer and
mobile phone software is four years (2019: four years).

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its
development costs on computer and mobile phone software as
at 31 December 2020 and 2019, having regard to the market
conditions of the Group’s products. These assets were used in
the Group’s Software Business segment. The management is
of the view that the carrying amount of intangible assets as at
31 December 2020 could be supported by the future economic
benefits. No impairment loss was provided.

Computer software (the “Software”) and the customer
relationship (the “Customer Relationship”) were acquired
through business combination. The Software are used for the
development of tailor-made programs to the Group’s customers
and the Customer Relationship represents certain contractual
relationship with its existing customers at the date of acquisition
of e-Perfect IT in 2014. These assets are used in the Group’s
Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services
Business segment.

The recoverable amounts of the Software and the Customer
Relationship are allocated to CGU of Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business of e-Perfect IT
(note 22).

As the economic benefits arising from these intangible assets are
totally integrated with the Corporate Management Solutions and
I.T. Contract Services Business, these carrying amounts have
been taken into consideration for the impairment assessment of
goodwill allocated to this segment (note 22).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the management
carried out impairment review on the recoverable amount of
e-Perfect IT’s CGU and determined an impairment loss of
approximately HK$425,000 (2019: HK$NIl) was recognised in the
profit or loss.

On 31 December 2020, the carrying value of Software and
Customer Relationship was derecognised upon the completion of
the disposal of e-Perfect IT (note 39(a)).
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(L/(/%TE§ 'J/ 7y
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BIEE (B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRREE

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 24. RHBATINKRE

N_EEF+_A=+—H TBEXELREH

Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2020 are as follows:

R BEHERZWBABMFBOT

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
registration and operation/  fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary form of legal entity capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
Bl TATYg
BREEME/ ERTRBERE/ FiERE  RAE/
WEARLE EEERPL AMERFEE MEEFERL TEEH
Direct Indirect
Ei# iEE
Lucky Famous Limited British Virgin Islands (‘BVI")/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
(“Lucky Famous”) limited liability company
Lucky Famous Limited RERZHEE 1IREBRIET REZR
(T Lucky Famous ) (EBEZEE) /
BREALH
Jade Fore Group Limited BVI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
Jade Fore Group Limited RBEUEE/ TREBRIET REZR
BREALH
Citi Profit Holdings Limited B/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
Citi Profit Holdings Limited RBEUES/ 1REERIET REER
AREAAH
Citi Profit Finance Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
HiERBERAT 58/ BREMAH RE BRI AT Eex
Perfect Growth Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Securities investment
(‘Perfect Growth”) limited liability company
ERERAF (EB) 55/ BREFTAT REBRIET HHRE
Supreme Right Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Provision of management
Development Limited limited liability company service
ERERBRAR &8/ EREMLH REBRIET REBERE
Apperience Corporation Gayman Islands/ 20,666,667 ordinary shares of - 50.5% Inactive
(*Apperience”) limited liability company US$20,667
Apperience Corporation HERE/BREMTAT 20,666,667 EEI20,667ET BEEE
(T Apperience J)
Imidea Limited Hong Kong/ 10 ordinary shares of HK$10 - 65.177%  Development and sales of
limited liability company software and provision of
toolbar advertisement
Imidea Limited 55/ BREFAT 10 EERI0E T BERHBEREUR
RETABES
[Obit Limited BWI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 - 65.177%  Inactive
limited liability company
IObit Limited EREAHE/ REBRIZT EEgy
BREALH
Both Talent International Limited ~ Hong Kong/ 10 ordinary shares of HK$10 - 65.177%  Development and sales of

EFERBRAR

limited liability company

&8/ BRERALT

10REBRI0ET

software and provision of

toolbar advertisement
RERHEREUR

RUETERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24,

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

24,

Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2020 are as follows:

KRB ARKRE (8)

RIEZZEFA+-A=+—H TEFXELEER
R BEREBZWBABMNFBOT @ (8

(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
registration and operation/  fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary form of legal entity capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
BalATg
BREEM ERTRBERE/ FEERE RAE/
WEARLE EEERLR AfEREE MEEFERL TEEH
Direct Indirect
B iEE
Mission Win International Limited ~ BVI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
Mission Win International Limited ~ RBRZEE/ 1REERIZET REER
BREAAH
Wafer HK Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 - 100%  Provision of corporate
limited fiability company management solutions and
|.T. contract services
HEEE 55/ 10,0008 & # 10,000 7T RECEEERRAFRR
BREALH BRRRANRS
GET Financial Group (International) - BVI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Limited limited liability company
BREREM @R ERAE  EBRELEHE/ REBRIET REER
BREALH
Profit Support Limited BVI/ 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
Profit Support Limited ERRYHE/ 10,0008 & ##:10,000% 7T RERR
AREARAH
GET Development Hong Kong/ 100 ordinary shares of HK$100 - 100%  B2C Online Sales Platform
limited liability company and B2B Product Trading
Business
BRERE a8/ 1008 & 8100 7T BCHLHETAR
BREFAF BBEREZEH
BREREE (FI)ERAT  The People's Republic of Registered capital of US$1,000,000 - 100%  Provision of management
(M= 5%10) China (‘The PRC")/ (Paid up USSNIl) (note i) service
foreign enterprise
BREZLE (R ARAR  REAREME (FE) /S FBEZR1,000,000%7T RUEERE
rag#il) SERE (BZ2x7) ()
City Dragon Global Limited B/ 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
City Dragon Global Limited RBEYEHE/ 10,0008% & &% 10,000% 7T REER
BREAAH
City Dragon (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 - 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
W (A BRAT 5/ 10,0008 & #10,000E 7T BEE
BREAAH
Sure Team Limited B/ 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
Sure Team Limited HERUEHE/ 10,0008 &A% 10,000% 7T REER
BREAAH

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24,

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2020 are as follows:

RE M HRREE

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

24. RBARMKRE (B)

RIZ-ZFE+-_B=+—H FEFELER
E¥FE BEMBEBEZNBATNGEBOT | (@

(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
registration and operation/  fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary form of legal entity capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
AL
HREEN/ ERTREERE/ Fieies / &peE/
WEARRE EERRRT SMEREE HMERFBRLL TEEH
Direct Indirect
B Gl
Sure Team (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 - 100%  B2B Product Trading Business
limited liability company
TR (B8 BRAF &8/ 10,0008 & #M% 10,0005 7T BBEREZEH
BREAAH
Boom Max BWI/ 100,000 ordinary shares of - 65.177%  Investment holding
limited liability company US$100,000
Boom Max ABRYEHE/ 100,0008% & 5%100,000% 7T REER
AREALH
Profit Winner International BW/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Inactive
Corporation limited liability company
Profit Winner International EREYHE/ REERIET EEEY
Corporation BREFAR
Service Winner Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
Senvice Winner Limited 58/ 1REERIET BEEx
AREAAH
Dragon Oriental Investment Limited  BVI/ 100 ordinary shares of US$100 - 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
Dragon Oriental Investment Limited BE4EE,/ 1008 BR100E T gRax
BREAAH
Million Worldwide Investment BWI/ 100 ordinary shares of US$100 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited limited liability company
Milion Worldwide Investment RBELES/ 100 E B 100E 7T REER
Limited BREFAT
Talent Vision Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
Talent Vision Limited &/ 1REERIET BEEE%
BREAAH
Note (i): AR

On 19 August 2019, the Group established a wholly owned subsidiary, &5 5 &I,
in the PRC with registered capital of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,760,000). At 31 December 2020, the Group has not yet injected capital into
2 571, Pursuant to the articles of association of %8 5 7%1/Il, the capital shall be
injected to 2 53 %Il within thirty years from the date of its establishment.

Note (i):

On 31 December 2020, the Group disposed of 100% interest in e-Perfect IT to a
director of e-Perfect IT at a consideration of HK$1. Details refer to note 39 (a) to
the consolidated financial statements.

RIZ2—NENB+AE AEERFEE LI —EE2E
WEAE 877 sFMEA%A1,000,000% 7w (HHE
R#7,760,00087T) cRZE-EE+"_HB=+—H &
EEWRBEZFIFE - RIBESZFINZ AR ER2HM
A BEXEEEMY BBER=1TEABEZFIEA -

B 5 i) -
RIZ_ZFE+_F=+—8 > ~EEURBIETH

SRR —REEFHEHNEBER NS #m A
BIsEIEA 2 MR A MBI R MEE39(@) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEEEF+"A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN)

24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24, RHBATNKRE (@)
The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non- TRETEAHAEAMS BEANIFERES
controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The summarised (TFEER i) WB AR ER - B EREIE
financial information represents amounts before inter-company {6 A BB EHRT = RE o
eliminations.

Boom Max Group
Boom Max% &

2020 2019
ZEITHF “Z2—NHF
Principal place of business/country of FTEEEMDE Hong Kong/ Hong Kong/
incorporation sEM AR IR BVI BVI
&8/ BB/
EBELES HEELEHE
% of ownership interests/voting rights IEERERPIHERE 34.82% 34.82%
held by NCI Ha/ RARE DL
Financial information is MEERHEEWT -
disclosed as follows:
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At 31 December: nW+__A=+—8":
Non-current assets ERBEE 90,762 81,993
Current assets MENE E 44,768 39,124
Current liabilities mENIaE (12,365) (3,473)
Non-current liabilities IERENEE (14,971) (13,408)
Net assets BEFE 108,194 104,241
Accumulated NCI R IR R 37,673 36,297
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24,

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE
CLETAIm)

24. RIBARNIKE (&)

Boom Max Group
Boom Max% &

2020 2019
—ZE_F —B-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FAET

Year ended 31 December: HE+_A=+—HLHEE:
Revenue A 82,252 73,994
Profit il 19,088 15,367
Total comprehensive income EE W R AERE 19,088 15,367
Profit allocated to NCI BN FIEEREmR T 6,646 5,351
Dividends paid to NCI BRI FIEZERERBIRE (5,343) (5,343)
Net cash generated from operating activities RS EEFTISIREIRRE 46,591 54,005
Net cash used in investing activities KREZHFTAREFE (34,216) (33,380)
Net cash used in financing activities MERHFTAREFE (7,671) (15,343)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RE RIS EEBYIEINEEE 4,704 5,282

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI

25. FRHMEEWEUATEETRNE

AL E

2020 2019
—ECEHE —E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FET

Listed investments, at fair value BAFEEFEN LTRSS
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong NEBLHNRAES 1,135 1,040

Analysed as: PAUTIEES

Non-current assets ERBEE 1,135 1,040

The fair values of listed equity securities traded in active market are

based on current closing prices in the Stock Exchange. The fair

values of listed equity securities which were suspended of trading in

an active market are estimated by using the index return method by

an independent professional valuer. Financial assets at FVTOCI are

denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, fair value gain of approximately
HK$95,000 (2019: loss of HK$590,000) have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation

reserve (non-recycling).

EEETEEEN EHRAESFHATEEDR
BEPAIRTWHEEE -TERH S LEEFE
BN EHRABHFNATEE B—RBIEXE
LEMEREMOHREGE BBRAMEE KD
AT EBEIIRNEMEEUBTIIE

BHE_Z_ZE+_B=+—HILEE FREM
2EIRE PR A T EEREA95,0008 7T (Z
T—AE | F51E590,00087T) » MR IRE B G RA
HERRT (R 3§) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE_Z_ZEF+_B=1+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN)
26. INVENTORIES 2. =8
2020 2019
ZEITF —E-hHFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Finished goods SR 187 394
27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. BHRHEMEWRIAE
2020 2019
—ETH —E-hnF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables B 5 AR 26,384 64,938
Less: loss allowance (note 27(b)) A BEEE (H5E27(0) (4,757) (1,179)
21,627 63,759
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AR e R EMEN RIS
(note 27(d)) (MtzE27(d)) 6,047 21,077
Amounts due from brokers FEUR AR 42 7018 2,187 15
Amounts due from non-controlling interests of e — R M B A B FE R R YRR IE
a subsidiary (note 27(e)) (MF5E27(€)) 30 166
Other loan receivable (note 27(f) HiEwER (isE27() - -
29,891 85,017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(@)

(b)

Ageing analysis of trade receivables

According to the credit rating of different customers and service
providers, the Group allows credit periods ranged from O to 90
days (2019: O to 90 days) to its trade customers and service
providers. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out
in note 6(c).

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the
directors.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for

= A =
IF e M TEHRRMEE
BE_SE-EF+_A=1+—HIEE
BTN
27. BSREMEWRIE (4E)

(@ EBZEWIRTERE DT
RIBETEEL RIRFHERNESTHR
SERKTHESREL KRB HEENE
SHNFOEWOR (CZE—HFE 0EWOH) °

ERAEEEEBRNE—SEBENM
516(c) °

N2 BRI H A R DO FE W AR AR M R AR B
B BEENEEREZARERR-

E IR GOBRBEEEREHE) RBE

impairment loss) based on due date is as follows: FAEMARER DATAT -
2020 2019
ZETEF “E-hnEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Not due RAHR 9,805 53,353
Less than 1 month past due mHp L 1ER 857 8,142
1 to 3 months past due A1 E3E B 617 1,519

More than 3 months but less than 12 months 8 BB 1B31E BB/ 1218 2

past due 10,326 715
Over 12 months past due miABE12EA 22 30
11,822 10,406
21,627 63,759

Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that
recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment
loss is written off against trade receivables directly (see note 4(v)).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews trade
receivables for evidence of impairment on both individual and
collective basis.

b) EZEWERRBEE

BB S EUIRRBBEBIREREA
SRECER > PRIF A E B S MU DR IBRI AT 5E
MARR EZERT  HEBERGEEN
B 5 AR e (RIEE4W)

RERER > cEEES E 5 BUEIRMR
BEER KRR ESE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

()

(d)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

BE_Z_ZEF+_B=1+—HIFE

CLETAIm)

27. BHREMEWRRIE (&)

Currency denomination of trade receivables () BEEWIRIEMEN
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are AEEE ZREEEDRNRmEU T E
denominated in the following currencies: FIME :
2020 2019
=== “Z2-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET
HK$ BT 853 7,626
us$ E7T 20,362 55,057
Japanese yen (“‘JPY?) HE (THEL) 412 1,072
Others Hth - 4
21,627 63,759
Other receivable (d) HhEWwsIE

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 13 June 2016
in relation to the acquisition of AP Group Investment Holdings
Limited (AP Group Investment” together with its subsidiaries,
referred to as the (AP Group”) , in the event that the audited
consolidated profit after tax of AP Group for the period from 1
January 2016 to 31 December 2017 is less than HK$16,000,000,
the vendor shall, and Universe International Holdings Limited (now
known as Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company
Limited) (“Universe”) (stock code: 1046) shall procure the vendor
to, pay to the Group the adjustment amount according with the
formula set out in the sale and purchase agreement (“Profit
Guarantee”). The vendor is Fragrant River which is a wholly
owned subsidiary of Universe. Further details of the formula were
set out in note 43(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

As of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, included
in the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables
was receivable from Fragrant River of HK$20,400,000 arising
from the Profit Guarantee in relation to the adjustments to the
consideration for the acquisition of AP Group during the year
ended 31 December 2016.

As set out in note 43(a), the Group is taking litigation process
against Fragrant River and Universe.

As at 31 December 2020, an accumulated allowance of
approximately HK$17,400,000 (2019: HK$13,446,000) was
provided for estimated irrecoverable receivables.

The Group applies general approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The calculation of the loss allowance is
set out in note 6(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

REMKEEHEBERBRAS (TE
HERZR  EREWBABFKE EH
E@)FTUABPAE S —RENBE+=
HBrE8m% MEHERE _S—&
—B—HEE_Z—+tH5+-_B=+—
RSBz E&BZBRREBES BN DR
16,000,000 70 BB H KRS FEIEE
BRERAGS (RBEEFREXEERABR
NE) (EBF BRMASE: 1046) ERFE
FREBBEWMZEFHANBAERZ(HEE
£ (NEARE) - BARIAEFZE
ENBAE BREAAXNNE—FFHEE &
PR & B F R R M 5143()

BE_Z_ZTE+_A=Z+—HK_Z
—hE+ZBE=+—H> KEENENR
B -ReshEMERRECEEEHE_Z
—RNE+ZB=Zt+—HLEEHRREEH
ERENREREAREIEFREBFIEEN
&1 FEURRRIE20,400,0005 7T

WM EE43()PF 8 ZEBEEHEIRE
FIREE R

RIZ-_ZTE+-_B=+—0 s
B U [B] FE U R TE S 5 R 514917,400,0007 7T
T —H4F 13,446,000 7T) °

KFEBRB-RAZRVEBMBREE
AR EMNTRIEERR - ARMBERE
B EHN R A BREMEE6()°




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 27.

28.

RE M HRREE

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

() Amounts due from non-controlling interests of a

subsidiary

The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and with no fixed

repayment terms.

()  Other loan receivable

The other loan receivable from Jun Yang Energy is unsecured,
interest free and is repayable upon demand subject to the
consent of all shareholders of Jun Yang Energy.

The Group applies general approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The calculation of the loss allowance is
set out in note 6(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

85 REMEWTRIE (8)

€ MEUR—MHEARNIFEREDRE

BRMERERT REEEEEENH
PR

) HEWER

EREGERNEMERRERF 2R
BEZERER EEEGEREBRE
BEEBHSIFE

KREBZRA—RAZRVEBMBREE
AR EMNTRIMEERER - ARMBERE
RISt B RS MR MEE6(C) °

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 28. EEBEEUATEEIRNEMEE
2020 2019
ZEIEHF —E-hFE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Equity securities held for trading, at fair value AT EEFENFIEEBERAEARE
Listed in Hong Kong R&EEL™T 12,310 32,186
Unlisted equity securities JEEMRARE S - 350
12,310 32,536
Analysed as: PMAUTIER
Current assets RENEE 12,310 32,536

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are mandatorily

measured at FVTPL in accordance with HKFRS 9.

REEBMBREENFO LASHEERN
REERRTBBEEULNTEETE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

28.

29.

S SERBRAT 202055k

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (continued)

The investments represent listed equity securities investments that offer
the Group the opportunity for return through dividend income and fair
value gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate.

The fair values of listed equity securities traded in an active market
are based on market prices at the end of reporting period. The fair
values of listed equity securities which are suspended of trading in an
active market are estimated by using the index return method by an
independent professional valuer.

The fair value of the listed equity securities which are traded in the
Stock Exchange but imposed special conditions on shareholders are
estimated by adjusted fair value market by an independence valuer. The
special conditions ended during the year and the fair values of these
securities are based on market prices at end of reporting period.

The fair value of the unlisted equity securities as at 31 December 2019
was determined by reference to the recent transaction price. The
Group determines the fair value of the unlisted equity securities as at 31
December 2020 is zero.

Financial assets at FVTPL are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
There is no concentration of credit risk in respect of the financial assets

at FVTPL because these financial assets are kept in well-established
securities broker firms in Hong Kong.

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

28.

BREmUATFEEIRNEMEE

=)

ZEREREBBREBWARATEEREAAE
HRHOREEN EHRABHRE AT EE
EEHHREER-

RERTHREEN L HRAESFNATEEDE
RRERRNTE- R EETHEEEEN LT
RAFEFNAFEEDRB LS X LEMERTE
HEIFEETEE I LHRABFNATEE
Th 82 E BRI EEE

FRER AP B BB H RN B R 4B iR
BENATBERBILAEMZEREATER
MISEE - ARMEIREERENL L MZE
BENATEERREMRRETEAE -

FLEFRAESFN _E-—NE+_A=+—HH
ANFEENESERIPMXEEE  RNERE
EFLETRAEFESN _Z_2F+_"_A=+—H
BRAFEBE/SS

BEBEENRATEEIRNEHEEBTY
B

BEREUATEEIRNEREENEEESE
TRE RRARZETHEEDFTRRNEBES
ERMANEBFELRAT

CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 2. BNEE ENEaRE
2020 2019
Contract assets BNEE —EEE “E-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Arising from performance under CMS services, BT EBERRSZRE
net of loss allowances FRES  BREBEE - 1,804
Receivables from contracts with customers within EEVBREERE155KEERN
the scope of HKFRS 15, which are included in EWEE&ORIE AWt A
“Trade and other receivables” M85 Kk EMEWNIE 21,627 63,759

Amounts relating to contract assets are balances due from customers
under contracts for the CMS services that arise when the Group
receives payments from customers in line with a series of performance
related milestones or payment for the services is not due from the
customer until the services are completed and therefore a contact asset
is recognised over the period in which the services are performed to
represent the entity’s right to consideration for the services transferred
to date.

BEEMNEERRNTEARBLEEEERRTHE
RBEQRBERNER HRAERRE—&
F BB A IR R DY E 2 P B U B B B A AR AR S
THREDERNZERFARGEL  AILEGNE
ERBITRFHABRES  ARBEMZSHE
SEBIARFBUEL AL ERIRER -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

29.

CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The decrease in contract assets as at 31 December 2020 was mainly
due to the disposal of a subsidiary on 31 December 2020.

The amount of revenue recognised during the year from performance
obligation satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous period is HK$Nil,
mainly due to the changes in estimate of the stage of completion of
certain CMS services contracts.

No contract assets that is expected to be recovered after more than
one year as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

G B R M 5T

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

29.

BHNEE ANEE @

GHNEER T+ _A=+—HR X2
RN_Z2-EBF+_A=+—HLE—REREBER
BIFTE

FRBBEIMER REOER) BOEEHD
WRAEZERTE T TEANETEEEER
REERBEHABITTRMEER T EZ b

RIBTEFR-E-NF+A=+—H"'#
BEINBE—FRKLCNEGHNEE-

2020 2019
Contract liabilities =EO)-AE T THF —Z-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET

Billings in advance of performance obligation BROEEAENR
— |.T. contract services —EMRESORY (1,732) (3,188)
- Sale of goods —iHEEM (225) (300)
(1,957) (3,488)

Contract liabilities relating to I.T. contract services are balances due
to customers under I.T. contract services. These arise if a particular
milestone payment exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the
cost-to-cost method. Contract liabilities relating to contract for sale
of goods are mainly progress payment made by customers under
contracts for B2B Product Trading business.

BEEMBRESNRBEMNGNEERREEN
MEEHNRBEANEFNER - HEEEETRE
PEERRIBIBIE 5 5 LR IR R A EEH A RESD YUK
A RIEHIRAAIER - BEESEREHNERMKN
BNEETIERETFIRIEB2BERE 5 EHFH
BOHEE (IR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

29. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29.

(continued)

The decrease in contract liabilities as at 31 December 2020 was mainly
due to less advance payment from customers in relation to renewal of

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

BHNEE ANEE @

BHEER-ZEF+_BA=+—HRIHE

ERFEFAREEEEBRSONELDRGR

fixed price contracts. FrE o
Movements in contract liabilities: BHBaEE
2020 2019
—EIEHF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Balance at 1 January W—RB—RB#&i& 3,488 5,904
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of REANEDPEATSIAESH
recognising revenue during the year was included BREIBA
B ohH A ESNCIEN
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the BRENERAD
period (3,017) (5,664)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of biling in ~ FABFAEHL B XIARFF AR
advance of I.T. contract services BHENEEERM 1,836 2,948
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of RiHEEmBAN MM
billing in advance of sale of goods R EHNaEEMm - 300
Disposal of a subsidiary (not 39(a)) HE—BWEAE (iEE39@) (350) -
Balance at 31 December R+ZRA=+—RH&% 1,957 3,488

The amount of bilings in advance of performance received that is
expected to be recognised as income after more than one year is
approximately HK$40,000 (2019: HK$247,000).

185 HEHERBMRAT 202055k

WEINBATENREE FEstiN B — FEE
SBAWA) £9%40,00058 7T (ZZ— N5 © 247,000
HBIT) °




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

30.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

G B R M 5T

BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE
CLETAIm)

30. BIEMRITERURRERIREEFEY

2020 2019

ZEITHF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Cash and bank balances RERIRITAER 118,174 80,723
Pledged bank deposits ERIFRITIER 630 627
118,804 81,350

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates.

At 31 December 2020, the Group’s pledged bank deposits represented
deposits of approximately HK$630,000 (2019: HK$627,000) which
were pledged to banks to secure banking facilities to the extent of
HK$500,000 (2019: HK$500,000) granted to the Group. The deposits
are denominated in US$. The pledged bank deposits are interest
bearing at fixed rate of 0.05% (2019: 0.45%) per annum.

At 31 December 2020, the Group had available undrawn secured
and unsecured banking facilities of approximately HK$242,000 (2019:
HK$362,000) and HK$NIil (2019: HK$495,000) respectively.

The pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents of the
Group are denominated in the following currencies:

FRIBTHRSRBLERITESRERA X RAER
B BRI RER AR B o

RIZE-_TE+_HB=+—H > ZEENTIER
IRITEFUE IR FIRITHNERA%A630,0008 7T

(ZEB— N4 : 627,000587T) » (EATEBRER
572500,0005 7T (Z 2 —HL4F : 500,000 7T) $F
TREER FRUETIE BIRBRITER
¥ EEFEFFRO.0SE (CE—NFE 045E) 5t 8-

RIE_ZFE+_A=+—RH ~EENTF
AARERNEEWRLERFBRTRESNNS
242,00078 70 (ZZ—H 4 | 362,000 7T) KMZH
7T (ZE— N4 : 495,00057T) ©

AEENSBFRTERURRERIREEEY
MRHIEIE5IE :

2020 2019
ZEIEH —E—AE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FET

us$ =T 96,836 55,825
Renminbi (‘RMB”) AR TARD) 8,604 2,166
HK$ BT 12,588 22,565
Euro BT 776 794
118,804 81,350

As at 31 December 2020, bank balances and pledged bank deposits
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$8,405,000 (2019: HK$1,963,000) were kept in banks in the
PRC. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

RN _E_EBE+_B=+—H AEEBUA
RENENRTEGREREFERETERNA
8,405,000/ 7t (Z & — L4 : 1,963,000/ 7T) B 1%
B R BEIRVIRTT o I A RIS BRI INE BRI P
HRINEBIERAIREE - EER(IESIERTE
170
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
1717 N = |

R 35 ¥R AR M 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE

CLETAIm)

31. BHRHEMEMNRIEA

2020 2019
—ETH —Z2—NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Trade payables B EMIRR 3,098 2,828
Accrued expenses and other payables B ER R EMEIRIE 8,576 14,556
11,674 17,384
(a) Ageing analysis of trade payables (@ EZEMRRIIRED
The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of B 5 IRIRBUNENE IR 7S BB
receipt of goods/services, is as follows: BRECOMTUNT !
2020 2019
—Z_= —EB-NE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FET
Less than 3 months DRSEA 2,582 2,098
More than 3 months but less than 12 months Be3mEAELR12EA 277 340
More than 12 months BiBE12E A 239 390
3,098 2,828
(b) Currency denomination of trade payables (b)) BREMIRRINEEEN
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables are AEREGEMRRNEmAERUTEE
denominated in the following currencies: HIfE :
2020 2019
—=_= —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Us$ ET 2,858 1,979
HK$ BT 205 849
JPY H 35 -
3,098 2,828

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 35 d 2R Y 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

32. LEASE LIABILITIES

4 A
1717 N = |

BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE

CLETAIm)

32. HEAE

Minimum lease payments

Present value of minimum
lease payments

REHESHR RIERSARNRE
2020 2019 2020 2019
bt “Z—hE “Z-ZE ity K3
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TERT FTER
Within one year —FR 1,317 2,265 1,214 2,217
More than one year, but not exceeding two years —EL EBRBEMRE 645 417 625 413
More than two years, but not more than MEULERBERE
five years 19 34 19 33
1,981 2,716 1,858 2,663
Less: Future finance charges B RREESH (129) (53) - -
Present value of lease obligations HEEKZIRE 1,858 2,663 1,858 2,663
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 A - 1218 5 W EI RS E R IE (R
months (shown under current liabilities) ~ Ei&&1E 15T (1,214) (2,217)
Amount due for settlement after 12EBBIBEERE
12 months 644 446

All lease payables are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The weighted average increment borrowing rates applied to lease
liabilities of the Group range from 3.36% to 10.11% (2019: from 3.36%

to 3.64%).

[E) -

FrEEE RN RELUBITEHE

AEEEE & B~ AR EIE 8GR N
F3.36EE10.11E (ZZ—H4F ! 3.36/EE3.64
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RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE_Z_ZEF+_B=1+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN)
33. DEFERRED TAX 33. RIEMIE
(a) Deferred tax liabilities (@ EEREEE

The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by the

MTFAAEREDNEERESRE -

Group:

Intangible
assets
BLEE
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 January 2019 RZZ2—hE—HB—H 11,835
Charge to profit or loss (note 14(a)) wiEmINkR (izE14(a)) 1,691

At 31 December 2019 and RZE2-—hEFE+B=+—HK
1 January 2020 —ECEF—HF—H 13,526
Charge to profit or loss (note 14(a)) #esgamineg (HEE14() 1,442
At 31 December 2020 RE2-_ZEFE+_HA=+—H 14,968

(b) Deferred tax assets

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$281,625,000 (2019:
HK$272,336,000) available for offset against future profits. No
deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses carried forward has
been recognised due to the unpredictability of the future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately RMB507,000 (equivalent to HK$605,000) (2019:
RMB632,000 (equivalent to HK$732,000)) that will expire in
2024 (2019: 2024). Other tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

(b)

RBREHR AEBBRSHRIERS
#849281,625,0008 7T (ZFE—HF :
272,336,000% 7t) * A]fHIKEH R AHEF o
AR AEBEKRAEES BENEFRR %)
TERAEERIBEERITMELREE
EokRIBREGBEOEFEN T IMF

ZE-AF I ZEIAF) FHENOA
F&#507,0007t (18E72605,000/87T) (ZF
— A 1 AR632,0007T (HHE7732,000
HBT)) B8 - EMIR BR8] MR A4S
BHo




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BETZTEF+_A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. B#&
Nominal value Number of
per share shares Amount
SREE RineE k]
HK$ ‘000 HK$'000
BT A FHT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares TR
At 1 January 2019, R_ZE—-hF—H—B-
31 December 2019, —Z2—hHF+ZH
1 January 2020 and e il = Nt -
31 December 2020 —B—HERZEZEF
+-B=+—H 0.01 80,000,000 800,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
Ordinary shares ZiER
At 1 January 2019, RIZE—hFE—B—8-
31 December 2019, —Z—hHF+ZH
1 January 2020 and =+—B-Z2ZZ2HF
31 December 2020 —B—HRZEZEF
+_—_B=+—H 0.01 444,448 4,444
The holders of ordinary shares are entitied to receive dividends as ZERFAEAARRNEAREIRNEE  La#
declared from time to time and are entitied to one vote per share at RARBEAYG LRER—ERERR-FIEESE
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard BEAABFGEES EEZERS#R

to the Company’s residual assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

34.

S SERBRAT 202055k

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The Group’s primarily objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for the shareholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between higher shareholder returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes judgement
as to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group and the Company monitor its capital structure on the basis
of a debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, adjusted net debts is defined
as total debts (which includes trade and other payables and amount
due to a subsidiary, which is applicable). Equity comprises share capital
and reserves.

During 2020, the Group’s strategy was to maintain a debt-to-equity
ratio at not more than 45% (2019: 45%). In order to maintain or adjust
the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise
new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debts.

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

34.

ez (48)

FEREEEATI RS EMEREBNFERE
fES BB EEARKTHENER KRB EBEU
RAZEEMARISRE MA@ ERRRS
PNEEE

REMMBR KRR R EEEBE AR LU
RS ETRK T Rl A % 2R S 1 2 AR BR[O $R F2 HY
BRAE DRI RS @ K R IE 2 BT
> W RLASHIR IR B SR 4 B A IR (R L I i o

FEBRFIABDZEEHREIERARERRH
BEREB oL BBBEEFFEAEREHR
BH(BEESRAMECIREREN—HHREL
BIFIE (WA ) - e B IE R A R o

RZEZEF S AERKRBWKEAERAER
HIF LR BIBIS% (CB—NE45%) 8
KF o BRFRBEZLE  AEMABEHRK
BRI ESTE - BTHMRMD RREZES
I ERNETEMERREEELURE

The Group The Company
mEE P /N

2020 2019 2020 2019
ZEIEE T-hE ZEZITE TNE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FET
Debts &% 42,853 50,794 62,193 62,212
Equity e 230,587 269,852 62,527 157,222
Debt-to-equity ratio aEHEERLEE 19% 19% 99% 40%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Group to
maintain its listing on the GEM of the Stock Exchange it has to have a
public float of at least 25% of the shares. The Group receives a report
from the share registrars weekly on substantial share interests showing
the non-public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with the
25% limit throughout the year. As at 31 December 2020, approximately
25% (2019: 25%) of the shares were in public hands.

KRB REMBABLEZINRIEMIERIRE
FRAFEFR

IR EEREARERBEBHE L25% A
BIF R E AR E R B A2 FTGEMAY L (i o 2K
EESEBERCEBRECLERTIERGER
FrEHRERIEFARERENRS  RIENFR—
BHETERBWRERE - R_EZEF+A
=+—H>425% (ZZ—NFE : 25%) BRMHEAA
FATER-




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

G B R M 5T

BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE

CLETAIm)

35.

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(@

ERBMBR AR R EHEES

Statement of financial position of the Company (@) AABHBKRT
2020 2019
—TITF —Z—NF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
b 5 FAET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BB KREE 11 32
Investments in subsidiaries RHBABNKE 234 234
245 266
Current assets MEMEE
Prepayments and deposits FEINEREN S S 259 250
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS B A B 7 111,584 204,404
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 12,632 14,514
124,475 219,168
Current liabilities Bt =R
Accrued expenses and other payables e & B R e 70
=] 2,611 2,589
Amounts due to subsidiaries B ABRIE 59,582 59,623
62,193 62,212
Net current assets RBEERE 62,282 156,956
Total assets less current liabilities BEEHERTEBEE 62,527 157,222
NET ASSETS BEFE 62,527 157,222
Capital and reserves B K HE
Share capital 4 4,444 4,444
Reserves G 35(b) 58,083 152,778
TOTAL EQUITY RS 62,527 157,222

Approved by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2021 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Wong Jing Shong

==y
HIFF
Director

EE

KEFEN T —ZF=-A+NHB#’
HWHRMTEFAREE

Lau Siu Chong
2JKE
Director

EFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AR
17 N =

5 o R B 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

(b)

Reserve movements of the Company

BECE B _A=+—HLFE
(L/(/%TE§ 'J/ \)

35. KARMBRRKKEFHEEE (B)

b) FREHEEH

36. RESERVES

(@)

(b)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

Share Contributed ~ Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
R in i 1E BRRE Riti5E ey
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET TET
At 1 January 2019 RIZ-hE—B—R 517,181 988,713 (1,272,901) 232,093
Loss and total comprehensive income FEEBBREERGARE
for the year - - (80,215) (80,215)
At 31 December 2019 and RZE—-NE+-B=1+—H
1 January 2020 R-Z-EE-B—H 517,181 988,713 (1,353,116) 152,778
Loss and total comprehensive income FEEBEREERGARE
for the year - - (94,695) (94,695)
At 31 December 2020 I = 517,181 988,713 (1,447 811) 58,083
36. f#fE
Group (@ =A£EH

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves

0

(i)

Share premium

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the funds
in the share premium account of the Company may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of share capital of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation
scheme (the “Group Reorganisation”) to rationalise the
structure of the Group in preparation for the public listing
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange set out
in the Company’s prospectus dated 18 December 2001,
over the nominal value of the shares of the Company
issued in exchange thereof.

FERRBREEHTENGGIEDRE
theElmREGRaEREFHKRET -

b) REENEERERN
0n  REBE

BREBRE-NN—FREZE K
A RMEBERIUBRARKRA R
ke
W  HEE
FEENEHBHFIERERAADH
AR _Z22—F+_"_A+/\HHE
RERFE HEBEIRBIRMON
B XPr LTS A EERIEBNE
HeEtd (TEEEA) FriBERE A
B AE EBR A A B 23
BTHRMEENZER




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

36. RESERVES (continued)

37.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(i)

(i)

()

Contributed surplus (continued)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the excess of the fair value of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group Reorganisation over the nominal
value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange
thereof.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
contributed surplus account is available for distribution to
shareholders. However, the Company cannot declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed
surplus if:

- the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

— the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium
account.

Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets
at FVTOCI held at the end of the reporting period and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy in note
4().

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 4(d).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the Company to

grant options to either directors or employees of the Group in order

to recognise and motivate their contribution, to provide incentives and
to help the Group in retaining its existing employees and recruiting

additional employees by providing them with a direct economic interest
in attaining the long term business objectives of the Group. The share
option scheme was approved by the shareholders in an annual general
meeting on 13 June 2017 and adopted on 15 June 2017.

RE M HRREE

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

36. fitfl (&)
b) fRENEEREN (@
0 EEER @

AABMBEHEFEREEREAR
FTULEEI B AR A FEEBR A
NEBZMMETHRMEENE
ge

BREEBRE-NN—FREE &
BB FRIRAI D IR T IR © 22T > fiH
BLELUTER ERRTFRFEIK
PIRTKRE HEEHBEBFPIEY
Dk

— FREHEEBREIRGERE
AHEEHIEEE 8

- FREEEMNEREER
KNERELDHREEERH
BETRENKRRM EER
By#BAN -

(i)  REBIHFGE

REEGRBEQERREHERER
RBEBEMEEWEUATFEES
RNEREENRAATEELS
FPER WARME M SE4() P80 5T UK
BRIEo

) BRI

AEEME R FEEETERIME
EEBVBRRELENMAINEE
BR o ZREH R IR M T4 PR 5T IR
RERIE

37. URMHBERNZ M
BREAINENSEFATRFERESAE
ERTERE USERABNKEZER/M EH
HEUKREDAEERGRBERARERERBEES
BE AHRENBRAEENRAEZBRER
HERCEN D - BRIESAIN —F—tFXA
TZHNREBFASERRMERN —E—
FRATLEERM-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AR
17 N =

5 o R B 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

37.

38.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The Company by ordinary resolution in general meeting may at any time
terminate the operation of the share option scheme and in such event
no further options will be offered but in all other respects the provisions
of the share option scheme shall remain in force to the extent necessary
to give effect to the exercise of any options granted prior to such
termination.

No option was granted under the share option scheme up to date of
approval of this report.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest
immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary established in the PRC are
members of a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. This subsidiary is required to contribute certain percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and wages to the central pension
scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of all existing
and future retired employees of this subsidiary. The only obligation of
this subsidiary with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet
the required contributions under the scheme.

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

HE-T

“EET A= t+—HIEFE

(L/(/%TE§ 'J/ \)

37.

LR A ERNZ N ()

FRB I RER I IRRAE LB BREREILEF
BRESE RZBERT BASRZAMBER
> WERSPRA Bt 5 | RS BRI IER
Mo BERARMKIEARTHEMBERENITE
EMBLE

EEARGHEZH BEREBRESIREY
FEaRtE -

REHRB ARG E
A IR IR BB A ) 485 MBI 1L AT S 58

&G AZEEREBERASENRE  RARG
MAEEE (aEEstE)) caEestan—
BEBRBIIETAEENREEHIEBRE R
BaEStE BERERES ARG EIZRES
BREBANSRERT  HEBERWAN ERA
30,0007 7T © B %=t B PR EH R BN S ER /&5 ©

ZEE 0 R B AR ST Y I B A B A9 R B 233 5 T
FEENPREEDSHIME - %M BAB AR
EEELHERIENETANLATREES
SRR RRARENES - 5 BN LR
EIEZI B AR A RA KRR INES BRI
BRHEFE -ZMNBABLFREEESSEIRME—
BEERRESEFHAARMHR-




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(@

Disposals of a subsidiary
Disposal of entire interest in e-Perfect IT

On 31 December 2020, the Group disposed of its 100% equity
interest in e-Perfect IT (“Disposal of e-Perfect IT”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group, to an existing director of e-Perfect IT for
a cash consideration of HK$1.

The Disposal of e-Perfect IT fell under the definition of “connected
transactions” under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules but
was de minimis in nature and therefore was exempt from the
reporting, annual review, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Net liabilities of e-Perfect IT at the date of disposal were as
follows:

RE M HRREE

BE_Z_EF+_B=1+—HIFE

BTN
39. &ZH
@

REREBRME

HE—FHREAR
HER BRI Z 250

RB-BE+-A=+—0 FEEY
RERBIETH YRR L —BREE
Wi E R E WA 20 (LR
BRHENE)  ZATASEEZ2EH
BAT-

BRI ERIEFAGEM EH RS20
BEETZMBRZIZ2EER ERRIEHA
ZEHE R ERRETGEM L HRASE
0BT ZHB - FEER 2ERETL
PRERHEERRE ©

BEMSNHERR B EFEOT

HK$’'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment (note 20) ME- BB R E (FTEE20) 1
Goodwill (note 22) mE (Msk22) -
Intangible assets (note 23) mEEE (MizE23) -
Trade and other receivables 85k EMERRIE 712
Contract assets BEHNEE 1,382
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 97
Trade and other payables B 5 REMELRIE (2,051)
Contract liabilities AHEaE (350)
Net liabilities disposed of BEHESEFE (209)
Gain on disposal of the subsidiary HEWB AR 2z Wm
Consideration B —-#
Net liabilities disposed of BHESEFEEE (209)
Gain on disposal * HE 2z 209
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEZREMEIFEE
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BHERERIREEEY 97)
Cash consideration received BUERERE —#
(97)

The gain on disposal is included in “other gains and losses”.
# Represents amount less than HK$1,000.

* HE 2 Wam st A TE s R E5 48 ©
# $5/D11,0008 T2 & FE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)

BE_Z_ZEF+_B=1+—HIFE

CLETAIm)

39. HRARTRMERME (@

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) FREIBFFELESREZHIR
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TREFMAEEREETDES 2 BEEH
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash (BIERESKRIIFRSEET) -MEFTHESE
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for ZEBBEARSREEHRKRERERFN
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in rERGESRENERDEAME AN
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows BREREZEBE
from financing activities.
1 January Interest 31 December
2020 Addition Cash flows expenses 2020
.
“ETRE +ZH
—B—H HE Rehe FERE =+—f
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET FiEx FET T
Lease liabilities (note 32) HEAE (F32) 2,663 1,483 (2,386) 98 1,858
2,663 1,483 (2,386) 98 1,858
Impact on Restated
initial balance at
1 January  application of 1 January Interest 31 December
2019 HKFRS 16 2019 Addition Cash flows expenses 2019
EEN
EREES IS
BHRE —I-NE “B2hE
“F-hE EAFEeR —A—-BHz +-R
—A—H w8 KEYER AE Rene FIEMEZ =+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TER TET TET FET TET
Lease liabilities (note 32) HESE (H:332) - 3,018 3,018 1,658 (2,116) 103 2,663
- 3,018 3,018 1658 2,116) 103 2,663

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

BE_E-EBF+_A=+—RAIFE
BTN

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 39.
CASH FLOWS (continued)

RERTRERME (B

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (o) MHEZRE&RHLEZE

40.

(d)

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flow for

SAAGREGREMNEXAWNEESHEE

leases comprise the following: THIRIE !
2020 2019
ZEIEF —Z2—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT T
Within operating cash flows KEREREN 319 652
Within financing cash flows MEREREN 2,288 2,013
Lease rental paid BffE 2,607 2,665

Major non-cash transactions

d) FEIFREXS

U

During the year, the Group entered into new lease
agreement for the use of office premise for 2 years.
On the lease commencement, the Group recognised
approximately HK$1,483,000 (2019: HK$1,658,000)
of right-of-use assets and HK$1,483,000 (2019:
HK$1,658,000) of lease liabilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
deemed disposal of its investment in an associate
which resulted in a loss of approximately HK$2,129,000
and classified the fair value of its retained interest of
HK$350,000 to financial assets at FVTPL (note 28).

U

TERN AEERERMLIMEN

FTUMBE R NHEERARR
7S 2 [ RE B2 158 FR & 2 491,483,000
Bt (ZE—4%F © 1,658,000 EJT)
AR E &1E1,483,0008 T (ZE—N
£ 11,658,000 E7T) °

iy HEZZE—HAFE+ZBE=+—H
FEE AEEREERERLN —
MBEADZRE BHEGIEY
2,129,000 T G HFRE R Z A
T{E{E350,0008 T EEERELR
UAFEEIERNSMEE (M
28) o

COMMITMENTS

40. KiE

Capital commitments at the end of the reporting period are as follows: R EFERNERFRBEUWT :

2020 2019
ZEIEHF —EB-AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Contracted but not provided for: BRI AEREME
— development costs for intangible assets —EBREENMEMA 38,477 35,887
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

41.

42,

43.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office premises.
As at 31 December 2020, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to
the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed in note 21.

As at 31 December 2020, the outstanding lease commitments
relating to these office premises is approximately HK$46,000 (2019:
HK$294,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Other than the outcome of litigations as disclosed in note 43, as at 31
December 2020, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (2019: Nil).

LITIGATIONS
(@ AP Acquisition Litigation

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated 13 June 2016, 23 June 2016 and 1 July 2016 in relation
to, among other matters, the acquisition of 51% equity interest
in AP Group Investment (“Acquisition”) and the announcements
of the Company dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018 and 16
July 2018 in relation to the adjustment to consideration for the
Acquisition.

On 13 June 2016, Lucky Famous, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(“SP Agreement”) with Fragrant River (“Vendor”) and Universe
(“Guarantor”), pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed
to acquire, and the Vendor conditionally agreed to sell 51%
equity interest of AP Group Investment, at the consideration of
HK$20,400,000, subject to downward adjustments as described
below, which shall be settled by way of allotment and issued of
40,800,000 new ordinary shares of the Company, credited as
fully paid, at the issue price of HK$0.50 per share to the Vendor
(or its nominee), on the date of completion. The AP Group was
principally engaged in the provision of self-improvement and self-
enhancement training programmes in Hong Kong. Completion of
the Acquisition took place on 1 July 2016.

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

HE-T

“EET A= t+—HIEFE

(L/(/%TE§ 'J/ \)

41.

42,

REEER

FEBEHITUMAEYEERRE- N "F
TE+ZRB=+—H  EHEEMESEEE21R
REEHEEREIMEEESHEM -

RIZZZEFE+ZR=+—H> AZERLEY
BN KREEREXIELNA46,0008T (CF
— ML 294,000 7T) °

HAER

PREYEEABIN B < SFERME RN M B - BFE+ T
B=+—H F&EETBEEFNERHRER (T
T—NEF

) -

=

7
(@ EHURRERR

BRRMAABHER —E—RFRB+=
B ZZ2-—REXRAZ+T=ZHKA=Z—
FLR—HORE REAM (HRaE
WREEP EEER1%RE (TWEEE)
EREABHAR-Z—N\FB+H"
TE-N\FRAITRARZIZ-NEL
A+RBZ2E ABEMMBIEEES
BARE-

A CE—REANBTZH AR REKN
B/AFLucky Famous#l &L (MH7)) A&
F(MERADTL—HEEHE (BEH
E) OB AERBRERERINEME
FHEBHEREHESHERERHNS1%E
1 > 018 420,400,00038 75 (I 3% T Bt
ETTH) o EBR ST H RS R0.50
Bz BTE BEH (HEALBA) B
T £51740,800,00008 A BRFIVEBE 2 A
BN ERZ A RNEE - EHERZERN
EANEREFTHERREARERIEEN
BallstB o LB EER S —XREtA
—HE/m




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

43. LITIGATIONS (continued) 43. sk (&
(@) AP Acquisition Litigation (continued) (@) EHUBERR (B
In accordance with the terms and conditions of the SP RIEESHENERRES HR T
Agreement, in the event that the audited consolidated profit —RNE—B—HE_ZE—+t&E+_-A8
after tax of AP Group Investment attributable to its owners from =+—H(ZE2—RUFER-Z—tH

1 January 2016 to 31 December 2017 (“FY 2016 & 2017”)
(which will only include income or gain generated by activities
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the AP Group)
(“FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit”) is less than HK$16,000,000, the
Vendor shall, and the Guarantor shall procure the Vendor to,
pay to the Lucky Famous (or to its order) an adjustment amount
(“Adjustment Amount”) in cash within 14 days after the audited
consolidated financial statements of AP Group Investment
for FY2016 & 2017 (“FY2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts”)
are available. The Adjustment Amount shall be determined in
accordance with the formula set out below:

A = HK$20,400,000 — (NP/2) x 5 x 51%

Where:
“A” means the amount of the Adjustment Amount in HK$; and

“NP” means the FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit. Where the FY2016 &
2017 Net Profit is a negative figure, “NP” shall be deemed to be
zero.

The FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit shall be based on the FY2016 &
2017 Audited Accounts which shall be prepared in accordance
with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and audited,
adjusted for any non-recurring items.

Based on the FY2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts, the AP Group
recorded a net loss of HK$189,799. In accordance with the SP
Agreement, the FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit of the AP Group shall
be deemed to be zero. Accordingly, the Group had requested
the Vendor and the Guarantor to pay the Adjustment Amount
of HK$20,400,000 on or before 26 June 2018 according to the
terms and conditions of the SP Agreement. On 22 June 2018,
the Group received a letter from the legal adviser acting for the
Vendor and the Guarantor that they will defend the purported
claim of the Group for the payment of the Adjustment Amount
alleged by the Group.

F)) BHERERES ABGLESEZ
RERRERN (RECENREHERLTE
%&Elﬁﬁiuzmﬁ,@jﬁﬁéiﬂww\
Fs) (ZE—NMERZE—tHF
R 1E.Eﬁé16,ooo,ooo?é7c =Dk A=k
RARREEAFEEHAERZERNR S
—ANHERZE—tUELEZEETE
Bk (TR MERIZ—TtUELSE
ZERB 1) FI& %+ B ARLUERE ELucky
Famous (SNiRIEEIES) ZTREEEE (I
B - AESBEERUTAHANE

=

T
A = 20,400,000 7% — (NP/2) x 5 x 51%
He:

TABEM B THEZ BESE HE &
FNPJ ?a_:, —/\EZ‘E&

ofif —E—RNMERT
2%%15 ’ E‘JFNPJW%%WEVE'—; o

— R
t%&@ﬂ

_g—ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ_g—‘tﬁﬁﬁﬁ*' FEIR IR

TERUERIT—tTHERKSEZER
] ﬁ'ﬁaﬁ%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁ%*%ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%—%
AR Bz U ARIEKREHIEER

%%o

ER 2 MERZE—tHELEZ
=N aﬂ#%%‘fuﬁa&gﬁa189,799%mo

BEEEHZ ENER_Z—FUERK
2t M FER H%%ET"F" OTFJH: rE
MEERESRERAR ZZ—N\EKRA
_+/\EYZHU?ﬁtﬁ’ﬂ?%ﬁzﬁ%aﬁﬂ’\]ﬂmm&ﬂ%

(AR S E20,400,0008 T R &
—NEAB+ R AEEBERKE
7R AERANRERBEB R G RREER
MAERIEBLTRAECENSBREE
Hinkie
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE_Z_ZEF+_B=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN)

43. LITIGATIONS (continued) 43. Gk
(@) AP Acquisition Litigation (continued) (@) EHUBERR (B

Up to 26 June 2018, i.e. the last date on which the Vendor and BHE_Z-N\FERBZ+RHBEAK
the Guarantor shall pay the Adjustment Amount after the FY2016 ERARZE—ARUERZZ—TtHER

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

& 2017 Audited Accounts were made available to them, the
Group had not received any payment of the Adjustment Amount
from any of the Vendor and the Guarantor.

The board (the “Board”) considered that the Vendor and the
Guarantor have potentially breached their contractual obligations
by failing to repay the Group the Adjustment Amount in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the SP Agreement.
In order to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the
Group, after seeking legal advice, the Group has commenced
legal proceeding (‘AP Acquisition Litigation”) against the Vendor
as the 1st defendant and the Guarantor as the 2nd defendant.
A writ of summons with an indorsement of claim were filed by
Lucky Famous as plaintiff at the Court of First Instance of the
High Court of Hong Kong on 16 July 2018. Based on the writ,
the Group claimed against the Vendor and the Guarantor for
(@) the Adjustment Amount of HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c)
costs; and (d) further and/or other reliefs.

An amended writ of summons with an indorsement of claim were
filed at the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong
Kong on 26 September 2019. Based on the amended writ, the
Group claimed against the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the
Adjustment Amount of HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs;
and (d) further and/or other relief, and also against Mr. Chan Sze
Long (“Chan”) and Ms. Lim Wah Elsa (‘Lim”) for () damages in
the sum of HK$20,400,000; (f) interests; (g) costs; and (n) further
and/or other relief (collectively, the “Legal Action”). The Board
considered that Chan and Lim, who are the former directors of
AP Group Investment until their respective resignations on 18
July 2018, have potentially breached their duties and obligations
in contract and tort by failing to, amongst other things,
prepare audited consolidated financial statements of AP Group
Investment for the year ended 31 December 2015, provide the
auditors of AP Group Investment with the written information that
they requested to support their audit, and keep and/or preserve
adequate accounting records in respect of the transactions
entered into by AP Group Investment, its financial position and its
financial performance.

ERREBEHBEIANRBAESENEER
HY)  REETRWEIETE S RERAX
EESEES R

25g ((£F29) 5 REEEHEN
B B A RIERARRERRE
EEEAERCEMAIEERREREGNE
FoARBAEEANG LR  RERZE
BRERB AEECAES (FAE—HE
N ERERA(ERBEZHEN) R AESR
A (TE PR EREAL) © é:;—}\ﬁtﬁ
+75H > Lucky Famous ({E&AREA) 1?

BEELRRFEAEEH—HEASKK
—RERREE RESWK AEEME@AE
+%820,400,000% 7T ; (0)F B ;(C)FRE ; &
(E—F K/ REMBEEEE S RIERA

A ZE—AFNABZ+ABH > AEERSE
B EERRIVEERRZ —HEESTENR
LHRE—MEBRREE RIBELET SN
75 £2 [ i () 58 2 2 RE20,400,00078 7T 5 (0)F)
BORE ; RAE—F R/ HEMEHE
BARERARERE TitEeESEH
20,400,00078 7 ;(NF] 2 ;(QFAE 5 Ke(h)i
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FemiiEL 4 (ThR)) RHERE B AR
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—NEtB+/\BRTAETSHERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

43. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(@)

AP Acquisition Litigation (continued)

On 1 February 2021, Lucky Famous, the Vendor, the Guarantor,
Chan, Lim, Very Easy Limited (“Very Easy”), a company wholly
owned by Chan, and City Link Consultancy Limited (“City Link”),
a company wholly owned by Lim, without admission of any
liability in relation to the Legal Action, had amicably resolved and
entered into a settlement agreement (“Settlement Agreement”)
in relation to the final and full settlement of the Disputes (as
defined below). In accordance with the Settlement Agreement,
the parties agreed that (i) the disputes in the Legal Action;
and (i) any other claims and complaint that the parties to the
Settlement Agreement may have against each other arising out
of or in connection with SP Agreement in respect of the sale and
purchase of 510 shares of AP Group Investment entered into by
and among the Vendor, Very Easy, City Link, Chan and Lim in
2015 and the SP Agreement (collectively, the “Disputes”) shall be
settled in full.

In accordance with the terms of the Settlement Agreement, (i)
the Vendor and the Guarantor shall pay to the Group a sum
of HK$1,500,000 at the time of signing of the Settlement
Agreement in full and final settlement of the Disputes; (i) Chan
shall pay to the Group a sum of HK$2,700,000 in full and final
settlement of the Disputes, by paying (a) a sum of HK$1,300,000
at the time of signing of the Settlement Agreement; (b) a sum
of HK$23,500 per month for 59 months starting from 1 March
2021 up to 1 January 2026; and (c) a final sum of HK$13,500
on or before 1 February 2026; (i) Lim shall pay to the Group a
sum of HK$1,800,000 in full and final settlement of the Disputes,
by paying (a) a sum of HK$200,000 at the time of signing of the
Settlement Agreement; (b) a sum of HK$26,500 per month for 59
months starting from 1 March 2021 up to 1 January 2026; and
(c) a final sum of HK$36,500 on or before 1 February 2026; and
(iv) within 7 days of the date of the Settlement Agreement, Lucky
Famous or its legal representatives shall file at the Court of First
Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong a consent summons
for discontinuing the Legal Action with no order as to costs. The
Group shall be entitled as of right to take immediate legal action,
including commencing bankruptcy proceedings without further
notice if Chan and/or Lim fail(s) to make full and timely payment
of any of the instalment(s) under (i) and (jii) above.

On 16 February 2021, the High Court of Hong Kong granted an
order by consent that, amongst others, Lucky Famous would
have leave to discontinue the Legal Action against the Vendor,
the Guarantor, Chan and Lim.

Details of the AP Acquisition Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018,
16 July 2018, 1 February 2021 and 2 February 2021.
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43. LITIGATIONS (continued) 43. &k

(b) AP Management Litigation b) EBHEEASFRNR

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

On 26 July 2018, the Company as the 1st plaintiff and AP
Group Investment as the 2nd plaintiff, issued a writ of summons
in the High Court of Hong Kong against Chan as the 1st
defendant and Lim as the 2nd defendant (collectively refer to
as the “Defendants”) for the matters as detailed below (‘AP
Management Litigation”). Chan and Lim are former directors
of AP Group Investment until their respective resignations on
18 July 2018. Chan and/or his controlled company, and the
controlled company of Lim, are also former directors of the other
members of the AP Group at all material times.

The Company is a majority shareholder holding 51% interest
in AP Group Investment through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Lucky Famous. As a result of the 51% shareholding in AP Group
Investment, all members of the AP Group are subsidiaries of
the Company and their financial results have been consolidated
into the Group’s consolidated financial statements prior to the
deconsolidation of the AP Group becoming effective on 1 April
2018. The AP Group was principally engaged in the provision
of self-improvement and self-enhancement training programs in
Hong Kong at all material times.

At all material times and during the tenure of office of the
Defendants as directors of AP Group Investment, in reliance of
the experience and expertise of the Defendants in running the
AP Group, it was agreed by the parties that the Defendants
were wholly responsible for the efficient and proper management
and operation of the AP Group, including but not limited to,
the efficient daily operations of the AP Group, keeping proper
books and records of the AP Group at all times for inspection by
the Group and the provision of weekly cash and bank balance
reports, annual budget and monthly financial reports of AP Group
Investment, including that of all the subsidiaries of the other
members of the AP Group to the Company within 15 days after
each month’s end. After the resignations of the Defendants as
directors of AP Group Investment on 18 July 2018 and up to
the date of this report, the Defendants failed to deliver up all the
accounting books and financial records of, and all businesses
records in connection with, the running of the AP Group,
including but not limited to records in relation to the students’
records, instructors’ records and information on potential
litigations, for the period of seven years immediately prior to the
date of their resignations as director of AP Group Investment on
18 July 2018 (“Full Business Records”) to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

43. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

(c)

AP Management Litigation (continued)

In order to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the
Group, after seeking legal advice, the Group has commenced
legal proceeding against the Defendants. The Group claimed
against the Defendants for the reliefs, including but not limited
to, delivering up of the Full Business Records, accounting for the
assets of the AP Group for the period from 1 April 2018 to 18
July 2018 that were in the power, possession or control of the
Defendants and damages to be assessed.

On 1 February 2021, Lucky Famous, the Vendor, the Guarantor,
Chan, Lim, Very Easy, a company wholly owned by Chan and
City Link, a company wholly owned by Lim, without admission of
any liability in relation to the Legal Action, had amicably resolved
and entered into a Settlement Agreement in relation to the final
and full settlement of the Disputes. Details of the Settlement
Agreement refer to note 43(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of the AP Management Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 27 July 2018, 1 February 2021
and 2 February 2021.

Perfect Growth Litigation

On 3 July 2018, Perfect Growth, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, received an amended writ of summons (“Amended
Writ”) with an amended statement of claim (“Amended Statement
of Claim”) issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court
of Hong Kong by Convoy Global Holdings Limited (“1st Plaintiff”),
Convoy Collateral Limited (“2nd Plaintiff’) and CSL Securities
Limited (“3rd Plaintiff’) (1st Plaintiff, 2nd Plaintiff and 3rd Plaintiff
collectively referred to as the “Plaintiffs”) against, among other
defendants, Perfect Growth as the 34th defendant (“Perfect
Growth Litigation”). Perfect Growth was joined as one of the
defendants by way of the Amended Writ.

Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim attached to the
Amended Writ, Perfect Growth was named as one of the Alleged
Independent Placees (being placees of the placing of shares of
the 1st Plaintiff carried out in around October 2015 (“October
2015 Placing”) and was allotted with some shares of the 1st
Plaintiff pursuant to the October 2015 Placing.
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43. LITIGATIONS (continued) 43. &k

(€ EERER ()

(c) Perfect Growth Litigation (continued)

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k

In the Perfect Growth Litigation, the reliefs claimed by the
Plaintiffs against Perfect Growth are as follows:

0] the 1st Plaintiff seeks a declaration and an order as
against, among others, Perfect Growth, that the allotment
of the 1st Plaintiff’'s shares to, among others, Perfect
Growth pursuant to the October 2015 Placing is null and
void, or has been rescinded and be set aside;

(ii) the 1st Plaintiff seeks an account of profits and an order
for payment of any sums found to be due, equitable
compensation to be assessed and/or damages to be
assessed for dishonest assistance, unlawful means
conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy as against,
among others, Perfect Growth, in relation to, among other
matters, the October 2015 Placing and the allotment of
the 1st Plaintiff’'s shares pursuant to the same; and

(i) the Plaintiffs seek as against, among others, Perfect
Growth (a) general or special damages; (b) interests; (c)
costs; (d) further and/or other reliefs.

On 22 November 2018, Perfect Growth filed its defence to the
Amended Statement of Claim.

On 3 December 2019, the Plaintiffs filed its reply to Perfect
Growth’s defence. The Plaintiffs have not, however, filed its
reply to each of the other defendants’ defence and as such the
pleadings of the Perfect Growth Litigation have not been closed
yet.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying values of the shares of the
1st Plaintiff held by the Group were approximately HK$1,135,000
(2019: HK$1,040,000) and HK$800 (2019: HK$800) included
in financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL
respectively.

Details of the Perfect Growth Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 5 July 2018.
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44,

45.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following transactions with its related parties during the year.

() Transactions with key management personnel

All key management personnel are directors of the Company and
their remuneration are disclosed in note 16.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic is impacting global economic
markets. The Directors continue to monitor the situation closely and
have considered the impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s business and
financial performance. However, the situation is continually evolving and
the consequences are therefore inevitably uncertain.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL INFORMATION
hLEMBRE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the five years ended 31 December 2016, 2017,
2018, 2019 and 2020.

UPARAEEHEEZZS—RE 22—t F - 22N
FE\ZE—AER-IEZSF+A=+—HLFHEES
EMNBTEXEEUREERGEIRE -

RESULTS E S
Year ended 31 December
BE+ZB=+—HLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZZIEE E-NE Z)N\FE 2t CZKF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FEx FET FET FET
Continuing operations BREREEH
Revenue WA 231,404 369,839 133,230 186,967 193,534
(Loss)/profit from operations s (518) /5F (28,442) (58,570) (215,584) (485,228) 91,532
Finance costs B A (98) (103) - (13,720) (22,562)
Share of profit/(loss) of an associate Eih—RBE AR/
(&518) - 887 (21,704) (15,644) (5,550)
Share of loss of a joint venture BiE—EaEhEEsE - - (1,174) (2,932) 5)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRHEAT (B598) /&R (28,540) (57,786) (238,462) (517,524) 63,415
Income tax (expenses)/credit ATt () /1E% (3,870) (3,894) (5,830) 14,443 (29,576)
(Loss)/profit after tax REFESEERIRRE
from continuing operations (§548) /57 (32,410) (61,680) (244,290) (503,081) 33,839
Profit after tax from REBKRILEE LR
discontinued operations MR B R - - 25 3,871 1,155
(Loss)/profit for the year FEE (518) /A (32,410) (61,680) (244,267) (499,210) 34,094
(Loss)/profit attributable to BT ALFENE (B598)
Pkl
- Owners of the Company —EAREEA (39,286) (67,200) (251,411) (512,327) 17,092
- Non-controlling interests — IR 6,876 5,520 7,144 13,117 17,902
(32,410) (61,680) (244,267) (499,210) 34,094
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAE
As at 31 December
®+ZB=+—H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZZIZFE “Z-AFE ZZ-)0\F E2—tF IZRE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ERT FE FET TER TET
Total assets BEME 326,665 370,896 433,035 705,680 1,469,512
Total liabilties & B (57,821) (64,320) (53,723) (56,847) (387,062)
Non-controlling interests FEERER (38,257) (36,724) (36,547) (37,470) (34,915)
Total equity attributable to ERBER AERL
owners of the Company s 230,587 269,852 342,765 611,363 1,047,535

BRERBRAT 20205F 5k







	COVER
	CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)
	CONTENTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
	REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL INFORMATION
	BACK COVER

